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Synopsis
The recent proposal by the Group of Four Plus One to modify the accounting
treatment of operating leases has attracted considerable comment. However, a review
of the publicly available submissions to this proposal reveals that no one has
addressed the issue in terms of the primary objective of general purpose financial
reports, that is, to provide decision useful information to non-professional investors.

This thesis seeks to redress this gap by providing some evidence of the ability of nonprofessional investors to evaluate operating leases as they are presented according to
current accounting standards and alternative presentation formats.

The thesis reports the results of an experiment carried out on surrogates for nonprofessional investors. The main finding is that the vast majority of subjects were
unable to evaluate operating lease information when it was disclosed in the notes,
rather than reported in the body of the Statement of Financial Position. Subjects
consistently relied on reported figures and seemed unable to incorporate information
presented in the notes to the financial reports, even when the links between the notes
and the reported figures were made more obvious than is currently the case.

The finding has a number of implications. It would appear that the existing accounting
treatment of operating leases is the source of a structural information asymmetry, as a
substantial proportion of users were unable to evaluate information relating to
operating leases. This information asymmetry should be removed for reasons of
economic efficiency. The recent withdrawal by non-professional investors from
equity markets shows that non-professional investors will react strongly if they start to

doubt the ability of general-purpose financial reports to provide them with decision
useful information.
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Chapter 1 Introduction

Part 1
1.1 The context within which this research is set
Recently there have been a number of spectacular corporate collapses and scandals
related to financial accounting reports. Examples include Enron, Worldcom, HM,
Ansett, Xerox, Merck and others. This spate of activity seems to have impacted
severely on the confidence of market participants, particularly non-professional
investors in the validity of published financial accounting reports (Eichenwald, 2002).
It appears that Eichenwald's view (2002) is shared by many others in America. The
passing of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (2002) and the creation of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board give some indication of the perceived significance of
this issue.

Some indication of the size of the reaction by non-professional investors in America
is provided by Kimelman (2002), who claimed that $US 30.6 billion were withdrawn
from equity mutual funds in the first 25 days of July 2002, compared with the $US
23.6 billion that were withdrawn in the month after the September 11 2001 attack on
the World Trade Center. He also claimed that professional investors have tended to
hold onto, or even increased their equity investments as they are bound by asset
allocation ratios. Kimelman claimed that most of the outflows were due to nonprofessional investors who control their own retirement accounts.

This thesis adds to the debate on whether information should be reported in the
financial reports or whether the information should be disclosed in the notes. Maines

and McDaniel(2000) found that certain decisions made by non-professional investors
were affected by the formatting of information. This is known as a format effect.
Specifically, their subjects treated comprehensive income differently, depending how
the information was presented. That is, the formatting of the information, the way it
was presented, as a note or as a sub -part of other information, or as a piece of
information presented individually, affected the decision making ability of Maines
and McDaniels' (2000) subjects.

For the purposes of this thesis, reported information will be all information placed in
the Statement of Financial Performance, the Statement of Financial Position and the
Statement of Cash Flows. Information that is presented in the notes to the accounts
will be referred to as information that has been disclosed. This classification means
that some information will be both reported and disclosed, such as the receivable and
accounts payable. Other information, such as operating leases, and related party
transactions, will only be shown in the notes to the accounts. This information is only
disclosed.

This thesis is driven by a concern that general-purpose financial reports are designed
in a manner that impedes users from incorporating information contained within the
reports in their investment decision-making processes. A number of researchers have
found that investors, both professional and non-professional are unable to, or choose
not to, evaluate disclosed information the same way they evaluate reported
information (Harris and Ohlson, 1987; Harper, Mister and Strawser, 1991; Aboody,
1996; Bath, Clinch and Shibano, 2000; Cotter, 2000; Maines and McDaniel, 2000;
Hirshleifer and Teoh, 2002). Others have reported that placement of information

affects non-professional investors more than professional investors (Maines, Bartov,
Fairfield, 2002). This thesis seeks to extend the work by Maines and McDaniel (2000)
in examining the impact of format effects on non-professional investors. This
information can be useful for accounting standard setters when they consider
modifying the current financial accounting standards that relate to operating leases.

This thesis examines a specific aspect of the disclosure v reporting debate.
Specifically, it contributes to the debate regarding the ability of non-professional
investors to evaluate disclosed information, especially if the disclosed information
does not confirm reported accounting information.

Under existing Australian accounting standard AASB 1008, lessees are only required
to disclose the obligations arising from operating leases in the notes to the accounts,
rather than report the obligations in the Statement of Financial Position. Lessees are
not required to disclose or report the assets that arise from undertaking operating
leases. The asset in question is the right to use the leased asset for the term of the
lease.

1.2 Aim of this thesis
This thesis examines format effects on the ability of non-professional investors to
analyse information in financial reports relating to operating leases. The thesis
presupposes that the current disclosures mandated for operating leases impede the
quality of decision-making by non-professional investors. This is based on research
that examined the ability of professional investors to analyse lease information. See

for example, Abdel Khalik (1981, 1984), Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1993, 1995),
Gallery and Imhoff (1998).

1.3 The need for this research
There have been a number of calls recently, including, Maines, 1994; Levitt,1997;
Lipe, 1998; and Libby, Bloomfield and Nelson, 2001; for researchers to analyse
issues in ways that contribute to the accounting standard setting process. These
commentators are particularly interested in understanding the factors that influence
the decision making processes of individual investors, rather than focusing on
aggregate capital market responses.

The recent proposals by the Group of Four Plus One (2000) have created considerable
interest in this topic for accounting standard setters in Australia, the United Kingdom,
New Zealand and the United States of America. This thesis adds some ex-ante
evidence of whether non-professional investors can understand the current accounting
treatment of operating leases. This type of research can lead to the development of
higher quality accounting standards, where quality is defined as facilitating decisionmaking (Maines, 1994; and Levitt, 1997).

The existing research on leasing has tended to look at three major areas, listed here.
Research on leasing concerned with the ability of capital markets or professional
investors to analyse this information; Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1993, 1995), Ely
(1995), and Beattie, Goodacre and Thomson (2000). Research relating to leasing and
capital structure; Myers, Dill, Officer and Bautista (1976), Brealey and Young (1980)
and MacKie-Mason (1990). Research relating to other reasons for the use of leases;

Vancil (1961), Flath (1980), Lasfer and Levis (1998), Smith and Wakeman (1985)
Sharpe and Nguyen (1995). This literature does not address the issues raised by Levitt
(1997), Maines (1994) and others. This thesis attempts to partially fill this void.

1.3.1 Some estimates of the size of operating leases compared to finance leases
It is necessary to obtain some indication of the difference in size between operating
leases compared to finance leases. If operating leases did not represent a significant
proportion of total debt it is arguable that there is no real reason to study them, as they
are insignificant and unlikely to affect the decision making of non-professional
investors. A similar argument applies in relation to the size of operating leases to
financial leases.

Constructive capitalisation techniques have been developed and applied in British and
American research. Results using these techniques indicate that operating leases
dominate finance leases in these countries.

Using a constructive capitalisation technique, based on earlier work by Irnhoff, Lipe
and Wright (1991), Beattie, Goodacre and Thomson (2000) estimated that on average,
operating leases were thirteen times larger than finance leases for British companies
in their sample. Another study by Beattie, Edwards and Goodacre (1998) of firms
listed in the United Kingdom found that on average, long-term operating leases
represented 39 percent of reported long-term debt.

Sharpe and Nguyen (1995) used a different method compared with the method used
by Beattie, Goodacre and Thomson (2000) to determine the proportion of capital

leases (finance leases) and operating leases. Sharpe and Nguyen (1995) reported
operating leases represented at most six times the levels of finance leases in their
sample of American companies, in contrast to the much higher levels reported by
Beattie, Goodacre and Thomson (2000).

These findings indicate that operating leases can be substantial when compared to
finance leases and debt in other countries. Due to similar accounting rules and
taxation treatment for these leases in the United States of America, the United
Kingdom and Australia, there is no reason to believe that a substantially different
situation exists in Australia. Dakin (2000) examined the impact of capitalising
operating leases in Australian companies. Unfortunately, it is unclear which lease
capitalisation method Dakin used. This prevents a comparison of Dakin's results
(2000) with those of Sharpe and Nguyen (1995), and Beattie, Goodacre and Thomson
(2000). Dakin (2000) reported that on average, total assets increased by 7.4 percent
and long-term borrowings would increase by more than 30 percent for around 40
percent of the Australian companies surveyed. As expected, this indicates that
operating leases are substantial for many Australian companies.

1.4 Reasons to research non-professional investors
There is an increasing interest in the ability of non-professional investors to evaluate
various aspects of financial reports, see for example Maines and McDaniel (2000),
and Libby, Bloomfield and Nelson (2001). In addition, there have been calls for
research into non-professional investors going back at least 25 years (Hakansson,
1977; Gaa, 1986; and Lev, 1988). These commentators have claimed that an
understanding of decision-making processes used by non-professional investors will

enhance capital markets through the removal of factors that create or maintain
information asyrnrnetries between knowledgeable and ndive investors.

1.5 User primacv
Lev (1988) argued that the interests of less informed investors should take precedence
over those of more informed investors. This view of the user primacy argument is at
some variance with the view expressed in the Conceptual Framework, specifically
Statement of Accounting Concepts 2, which states that the objective of generalpurpose financial reporting in Australia is to "provide information useful to users for
making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of scarce resources" (SAC 2
paragraph 43). However, the standard setters attempt to restrict the class of users they
need to consider when designing accounting standards. Statement of Accounting
Concept 3 shows that users of financial reports are assumed to "possess the
proficiency necessary to comprehend the significance of contemporary accounting
practices" (SAC 3 paragraph 36). Those users that do not possess this level of skill are
assumed to rely on a professional advisor when undertaking investment decisions.
This implies that financial reports only need to be understandable by trained
accountants (Who else would understand contemporary accounting practice?), or that
financial advisors can be relied on to provide unbiased, competent advice.

Considerable research has questioned the ability of many classes of professional
advisors to analyse financial information or provide unbiased advice. This shows that
the arguments advanced by the standard setters, seeking to limit their obligation to
produce general-purpose financial reports understandable to a wider audience of users

are untenable. This thesis rejects this part of the Conceptual Framework and adopts
the user primacy argument advanced by Lev (1988).

Part 2
2.1 Theoretical underpinnings of the thesis
This thesis is developed within the Judgement and Decision Making (JDM) literature.
As Bonner (1999) has shown, judgment and decision-making research in accounting
examines two basic issues. First, it seeks to "measure individuals' performance when
doing judgment and decision making tasks. Second, JDM research examines the
determinants of both high-and lower-quality JDM" (Bonner, 1999, p 386). Bonner
argued that the ultimate goal of JDM is to "identify areas of JDM that need
improvement, understand their causes, and examine the effectiveness of remedies that
address the causes" (Bonner, 1999, p386). Bonner (1999) made the point that research
in JDM should only be undertaken if the research is able to develop a practicable
solution to a problem that limits or impedes the quality of decisions made by subjects
of concern.

A major ideological schism divides the JDM literature into the neo-classical, rational
economic man and the descriptive (psychological) areas of research (Keren, 1996).
This thesis is located within the descriptive part of this literature. Therefore, it is
concerned with the factors that affect the decision making of individual investors
rather than the quality of the decisions reached in aggregate by the market.

2.2 Experimental method emploved
This thesis used a within subjects experimental design based on the model developed
by Maines and McDaniel(2000). Subjects were asked to analyse the financial reports

of two companies. They then had to state which of two companies they would prefer
to invest in. The subjects were also told they had to explain why they selected one
company or were indifferent between companies. Subjects were then asked a series of
questions in order to determine whether they identified, evaluated, and weighed lease
information appropriately in their decision-making process. Subjects were then
presented with new information which explained the impact of operating lease
disclosures. Subjects were then required to state whether they found lease information
would have influenced their investing decision. This test was necessary in order to
determine the materiality of leasing information to the investing decision of the
subjects. Finally, subjects were asked to state whether they thought that leasing
information should be disclosed in the notes or reported in the financial reports.

Four different versions of the experimental instrument were developed. The only
significant difference is in the format of the information related to operating leases.
Two of the versions only disclosed information on operating leases in the notes. The
other two versions reported this information in the financial report.

The experiment was conducted on two groups. The first group was composed of
introductory financial accounting students (n = 141). The students group contained 17
postgraduates and 124 undergraduates. The other group (hereafter Group 2) was
composed of volunteers from the broader community (n = l l).

2.3 Expected findings
Based on the findings of Maines and McDaniel (2000), it was expected that all
subjects would be able to identify and evaluate operating lease information as it is

presented under the current accounting treatment. Also, in accordance with Maines
and McDaniel (2000) it was expected that subjects would assign different weighting
to lease information, when making their investment decision, dependant on how the
lease information was presented. It was expected that subjects would assign more
weight to lease information in those formats that reported lease information,
compared with those formats that disclosed this information in the notes.

It was expected that subjects who assigned lease information a lower weight than they
would have, had they understood the information relating to the lease, would state that
lease information would be material to their decision. These subjects would be
expected to be surprised by the new information relating to leases and so would be
expected to treat lease information as being material.

Subjects who weighted lease information correctly, that is, the subjects showed that
they understood how to use the information in their decision making processes would
also be likely to state that the information was material to their decision. It was
expected that those subjects who were unable to weight lease information correctly
would prefer the information to be reported, rather than disclosed in the notes. These
subjects are likely to blame their inability to weight lease information correctly on the
placement of the lease information.

Those subjects who were able to weight lease information correctly would be more
likely to state that lease information should be disclosed, as the placement of the
information did not affect their decision-making. Therefore they would be less likely
to see the placement of the information as an issue of concern.

Chapter 2 Literature review

Introduction
This thesis is concerned with the impact of the accounting treatment of leases on the
decision-making ability of non-professional investors. This immediately raises four
major issues.
1) What is the purpose of financial reporting?

2) Why study non-professional investors?
3) What has previous research into accounting for leases revealed?

4) What is the current state of play and how does this affect the current research?

This chapter will be divided into 5 parts. The first four parts will deal with each of the
major topics just listed. The fifth part of the chapter will be the conclusion.

This literature review examines the questions just raised. The first of these issues is a
discussion of the stated objective of general-purpose financial reports. This introduces
the arguments relating to user primacy and the different classes of users identified in
the literature. The Australian accounting conceptual framework states the purpose of
general purpose financial reports is to assist those decision makers who cannot
command the preparation of specific purpose financial reports (Australian Accounting
Standards Board, SAC 2, 1990). The standard makers then state that users of these
reports are expected to be able to understand contemporary accounting practice or be
able to access an advisor who can analyse the report (Australian Accounting
Standards Board, SAC 3, 1990). The literature review shows that there are a number
of reasons why the fallback position of the standard setters, that is, relying on advisors

may not be tenable.

Due to the nature of the topic of this research, it must be established whether nonprofessional investors take an active role in their investment decisions, or whether
they are more passive andlor rely on financial advisors when undertaking these
decisions. If non-professional investors are passive, there is no reason to study them
as their decisions would merely reflect the position of their advisors. In this case, the
topic of interest would be financial advisors, rather than non-professional investors.
There is some evidence that non-professional investors are active participants and do
attempt to analyse financial reports before undertaking investments.

Authors who have researched non-professional investors, such as Maines and
McDaniel (2000) have not defined the term 'non-professional investors'. This
indicates that the term is to be interpreted according to common usage. That is, nonprofessional investors include all investors except those that invest professionally on
their own account or for other people or organizations. The lack of a theory that
defines non-professional investors forces an examination of data collected by the
Australian Stock Exchange in order to identify the characteristics and significance of
Australian non-professional investors. The Australian Shareholders survey (2000)
shows clearly that non-professional investors are a very large proportion of the
Australian population and are strongly represented in most socio-economic,
educational and age brackets.

A review of the literature of previous research into accounting for leases is carried
out. This review shows why there is a need for the current research. This review

shows that considerable theoretical and capital market research has been carried out
on the impact of leases. A smaller amount of research has been carried out on the
ability of professional investors to analyse the impact of leases in financial reports.
However, to the best of this author's knowledge, no research has been conducted on
the ability of non-professional investors to analyse this information.

Finally the recent proposal by, and reactions to, the Group of Four plus One on how to
modify the accounting treatment of leases are discussed. This proposal and the
considerable responses to it, show that the accounting treatment of leases is an issue
of some significance to a number of stakeholders.

Part l. The Purpose of Financial Reporting

1.l The purpose of general vurpose financial reports according to the standard setters
The objective of general-purpose financial reporting in Australia is to "provide
information useful to users for making and evaluating decisions about the allocation
of scarce resources" (Statement of Accounting Concepts 2 paragraph 43) (hereafter
SAC 2). This is often called the user primacy view of general-purpose financial
reports. SAC 2 identifies its target clientele as users who are unable "to command the
preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy, specifically, all of their information
needs" (paragraph 5).

This definition of the objective of financial reports is similar to one developed by the
Trueblood committee in 1973 "[Aln objective of financial statements is to serve
primarily those users who have limited authority, ability or resources..." (reported in

Hakansson 1977 p 414, note 27). The International Accounting Standards Board has
adopted a similar view in the IASB Framework (2001). This suggests that these
organisations have also adopted the user primacy view. In other words, generalpurpose financial reports are designed to assist users (decision makers) when
allocating their resources.

However, the statements by the standard setters should not be taken to indicate that
financial reports are prepared for those with the least, or even moderate abilities
andor resources. In Statement of Accounting Concepts 3, the Australian standard
setters define the minimum skill level they believe users should have in order to read
general-purpose financial reports.

General-purpose financial reports ought to be constructed having regard to the
interests of users who are prepared to exercise diligence in reviewing those reports
and who possess the proficiency necessary to comprehend the significance of
contemporary accounting practices (SAC 3, paragraph 36).

In the next paragraph, the standard setters make the point that complex transactions
cannot always be reported in simple or simplified terms. This does not bother the
standard setters as it is assumed that users are able to obtain professional advice. The
Financial Accounting Standards Board has a similar view of the skills required by the
users of financial reports. "The information should be comprehensible to those who
have a reasonable understanding of business and economic activities and are willing
to study the information with reasonable diligence" (Gaa, 1986, p 441).

The IASB Framework adopts the same view as the FASB and simply states that users

are assumed to "have a reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and
accounting and a willingness to study the information with reasonable diligence."

(IASB 2001, paragraph 25)

Therefore these standard setters recognise that external users can be classified into
sophisticated and naive groups. In addition, it appears that these standard setters target
sophisticated users when setting accounting standards, as it is assumed that less
sophisticated users will be able to pay a sophisticated analyst to advise him or her.

1.2 Academic literature on the user primacv principle in financial statements.
A review of the literature reveals a number of views relating to the way the user
primacy view should be interpreted when accounting standards are being designed or
modified. Therefore, an examination of the debate surrounding this issue needs to be
undertaken in order to justify the version of the user primacy argument adopted in the
current research.

1.2.1 Interpretations of the user primacy view
A number of authors have argued against user primacy. Gaa (1986) cites Gerboth,
Horngren, Dopuch and Sunder, among others who have argued that accounting
standards should represent compromises between opposing interest groups. As Gaa
states, the "notion of compromise suggests that the interests of the various groups
stand on a more or less equal footing, such that the interests of one may be traded off
against the interests of the other." (Gaa, 1986, p450). Of course, if a user primacy
argument is adopted, such trade-offs are not permissible. Gaa (1986) argued that
managers are the group of users who have the best understanding of the performance

of the company due to their ability to obtain information. External users can be
divided into two rough groups, sophisticated investors, that is, those with high levels
of ability and resources, and naive investors, that is, those with low levels of ability
and resources. This suggests that managers have the highest level of information,
sophisticated investors have the next best level of information, and naive investors
have the least amount of information. Gaa (1986) pointed out the incongruity that
arises when standard setters define the user primacy principle in a way that is
predominantly concerned with sophisticated investors, that is, those that have the
middle level of information. Gaa (1986) relied on a mix of average utility theory and
a rights based theory, drawn from John Rawls' maximin principle, to suggest that the
user primacy principle should be defined in a way that gives "less advantaged security
market agents absolute priority in the satisfaction of their interests" (Gaa, 1986, p

452).

Stanton (1997) has shown that others have argued that the user primacy objective
should be defined in a broader manner. A number of authors have claimed that users
should be interpreted as society in general, not just investors and potential investors.
However, for the purposes of this research, users will be defined to include investors
and potential investors.

Accounting historians such as Flesher and Flesher (1986) have argued that one of the
main reasons for the introduction of America's security acts in the 1930s was the
political pressure to provide protection to small investors. Hakansson (1977) and Lev
(1988) looked at this issue in the context of economic efficiencies generated by
mandatory disclosure reporting regimes. Hakansson (1977) argued that there are

macro-economic efficiencies to be gained by reducing the information asymmetry
between knowledgeable and naive investors. Lev (1988) also relied on an economic
efficiency argument to conclude that "the interests of the less informed investors
should, in general, be favoured over those of the more informed investors" (Lev,
1988, p13). Lev made clear his disdain for 'morality based' arguments to protect
defenceless naive investors from fraud and exploitation by insiders. Lev (1988) cited
a number of authors who have shown that individual investors will utilise a number of
techniques to protect themselves if they feel they cannot trust the information in the
equity markets. These techniques include withdrawing from the market altogether,
adopting long-term holding strategies, and increased transaction costs (Lev, 1988).

The real issue, according to Lev (1988), is not the zero sum game of redistributing
some wealth from knowledgeable investors to naive investors. Rather, accounting
standards should be set in a way that systematic and significant information
asymmetries are removed so that all market participants derive a benefit through
increasing the liquidity and activity of the equity markets.

There is some support for Lev's (1988) argument that increased disclosure, that is, the
reduction of systematic information asymmetry, will reduce transaction costs such as
the bid-ask spread and increase market activity. Leuz and Verracchia (2000) reported
economically and statistically significant changes in the bid-ask spread and in trading
volumes of German companies that changed from using less informative German
financial reporting rules to using more informative International Accounting
Standards and US GAAP. However, these authors referred to earlier research that
found mixed results for the argument that reduction of information asymmetries will

increase activity within the market and reduce transaction costs.

Significantly, according to Lev (1988), the source of any information asymmetry is
irrelevant. It does not matter if the information asymmetry arises because informed
investors are able to obtain their information through superior research and analysis.
Even this source of information asymmetry should be reduced "by a certain extent"
(Lev 1988, p 15) (italics in original) as it will "in general benefit even the active
information searches, as it will increase the number of investors in the market,
improve liquidity and reduce transaction costs" (Lev 1988, p 15). Lev (1988)
maintained that academic research can illuminate those areas where information
asymmetries exist and so assist in their removal.

This thesis adopts the interpretation of the user primacy principle proposed by Lev
(1988), Gaa (1986) and Hakansson (1977). That is, financial accounting standards and
general-purpose financial reports should be designed to be understandable by nonprofessional investors.

Part 2 Reasons to research non-professional investors

2.1 Capital markets; research and imperfections
A number of influential accounting academics such as Watts and Zimmerman (1986)
and Gonedes and Dopuch (1974), have argued that studying the behaviour of
individuals in capital markets is irrelevant, as market forces, specifically the
efficiency of the market in disseminating information and reacting to it quickly, will
ensure that equities are always 'correctly' priced and this will protect uninformed

shareholders. However, there is a substantial body of research which questions the
value of relying on the Efficient Market Hypothesis (EMH) when seeking to explain
or predict capital market behaviour.

One of the main questions hanging over the EMH is the post-announcement drift of
security prices. If the semi-strong form of the EMH is correct, share prices should
change nearly instantly as information becomes publicly available. However, Ball and
Brown (1968) found a systematic post-earnings announcement drift. The study only
examined changes in the market price of securities for a period of six days after the
announcement date of annual earnings.

This drift was found to be even more

pronounced when quarterly earnings were examined by other researchers, see Ball
(1992) for a review of this literature.

In addition, Foster, Olson and Shevlin (1984) found that the literature on market
efficiency anomalies is both large in size and broad-based in terms of the topic areas
covered. However, Foster, Olson and Shevlin (1984) claimed that part of this problem
is due to previous researchers using misspecified models. Foster, Olson and Shevlin
(1984) found there was no post-announcement drift for expectations models using
security return series. On the other hand, post-announcement drift was found with
expectations models that used past quarterly earnings series.

Bernard and Thomas (1989) examined post-earnings-announcement-drift and found
that "stock prices partially reflect a naive earnings expectation: that future earnings
will be equal to earnings of the comparable quarter of the prior year." (Bernard and
Thomas, 1989, p62). These authors were able to generate abnormal returns based on

the previous period's earnings numbers, that were half as large as the abnormal return
based on the current period's earnings numbers. Therefore, while the current
accounting information generated a greater abnormal return, Bernard and Thomas
(1989) were still able to generate abnormal returns based on accounting information
that should have been totally incorporated into the share price months previously,
according to the Efficient Market Hypothesis.

Ou and Penman (1989) also found that financial accounting information was not fully
understood by the market when it is released. They were able to generate a model that
allowed them to earn abnormal returns in supposedly efficient markets. The results of
Ou and Penman (1989) are also interesting due to the fact that they question the value
of the primary variable of interest studied in most efficient market hypothesis studies.
Most of the studies simply examined the relationship between earnings (profits, not
gross revenues) and share market priceslreturns. Ou and Penman (1989) incorporated
other, non- revenue, information into their model and found that this other
information had value in generating abnormal returns.

2.2 Need for behavioural research: individual market participants
Libby, Bloomfield and Nelson (2001) and Lipe (1998) claimed that the literature
questioning the validity of the semi strong form and even the weak form of the
Efficient Market Hypothesis creates a need to increase our understanding of the
behaviour of individual market participants, one of which is the non-professional
investor, as "individual behaviour can be an important element in determining market
behaviour, even in the presence of competitive forces" (Libby Bloomfield and Nelson,
2001, p6).

Bonner (1999) argued that understanding the behaviour of individual users,
specifically in relation to making decisions relating to accounting information, is
necessary for reasons unrelated to capital markets. For example, the wealth of
individuals will be affected by the decisions they make, as well as the quality of the
decision made by their advisors. In addition, legal actions will also be dependent on
the way judges, lawyers and juries reach their decisions.

In addition to these reasons, there have been recent calls from standard setters such as
Levitt (1997) for research into the behaviour of non-professional investors. See also
Maines and McDaniel(2000).

Another reason to study non-professional investors is provided by the ASX
Shareholders survey (2000). This survey estimated that there are in excess of five and
a half million non-professional investors in Australia. Quite simply, there are simply
too many non-professional investors, owning too much of the market, with the
potential to engage in defensive actions that can negatively impact on the wealth of all
market participants to ignore.

It is not clear how significant non-professional investors are in Australia, in terms of
ownership of shares. Private communication with staff at the Australian Stock
Exchange reveal that it is felt that these investors own approximately 30 percent of
shares listed on the Exchange. This estimate is not radically different to a study
carried out in America which showed that in 1996 approximately 47 percent of
equities were held directly by households, the majority of the remaining equities were

held by mutual funds and pension funds (Barber and Odean, 2000).

2.3 Sources of information for non-professional investors
It could be argued that there is no reason to study non-professional investors if all of
them rely on professional advisors such as stockbrokers etc when making investment
decisions. As mentioned earlier, the standard setters believe this is what nonprofessional investors will or should do when analysing financial reports. If this were
the case, it could be argued that the relevant subject matter would be financial
advisors and analysts. However, there is some evidence that non-professional
investors take an active role in the investment decision rather than leaving it to others.

Anderson (1979) claimed that financial reports were the 3rd most significant source of
information, behind share-brokers and newspapers, journals and magazines, for
Australian retail investors. Anderson (1979) also referred to research conducted in
America, the UK and New Zealand which claimed that sharebroker advice was much
more likely to be relied on by individual investors than was the case for financial
reports. This research supports the view of the standard setters.

On the other hand, Fulkerson (1996) reported the results of a commercial survey (as
distinct from a survey conducted for academic purposes). This survey did not rank
financial reports and sharebrokers. However it did report that around 70 percent of
individual investors with portfolios totalling more than $5,000 consulted the financial
report before "risking money with the business" (Fulkerson, 1996, p16).

Cready and Mynatt (1991) conducted a survey of trading responses to 563 annual

report releases over a four year period. They found some evidence that smaller
shareholders were much more likely to use financial reports when making investing
decisions, than was the case for larger investors. These authors studied the number of
shares exchanged in each transaction for a period extending from nine days before to
10 days after the annual report was released. The number of shares exchanged was
used as a proxy for investor wealth. For example, transactions involving exchanges
of 2000 or more shares were assumed to represent institutional traders or very wealthy
individual traders. Transactions involving 100 shares or 200 shares represented low
wealth retail investors.

The study found that there was a significant inverse

relationship in the frequencies of transactions occurring around the date of release of
financial reports. That is, the smaller the size of the share parcel that was traded, the
more frequently trades occurred on and after the release date.

This result was found when comparing individual shareholders to institutional
shareholders, and large individual shareholders compared to small individual
shareholders. For example, Cready and Mynatt (1991) found very little significant
change in trading activity for transactions involving greater than $100,000 in size (a
proxy for institutional traders) during the period 9 days before and 10 days after the
release of the financial reports. However, there were much more significant changes
in trading activity levels for transactions worth less than $30,000.

Lipe (1998) conducted an experiment on non-professional investors and found that
accounting data was used in preference to market data when these two sources of
information gave conflicting messages on risk levels of selected companies.

A recent survey conducted on behalf of CPA Australia (2002) provides further
support for the argument that many shareholders rely on financial reports in their
investing decisions. The relevant findings of this survey are reproduced below. This
survey found that approximately half of all shareholders surveyed (n=239) relied on
financial reports either to a "great degree" or to "some degree".

EXHIBIT 1.1

CPA auestionnaire (extract)
Q3 As a source of information on any Australian companies, do you rely on
their financial reports to ...?

Great degree

18

Some degree

30

Only a little

27

Not at all

24

(Source: CPA Australia, Research Survey. Confidence in Corporate Reporting
Confidence. Table 4 (extract))

The Australian Stock Exchange Shareholder Survey (2000) presented a mixed image
of this issue. This survey found that 28 percent of retail investors did not consult a
financial advisor before buying and selling equities in the two years prior to 1999.
However, the same survey shows that 31 percent of retail investors (non-professional
investors) relied on stockbrokers in the previous 24 months and 29 percent relied on

accountants when making investment decisions. This survey showed that a substantial
proportion of Australian non-professional investors who, rightly or wrongly, made
their own investing decisions.

It appears that a substantial proportion of Australian non-professional investors rely at
least in part on published financial reports when making investing decisions.

2.4 Research on analvsts and vrofessional investors
2.4.1 Introduction
Having established that a proportion of non-professional investors use financial
reports to assist them in their investing decisions, it is necessary to determine whether
the standard setters are justified in their assertion that investors should rely on
financial advisors if the user is unable to analyse financial reports. There is a body of
evidence that questions the ability of financial advisors to provide unbiased
investment advice. Other research questions their ability to analyse general-purpose
financial reports. In addition, there is a body of literature which questions the ability
of experts, in this case professional investors, to perform better than novices or people
who are lightly trained in the relevant area.

2.4.2 Format effects and professional investors
Hopkins, Houston and Peters (2000) found that experienced buy side analysts treated
premiums paid on acquisition differently, depending how the premium was classified.
Hirst and Hopkins (1998) found that the placement of elements of comprehensive
income influenced the analyses conducted by experienced analysts. Specifically, if the
information was reported in the Statement of Financial Performance, it was treated as

more relevant to predictions of future performance. However, if the same information
was presented in the notes, it was treated as being less relevant.

Hopkins (1996) conducted an experiment on the effect of financial statement
classification of a hybrid financial instrument on professional buy side analysts with
an average of 14 years experience as analysts. He found that his subjects valued
company share prices differently depending on how mandatory redeemable preferred
stock (MPRS) was classified in the balance sheet. If the analysts were told the MPRS
was classified as debt, they valued the shares higher than was the case if they were
told the MPRS was classified as equity.

Harper, Mister and Strawser (1991) found that the form of disclosure of unfunded
postretirement benefits affected the way bank lending officers, with an average of 12
years professional experience, calculated certain debt ratios. Specifically, around 72
percent of the subjects classified the unfunded liability as debt, if it was reported on
the balance sheet. However, if the obligation was disclosed in the notes, around 39
percent of the subjects classified it as debt (Harper, Mister and Strawser, 1991).

Finally, Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1993) found that management compensation
committees seemed to ignore the impact of operating leases when setting management
compensation packages.

Their results suggest that management compensation

committees based their calculations on those figures reported in the balance sheet and
income statement, regardless of other information in the notes to the accounts.

2.4.3 Sources of vredictable bias in analvsts reports
Hunton and McEwen (1997) referred to a number of pieces of research which have
found that professional analysts tend to give predictably biased analyses depending on
the relationship their company has with the company analysed. Analysts that stand to
gain through increased brokerage activity are more likely to produce more optimistic
forecasts than are produced by analysts who do not stand to be rewarded by the
analysed company. In the same line of research Hirst, Koonce and Simko (1995)
referred to a number of studies showing that analysts employed by companies that
provide investment banking services to client companies are more likely to make
favourable analyses of the client companies than would be the case if the analysts
were employed by companies which did not have such a relationship with the client
companies. Dechow, Hutton and Sloan (2000) found similar behaviour when
companies issue equity to the markets.

However, Hirst and Hopkins (1998) found some evidence that recipients (investors)
of the financial analysts' reports attempt to compensate for this bias. Hirst and
Hopkins (1998) found that investors analysed the reports by examining both the
arguments contained in them and the relationship the analyst had to the company
being analysed. However, Hirst and Hopkins (1998) found that investors reacted
differently depending on the content of the report. Contrary to their predictions, Hirst
and Hopkins (1998) found that investors did not discriminate between the reports of
analysts that worked for companies who had investment bank relationships with the
company analysed, and those investors that had no such relationship, if the analysts'
report was favourable to the company. However, if the report gave unfavourable
information about the company, investors tended to give more credence to the analyst

with the investment bank relationship (investment bank analysts). Hirst and Hopkins
(1998) concluded that investors react more to bad news if it was reported by the
investment bank analysts simply because investors believe that investment bank
analysts would produce favourable reports.

The finding of Hirst and Hopkins (1998) in relation to good news is disturbing. It
appears that users of the analysts' reports ignored the potential for reports that are
favourably biased towards companies. Recent events involving the New York
Attorney General and Merrill Lynch have shown that a number of analysts have
produced reports that are supportive of a given company, despite the analysts'
personal beliefs (Spitzer 2002). In other cases, analysts seemed to shape their opinion
according to the chance of obtaining investment banking business, as predicted by
Hirst and Hopkins (1998). Examples include Credit Suisse (Morgenson 2002 (a)) and
Solomon Smith and Barney (Scheisel and Morgenson 2002). There is some evidence
that similar practices occurred in Australia (Kohler, 2002).

Finally, Lang and Lundholm (1996) provided some evidence that more analysts tend
to cover firms that increase their disclosures. These authors found that analysts seem
to place considerable reliance on information released through company-based
investor relations departments. Healy and Palepu (2002) referred to this phenomenon
in the context of examining the roles of the various players in the collapse of Enron.
Healy and Palepu (2002) stated that

analysts rely heavily on access to management for 'inside' information and feedback
on their analysis and research models. Management is less likely to provide access to

analysts that are critical of management and negative about the company's prospects.
Consequently, sell-side analysts have little incentive to issue sell recommendations or
to downgrade their earnings forecasts in a timely manner for stocks they follow.
(Healy and Palepu, 2002, p30)

2.4.4 Performance of experts
Camerer and Johnson (1991) reviewed a number of surveys of comparisons between
the performance of experts versus the performance of novices. This paper covered
surveys of experts in accounting, medicine and clinical psychology. They concluded
that expert judgments in most clinical and medical domains were no more accurate
than those of lightly trained novices. In addition 'expert judgments have been worse
than those of the simplest statistical models in virtually all domains that have been
studied' (Camerer and Johnson, 1991, p203).

Camerer and Johnson (1991) referred to only a couple of studies concerned with the
performance of experts in accounting. One of these showed that the judgment of
financial analysts was inferior to that of a simple linear model. They also referred to a
study by Libby and Frederick (1990) who found that experience did not significantly
increase the accuracy of auditors' explanations of audit errors. However, training had
some impact on accuracy, as inexperienced auditors were more accurate than
students.

Studies concerned specifically with novice-expert differences in decision-making in
accounting tend to give similar results to studies conducted in non-accounting areas.
These studies raise concern about relying on experts to provide better decisions than

those that would be made by novices. A number of studies, such as, Enis (1988),
Abdel-khalik (1974) and Hofstedt (1972) have shown that certain decisions made by
accounting experts are not statistically significantly different to those made by
novices.

Some further indication of the performance of financial analyst experts is provided by
Weiss Ratings (2002), who analysed the recommendations of 62 analyst firms that
covered 19 companies that went into bankruptcy over a 4 month period in 2002.
Weiss (2002) found that 74 percent of the analyst firms had buy or hold
recommendations on companies they were covering, on the day the companies filed
for bankruptcy. This study can be criticised for the short time frame it covered and
because of the small sample size. However, it seems to provide further support for the
claim that a significant proportion of analysts are just incompetent at their job. Weiss
Ratings found similar results in a later survey (Weiss, 2003).

2.5 Format effects and non-professional investors
The literature on this topic is scarce. Maines and McDaniel(2000) analysed the
impact of format effects on the ability of non-professional investors (MBA students)
to identify, evaluate and weight information relating to income figures. Briefly, they
found that subjects were able to identify the relevant information and to evaluate it
correctly, but gave it a different weighting, according to the way the information was
presented, when undertaking an investment decision.

The current thesis is examining a qualitatively different variable. Maines and
McDaniel (2000) examined income, a highly visible figure. This thesis is examining

operating leases, a figure that is placed in the notes, and not linked at all to the
Statement of Financial Position. Therefore, it is possible that the findings of Maines
and McDaniel (2000) will not be repeated for a variable that is so different from that
analysed by them.

2.6 Surnmarv
This discussion shows that financial reports are used in the investing process of nonprofessional investors. In addition, the literature questions the assumption made by
various standard setters that professional analysts will produce consistently unbiased
and knowledgeable financial statement analyses for non-professional investors. The
discussion now attempts to identify some characteristics of non-professional investors
and their presence in the Australian market.

2.6 Definition of the non-professional investor for the purposes of this research.
The current research is concerned with the impact of a specific accounting treatment
on non-professional investors. There is no theory on how to identify a nonprofessional investor. Due to this lack of theory, this paper will rely on empirical
evidence, obtained from the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) Share Ownership
Survey (2000) to develop a description or understanding of the significance of nonprofessional investors.

The ASX survey (2000) estimated that in November 1999, around 5.7 million adult
Australians, representing 40 percent of the adult population in Australia, directly
owned equities listed on the ASX. It would appear that a substantial proportion of
these shareholders were non-professional investors, as around 50 percent of them had

portfolios composed of two or less companies and traded infrequently. The survey
showed that on average these investors only traded 1.8 times a year. In addition,
approximately 50 percent of these investors did not trade in the 12 months prior to the
survey.

The results of the ASX survey (2000) can be contrasted with those of a recent
American survey. The Federal Reserve Board's Survey of Consumer Finances (2003)
estimated that only 21% of families owned publicly traded stock. This survey found
that ownership was very heavily concentrated in the highest income brackets. It would
appear that there is quite a difference in the demographics of share ownership in
Australia and America. This would imply that research on Australian retail investors
(non-professional investors) would not necessarily be able to rely on American
research on this topic, even if it existed.

The significance of non-professional investors to the Australian capital market should
not be underestimated. Private co~nmunicationwith staff at the ASX shows that total
retail investor ownership of the Australian market accounts for about 30 percent of
total market capitalisation. Another third of the market is owned by domestic
institutions and the final third is owned by foreign institutions. Please note that these
are ballpark figures. Exact ownership at any point in time is difficult to determine.

Due to the high proportion of Australian adults owning equities, the profile of
shareholders generally reflect the demographics of the Australian adult population.
For example, 39 percent of the population aged between 25 to 34 owned shares,
compared to 41 percent of the population aged 55 and over. In absolute terms, around

one and half million Australians aged between 18 and 34 owned equities, this is
around the same number of Australians aged 55 and over who owned equities. The
proportion of shareholders living in metropolitan areas was approximately the same as
those living in regional Australia.

The average size of the shareholdings was

reasonably small, around 42 percent had invested amounts less than $10,000. Fortyfive percent of males owned shares, compared to 36 percent of females.

The ASX survey (2000) also showed that share ownership was spread across
education levels. This distribution is shown in table 1.1.

Table 1.1
Shareholder ownership bv education level
Highest
education level:
Year10 or less

28%

Year 121High school certificate

39%

Trade certificateldiploma

52%

Universitylundergraduate

54%

Universitylpostgraduate

54%

Table 1.l shows that approximately 28% of Australians whose highest education level
is the Year 10 certificate, own shares. The ASX survey (2000) shows that 22 percent
of individuals earning less than $30,000 a year in 1999 owned shares. The survey
shows that 39 percent of individuals earning between $30,000 and $50,000 a year
owned shares. Approximately 55 percent of individuals earning greater than $50,000
per year owned shares in 1999.

This survey also shows, not surprisingly, that those in higher income brackets had
larger portfolios. It also shows that substantial proportions of shareholders are found
in most, if not all, adult age brackets in a wide range of socio-economic and
educational brackets. It would appear from the ASX survey (2000) that there is a
substantial population of non-professional investors in Australia. In addition, this
group of shareholders represented a significant proportion, approximately one third,
of the market capitalisation of the ASX.

Based on the results of the ASX survey (2000), for the purposes of this research, nonprofessional investors will refer to individuals with a wide range of characteristics.
At one end of the spectrum, a small number of non-professional investors will be
active share traders and/or possess tertiary qualifications in accounting and/or finance.
It is entirely possible that some of these investors will be professional lending officers
or other types of financial analyst who are investing at the retail level on their own
account. These investors should have excellent financial statement analysis skills. At
the other end of the spectrum, a significant proportion of non-professional investors
have limited experience in the stock market and/or only secondary level education.
These investors will have moderate to non-existent skills in analysing financial
statements. This would imply that members of any basically random group of
Australian adults would fit somewhere in the spectrum of Australian non-professional
investors.

Part 3 Accounting for leases

3.1 Introduction
There is an extensive literature on the accounting treatment of leases. This literature
reflects a wide range of concerns with the accounting treatment of leases. For reasons
of space this discussion will be limited to an examination of the literature relating to
the adaptive behaviour of companies when the standard setters change the accounting
treatment for operating leases, market assessments of risk due to leasing, and reasons
for leasing.

3.2 Responses to changes in the accounting treatment of leases
Imhoff and Thomas (1988) examined the impact of S. F. A. S. No 13 on the capital
structure of a sample of American firms. This research looked at the changes in the
capital structure of American companies during a two-year transition period. They
claimed the greatest impact was on the substitution from capital leases to operating
leases. The substitution was more pronounced for companies that reported higher
levels of capital (financial) leases, prior to the introduction of S. F. A. S. No 13, than
was the case for companies with lower levels of capital leases. This result is at odds
with research carried out on Australian firms by Godfrey and Warren (1995). The
Australian research found that changes in capital structure were independent of preexisting levels of finance leases. Interestingly, Irnhoff and Thomas (1988) also found
a decline in total leasing, that is, the total amount of operating leases and capital
leases fell after the introduction of the leasing standard. Once again, the decline was
greater for those companies that disclosed higher levels of capital leases prior to the

introduction of the standard. In addition, companies tended to change their capital
structure by reducing their debt and increasing their equity.

El-Gazzar (1993) examined the impact on debt covenant restrictions of a sample of
American companies that capitalised off balance sheet leases due to the introduction
of S.F.A.S. No 13. This study found that companies who were close to their debt
covenant limits suffered negative market returns due to the increased possibility of
technical default of their debt covenant.

It is possible that managers of American companies displayed the adaptive behaviour
just described due to perceptions that market analysts and other investors would react
negatively to changes in accounting ratios brought about by the change in accounting
for leases. The next part of the discussion examines the literature relating to the
impact that changes in accounting for leases have on accounting ratios.

leases on accounting ratios
3.3 The impact of capitalisation of operating

A number of researchers have examined the impact that capitalising operating lease
payments would have on financial accounting ratios (Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1991,
1997) and Beattie Edwards and Goodacre (1998), see Beattie, Edwards and Goodacre
(1998) for a review of earlier work by Ashton and others). These authors used
different models with different assumptions but generally reached the same
conclusions. That is, operating leases significantly affect a number of ratios that are
commonly used by investors to evaluate company and managerial performance. These
ratios include, profit margin, return on assets, and asset turnover.

Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1991) reported that capitalising operating leases would have
increased the debt to equity ratio by 191 percent for high lease companies and by 47
percent for those companies that did not rely on leases as heavily. They also reported
that return on assets dropped by 34 percent and 10 percent respectively.

Beattie, Edwards and Goodacre (1998) modified the lease capitalisation procedure
developed by Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1991) and examined the consequences of
capitalising operating leases using a sample of UK companies. Beattie, Edwards, and
Goodacre (1998) found that the return on assets dropped by 11 percent and gearing
ratios on average increased by 49 percent. (Beattie, Edwards and Goodacre (1998)
also reported that, on average, capitalised operating leases represented approximately
39 percent of reported long-term debt and approximately 6 percent of reported assets.

More recently, Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1997) found that the consequences of
capitalising operating leases "on standard profitability measures can be both
substantial in amount and unpredictable in direction." (Imhoff, Lipe and Wright,
1997, p31).

Having examined the impact on accounting ratios brought about by changes in the
accounting treatment of leases, it remains to be seen if the markets reacted to changes
in the accounting treatment of leases. If the market viewed the changes in accounting
treatment of leases as not providing any new information, it would not be expected to
react to these changes.

3.4 Market assessments of risk
One of the earliest studies in this area was conducted by Ro (1978). This research
found that A.S.R. 147 (an exposure draft on lessee accounting) had a significant
impact on the distribution of security returns. Bowman (1980) also examined the
impact of A. S. R. 147. He found evidence of a correlation between capital leases
(effectively finance leases) and market risk, once CO-linearitybetween leverage and
capital leases had been controlled for.

Finerty, Fitzsimons and Oliver (1980) examined the impact that A.S.R. 147 and
S. F. A. S. 13 had on the systematic risk of three samples of American companies.
One sample group had high levels of leasing, another had low levels of leasing and
the third group was simply a random sample of companies, not categorised by leasing
levels. This study claimed that there was no change in the systematic risk for any of
these groups due to the release of the exposure draft or the standard. This would imply
that markets were either not surprised or concerned with changes in the financial
reports brought about by the release of the exposure draft or standard. However these
results may be questionable. This analysis was performed using two statistical
techniques and the authors acknowledge that one of the test methods they used, the
Chow Test, was not ideal due to its limited ability to detect small shifts in company
betas. However, Finnerty, Fitzsimons and Oliver (1980) maintained confidence in
their results due to the fact that both tests gave similar results.

The significance of the results obtained by Finnerty, Fitzsimons, and Oliver (1980)
may also be questioned due to their choice of dependent variable. There is a body of
research showing that beta is not a strong proxy for different types of risk. Fama and

French (1992) report that beta is not strongly related to expected returns, that is, total
risk. Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1993) claimed that Beta had very little correlation with
leverage ratios, that is, financial risk. Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1993) also referred to
work conducted by Ely in1992 who found similar results.

El-Gazzar (1993) examined the impact of debt covenant restrictions on a sample of
American companies that capitalised off balance sheet leases due to the introduction
of S.F.A.S. No 13. This study found that companies who were close to their debt
covenant limits suffered negative market returns due to the increased possibility of
technical default of their debt covenant.

Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1993, 1995) found that American financial markets adjusted
the risk of companies in the airline and grocery sectors for the level of operating
leases they disclosed in their notes. Interestingly, they found that adjustments for
leverage made by the markets "are inconsistent with the discounted cash flow
recognition techniques utilised by S. F. A. S. 13, Capital Leases" (1993, p 352). More
of the correlation between risk and operating lease leverage could be explained by the
use of a naive heuristic, rather than more sophisticated capitalisation techniques. The
naive heuristic tested was simply the current period's rent expense multiplied by 8
(eight * rent, where the rent refers to the operating lease payments).

Ely (1995) conducted a survey of American companies with different levels of
operating leases. She found some evidence that companies with higher levels of
operating leases tended to have higher levels of equity risk as measured by the stock
market. The causes of this link are not very clear. She examined whether equity risk

increased because of the debt-to-equity ratio or because of the return to assets. Ely's
test using the debt-to-equity ratio showed that investors adjusted equity risk for levels
of operating leases, and more significantly, they ignored contingent liabilities,
specifically lease obligations tied to unknown sales levels. However, the tests on the
return on assets gave conflicting results. Specifically, Ely found that investors did not
seem to adjust the equity risk for firms with large amounts of operating leases.
However, she found some evidence that investors did rely on the Return on Assets to
adjust the equity risk for small and mid-size companies in her sample.

Beattie, Goodacre, and Thomson (2000) examined the impact of operating leases on
the United Kingdom financial market's assessment of equity risk. This study found
results similar to those of Ely (1995) and Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1993).
Specifically, Beattie, Goodacre, and Thomson (2000) found mixed evidence that the
markets adjusted equity risk on the basis of return on assets. This study also found
that the market adjusted the equity risk of small and mid-size companies, depending
on their level of operating leases. Beattie, Goodacre, and Thomson (2000) believe this
is significant, as small and mid-size companies are less likely to be followed by
sophisticated market analysts.

Aspects of the research by Beattie, Goodacre and Thomson (2000) have been
criticised by Oswald (2000). The main criticism by Oswald relates to the subjective
classification scheme used to classify companies by size.

Originally, Beattie,

Goodacre and Thomson (2000) classified large firms as being those in the top quartile
of total assets. Small firms were those in the bottom quartile of total assets. The
middle 50 percent were classified as medium-sized firms. According to Oswald

(2000), Beattie, Goodacre, and Thomson (2000) changed this classification scheme
and simply used subjective breakpoints of total assets. Apparently this moved a lot of
firms that were previously classified as mid-size into the small size category. This
changed the sample size of small firms from thirty-nine to eighty-six. This change in
classification affected the results for the original thirty-nine firms that were classified
as small. According to Oswald (2000), it would appear that the markets did not factor
in an increased equity risk, despite changes in the levels of operating risks of the
original thirty-nine firms. While it is true that the classification previously used by
Beattie, Goodacre and Thomson (2000) of the top and bottom quartiles was also
subjective, it is interesting to note that the difference in classification could have such
a strong impact on the results reported for the market's ability to adjust the equity for
changing levels of risk.

Beattie, Goodacre and Thomson (2000) and Ely (1995) found that there was little
evidence to suggest that naive heuristics were better able to explain investor
behaviour than more sophisticated discounted cash flow techniques. This result is at
some odds with the earlier work of Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1993, 1995) who found
that the capital markets tended to rely more on naive heuristics. This difference in
results could be due to a number of factors. For example, the work by Imhoff, Lipe,
and Wright (1993) was conducted a number of years earlier than the work by Beattie,
Goodacre, and Thomson (2000). It is possible that capital market participants are
more sophisticated now than they were when Imhoff, Lipe, and Wright (1993)
conducted their research. Therefore it is possible that currently adjustments in capital
markets are more likely to be based on discounted cash flow techniques, rather than
naive heuristics.

Ezzell and Vora (2001) analysed share market reactions to information relating to
leasing decisions undertaken by around eighty American companies. This research
did not look at the impact of operating leases versus financial leases. Instead it looked
at sale and leaseback versus direct leases.' They found that there was no impact on the
market price of companies who announced they were undertaking new (direct) leases.
However, there were positive share movements when sale and leaseback
announcements were made. Similarly they found no significant impact on share price
for direct leases where there were tax advantages. However, there was a positive
change in the share price, due to tax reasons when sale and lease back transactions
were announced. Other results from this research claimed that differences in share
market reaction to announcements on direct leases versus sale and lease back
transactions can be explained by bankruptcy costs and information asymmetry
(proxied by the payment of a dividend). In addition, the price of shares for companies
making direct lease announcements was affected by the type of asset leased and
whether or not the company demonstrated a high degree of information asymmetry.

The literature on the market assessment of risk relating to the use of leases provides
mixed results. Studies in America and the United Kingdom show that markets seem to
adjust for risk differently, depending on a number of variables. It is also unsettled
whether the market uses sophisticated or ndive methods to determine the impact of
leases on companies.

'

Direct leases are simply new leases. Unfortunately this research does not indicate whether the new
leases refer to operating leases or finance leases or both

3.5 Reasons for leasing
3.5.1 Tax
A substantial body of research on leasing seems to be driven by an urge to prove or
disprove the claim by Modigliani and Miller (1963) that, while there are significant
tax advantages of debt financing, capital structure is independent of the form of
financing. Miller (1977) further developed this argument. He relied on the clientele
effects argument to claim that there was no optimum debt ratio for any given firm.
Different stakeholders with different risk profiles would be attracted to companies
with different levels of debt in their corporate structure. Therefore, according to
Miller (1977), the capital structure of the firm would not affect the value of the firm.
Miller (1977) supported his claim with earlier research showing that the corporate
structure of American firms did not change substantially between the 1920s and the
1950s, despite the fact that tax rates had moved from 10 percent to around 50 percent
over the same period. This dramatic increase in the tax rate should have made debt a
lot more attractive and therefore skewed the capital structure towards higher
proportions of debt. According to Miller (1977), this simply did not happen. Miller
(1977) developed an equilibrium model in which he argued that the corporate sector
would issue debt until the marginal reduction in its corporate tax equals the increase
in personal tax incurred by a marginal debt holder.

Early researchers in the field of finance who examined the leasing decision seemed to
accept Miller's (1977) argument and struggled to find ways to reconcile his view with
the behaviour of market participants. Many of these researchers viewed the entire
leasing versus buying issue from within the prism of Modigliani and Miller's (1963)
work on capital structure. For example, Brealey and Young (1980) held that "the use

of any lease valuation model involves a general theory of capital structure" (Brealey
and Young, 1980, p1249). This restricted view of the world affected the results of
their research. Brealey and Young (1980) examined the consequences of Miller's
(1977) work and claimed that leasing was only the preferred source of financing for a
company if the lessee company was temporarily not liable to tax. Other researchers
also held that the only reason leasing could assist the company is due to the tax
advantage the lessee obtained on the lease payments. Therefore, Myers, Dill, and
Bautista (1976) concluded that

saving taxes seems to be the only motive that is both obvious and substantial.
Other frequently cited reasons appear artificial or transient-e.g., the idea that
creditors can be fooled by off-balance sheet financing, that the lessee's
stockholders can be fooled by the higher book profits that leasing often leads
to, or that organisations' controls on capital expenditure can be circumvented
by leasing rather than buying new assets. In efficient and competitive capital
markets the lease versus borrow problem should be a tossup, apart from tax
considerations (Myers, Dill, and Bautista, 1976, p815).

However, even when this tax advantage exists, the early finance literature maintains
that the choice between leasing or buying is still irrelevant because the "purely
financial costs of the two methods are equivalent" (Miller and Upton, 1976, p 761).
However, Miller and Upton (1976) did concede that the peculiarities of the present
US tax laws made the lease versus buying decision relevant, only because some
lessees could not benefit from the tax based advantages. On the other hand,
Llewellyn, Long and McConnell(1976) held that

environmental factors which can bring about significant differences in the
costs of asset purchase and asset leasing will seldom prevail, especially since
the tax rate effect on the transaction can go either way. Perturbations from
equilibrium cannot be ruled out, certainly, but market pressures can be
expected to eliminate most of these fairly quickly..... [I]n an idealised
competitive milieu, a reliable rationale for leasing attractiveness cannot
reasonably be maintained. (Llewellyn, Long, and McConnell, 1976,
p797).

3.5.2 Empirical results on tax argument
MacKie-Mason (1990) claims he found clear evidence of substantial tax effects on
financial decisions. However, the impact of tax on the financing decision of different
companies was uneven and was sensitive to the nature of the non- debt tax benefit
(tax loss carry-forward or investment tax credit) and the likelihood that the company
was able to use the tax benefit. MacKie- Mason (1990) found that companies with tax
loss carry-forwards were significantly less likely to finance new projects with debt,
those companies with investment tax credits were significantly more likely to increase
their debt level when making a new investment, and those companies that had
investment tax credits, but also appeared to be closer to bankruptcy (an indicator of
tax exhaustion) were far and away the least likely to finance new projects with debt.
The significance of the three results needs to be examined.

The variables with the two highest coefficients were companies with investment tax
credits (much more likely to undertake debt) and companies with investment tax
credits close to bankruptcy (much more likely to lease the assets). As he states,
companies with tax loss carry-forwards have a "high probability of again having a

zero tax rate" (MacKie-Mason, 1990, p1472) and companies with investment tax
credits are more likely to be profitable. Companies are likely to have the investment
tax credits "precisely because the firm has profitable investment opportunities"
(MacKie-Mason, 1990, p 1472).

It is possible to draw a slightly different conclusion to that drawn by MacKie-Mason
(1990). Specifically, tax effects are a proxy for the ability of companies to repay debt.
Therefore, the fact that there is a high probability that companies with tax loss carryforwards will not have to pay tax in the next year, can be interpreted as saying that
companies with tax losses are more likely to have problems with accounting profits
and cashflows. This would reduce their ability to borrow funds. This argument was
developed by Barclay and Smith (1995) who suggested that the variable tax loss
carry-forward is a proxy for financial distress.

It is arguable that the major difference in the debaease decision is driven by the
willingness of the market to extend debt to companies, rather than the nature of any
tax benefit available to lessees. The willingness of the market to extend debt is more
likely to be a function of the perceived ability of the borrower to repay the funds,
rather than the existence of tax benefits per se. In this case a tax benefit available to
the borrowing company would be irrelevant to the market's decision to extend debt, as
it would in the case of companies with investment tax credits, if the borrowing
companies were not close to bankruptcy. On the other hand, the tax benefit of the
investment tax credit would be ignored by the market, if it felt that the company was
close to bankruptcy. In this case having investment tax credits and being close to
bankruptcy should result in a greater propensity towards leasing assets rather than

acquiring extra debt as few lenders would be willing to risk lending to a customer
with such a high credit risk. Further support for this argument is provided by Graham,
Lemrnon and Schallheim (1998), who reported evidence that levels of operating
leases and capital leases are positively related to the expected costs of financial
distress.

MacKie-Mason (1990) found that a range of variables were more strongly associated
with the leasing decision than tax based variables. For example, companies that
undertook research and development were much more likely to lease their next asset
rather than buy it, as was found for companies with tax loss carry-forwards. The
coefficient for the research and development variable was more than double that of
the tax loss carry-forward variable. Similarly, companies that undertook advertising
campaigns were more likely to use debt, rather than lease their next asset. Again, the
coefficient for advertising was double that for tax loss carry-forward variable.
Companies that had a cash deficit were found to have a similar coefficient and impact
on the leasing decision as the tax loss carry-forward variable. The t-statistics for the
research and development, advertising and cash deficit variables were all more
significant than the t-statistics for tax loss carry-forwards, investment tax credits and
investment tax credits combined with bankruptcy variables. Various measures of
variance of earnings had coefficients around five times the size of the tax loss carryforward variable. In other words, variability of earnings was much more strongly
associated with the leaserbuy decision than the tax variables were. The t-statistics of
variance of earnings measures were much more significant than the one reported for
tax loss carry-forward.

Contrary to Brealy and Young (1980), Ang and Peterson (1984) found that the
"average tax rates of the leasing firms is consistently higher than that of the nonleasing firms in each of the six years" of their study (Ang and Peterson 1984, p1064).
This finding, and work by Krishnan and Moyer (1994) do not support the claim by
Brealy and Young (1980) that leasing will only make sense if the lessee company has
a lower tax rate than the lessor. On the other hand, Kang and Long (2001) found that
firms with lower tax rates used more leasing than was the case for firms with higher
tax rates.

O'Malley (1996) found that tax exhaustion has a significant negative impact on
investment decisions. However, the impact seemed to be similar for companies that
leased and those that did not.

Previous research on the role that tax rates play in affecting debt levels in general and
lease levels in particular has been heavily criticised by Graham, Lemrnon and
Schallheim (1998). These authors showed that many of these earlier research efforts
used conceptually flawed estimates of company marginal tax rates. Earlier research
used an estimate of the marginal tax rate that was based on accounting profit that was
determined after financing costs had been taken into account. Graham, Lemmon and
Schallheim (1998) used a marginal tax rate that was based on a profit figure that was
calculated before financing costs. They showed that the marginal tax rate is
endogenous to the financing decision. For example, holding net profit (that is, profit
before tax) constant, a company is able to reduce its marginal tax rate simply by
taking on more debt, than would be the case if it had used equity to fund its
operations.

This is simply due to the deductibility of interest versus the non-

deductibility of equity payments that is, dividends. Based on a model developed by
Graham (1996), Graham, Lemmon and Schallheim (1998) showed that low tax rate
firms are more likely to use operating leases than are high tax rate firms. In addition
they show that debt levels are significantly and positively related to tax rates. On the
other hand, capital leases have a statistically insignificant negative relation to
marginal tax rates. This last finding was expected, due to the fact that some capital
leases will qualify for deductions, while others will not. Therefore the authors could
not predict how capital leases would interact with marginal tax rates.

Graham, Lemmon and Schallheim (1998) also reported a different aspect of the
impact of tax on leasing decisions. They report that the level of operating leases
increased and the level of capital leases declined after certain changes were made in
the American tax system. This would contradict the claim made by Miller (1977).

Tax based arguments have also been criticised for failing to explain intra entity
differences in leasing or buying assets. Smith and Wakeman (1985) suggested that
tax-based incentives could only partially explain the lease or buy decision. The major
problem with the tax effects argument for Smith and Wakeman (1985) was the fact
that they observed "systematically different leasing decisions within the same firm for
assets with the same tax treatment" (Smith and Wakeman, 1985, p898).

Titman and Wessels (1988) found that a company uniqueness variable composed of,
research and development, selling expenses (predominately advertising expenses) as a
proportion of sales, and the voluntary job turnover ratio variables did a far better job
of explaining debt ratios of companies, than was the case with non- debt tax shields,

volatility of earnings, collateral value, or future growth prospects of the company.
This study looked at long term, short term and convertible debt, rather than lease
versus buy decisions. There is some similarity between these results and those found
by MacKie Mason (1990). MacKie-Mason (1990) also examined the impact of
selling (advertising) expenses and research and development expenses. However,
MacKie-Mason (1990) separated selling expenses and research and development and
found they had opposite impacts on the proportion of debt undertaken by his sample
companies. He reported a negative coefficient for research and development, while
the coefficient for advertising expenses was positive. Titman and Wessells (1988)
combined these variables and included voluntary job turnover and found, in
aggregate, a negative relationship between these variables and debt. Unlike MacKieMason (1990), Titman and Wessells (1988) found that

research and development

and sales expenses had negative correlations with different measures of debt, in all
cases but one. The only exception related to debt divided by total assets. In this case
research and development was positively correlated with debt, while sales expenses
were negatively correlated. These results are the opposite obtained by MacKieMason (1990).

Lasfer and Levis (1998) found that the determinants of leasing decisions are partially
size dependent. For example, taxation is not a significant factor in the leasing
decision for small listed companies or unlisted companies large and small. However,
tax is a significant factor for large listed companies. The impact of profitability was
also mixed. Large companies that had substantial leases tended to be more profitable
than large companies who did not have significant leases. However, this relationship
did not hold for small and mid-size companies. "In particular, smaller lessee

companies have significantly lower profit before interest and tax than non lessee
companies." (Lasfer and Levis, 1998, p176)

It would appear that the finance literature on the tax driven nature of leasing is not
entirely settled. MacKie-Mason (1990), perhaps inadvertently, showed that there are a
number of non-tax factors which impact on the leaselbuy decision. There is a sizeable
literature dealing with non-tax reasons for leasing. The next part of this discussion
examines this literature.

3.6 Non-tax reasons for leasing
The emphasis on tax as being the major reason that companies undertake leasing has
been criticised extensively in the literature as being an incomplete reason. Some of
these criticisms will be detailed below.

Vancil (1961), Flath (1980), Lasfer and Levis (1998), Smith and Wakeman (1985)
Sharpe and Nguyen (1995) have all proposed non-tax reasons for leasing. There is
some compelling evidence from professional leasing practitioners that tax
considerations provide only a modest incentive to lease rather than buy.

The

Association for Equipment Leasing and Finance (2001) recently surveyed their
members and found that taxes were only nominated by 13 percent of survey
respondents as a reason for leasing. Tax ranked equally with ease, convenience,
flexibility and maintenance costs. On the other hand, cash flow was nominated by 35
percent of the sample as a reason for leasing rather than buying. There is some
similarity of results between the ELA survey and the results found by MacKie-Mason
(1990). Both found that tax explained less of the leasing decision than did other

factors, such as cash flow.

3.6.1 Lease-debt substitutabilitv
Leasing will be attractive for companies if they are able to gain control of an asset for
a given period of time and the leasing option displaces less debt capacity than a nonlease alternative. Debt capacity is defined as the capacity to incur further debt (Oak,
1999). If financial institutions and debenture holders view leasing as being a less
risky choice than borrowing to gain control over an asset, companies would be able to
effectively increase the number of assets they control, given their debt capacity, if
they leased their assets.

This issue has been researched for at least 20 years with, at best, mixed results.
Studies conducted by Bowman (1980), Ang and Peterson (1984) and Branson (1995)
found some evidence that leases are complements, rather than substitutes for debt. It
should be noted that the sample used by Ang and Peterson (1984) contained a tiny
proportion of companies with operating leases. For example, they report that only one
percent of companies reported operating leases for half of the experimental period. It
would appear that Ang and Peterson (1984) were dealing with a sample population
that was very heavily skewed towards companies using financing leases. Branson's
(1995) sample of leasing companies used finance leases exclusively, there were no
companies with operating leases in Branson's work.

Due to the different

characteristics of financing leases compared to operating leases, specifically the
longer time period and the fact that "many of the properties of secured debt can be
extended to financial (capital) leasing, because capital leases impose consequences on
a firm that are similar to secured debt financing" (Krishnan and Moyer, 1994, p33) it

is easy to see why finance leases would complement other forms of debt.

Bowman (2000) also found that capital leases were highly correlated with leverage.
Lewis and Schallheim (1992) argued that leases and debt can be complements if the
lessee is able to sell non-debt tax shields to the lessor. (Non- debt tax shields can
include depreciation deductions, income tax credits and carry forward tax losses.)
Lewis and Schallheim (1992) argue that lessees are at less risk of having superfluous
deductions if they are able to sell the non-debt tax shields to the lessor.

(A

superfluous deduction is one that cannot be used in the current year due to a lack of
taxable income.) Therefore the lessee is able to undertake more debt, without having
such a high probability of having deductions that cannot be used.

Mehran, Taggart and Yermack (1999) found a complementary relationship existed
between debt and finance leases, However they found no significant relationship
between debt and operating leases. Krishnan and Moyer (1994) studied financial
leases and debt. They suggested that financial leases complement debt due to the fact
that leasing has lower bankruptcy costs and so firms with high levels of debt will be
compelled to fund new assets with debt in order to reduce potential bankruptcy costs.

Other researchers such as Bayless and Diltz (1986), Deloof and Verschueren (1999),
and Beattie, Goodacre and Thomson (2000) have tended to support the claim that
leases are substitutes for debt.

Lasfer and Levis (1998) analysed 3,000 United Kingdom companies and found that
finance leasing and debt finance were complements in large companies. However,

they found that finance leases and debt were substitutes in mid-size and small
companies.

Beattie, Goodacre and Thomson (2000) conducted a five-year longitudinal study over
approximately 200 United Kingdom companies in order to determine whether leases
were substitutes or complements for non- lease debt. They found that one Pound of
total leases displaced 23p worth of non- lease debt. They carried out further analysis
and found that finance leases had no statistically significant impact on this
substitutability. They suggested this was probably due to the very low level of
finance leases as a proportion of total leases. Therefore, the bulk of the substitution
effect reported would be due to the presence of operating leases.

Graharn, Lemmon and Schallheim (1998) concluded from their research that "firms
with no debt use operating leases more intensely than firms with debt" (Graham,
Lemmon and Schallheim, 1998, p150). They interpreted this finding as support for
the hypothesis that debt and operating leases are substitutes.

Kang and Long (2001) found that the relationship between debt and leasing is
affected by the choice of variable of interest. They found that when their sample was
not controlled for leverage levels, debt and leasing were substitutes. However, when
their sample was classified according to leverage levels, debt and leasing behaved as
complements.

It would appear that the literature is divided on whether or not finance leases are
complements or substitutes. However, researchers who have examined this issue in

relation to operating leases have generally concluded that operating leases are at least
a partial substitute for other forms of debt.

It is possible that the diversity of findings relating to this issue may be due to the fact
that different size firms use different forms of debt (Lasfer, 1999). These researchers
found that smaller firms tended to have short term debt and leases while larger firms
tended to rely on longer term debt. In addition, smaller firms tended to use secured
debt, while larger firms relied more heavily on unsecured debt and subordinated debt
(Lasfer, 1999).

3.6.2 Other reasons for leasing
Vancil (1961) suggested that there were three major reasons why leasing is more
attractive than buying assets. These reasons are based on the functions performed by
the lessor. First, the lessor allows the lessee full use of the asset, even though the
lessee has only paid part of the price. There is a related advantage for the lessee. If
the lessee was to borrow the money for the asset, there is a good chance that he or she
would only be able to borrow a proportion of the funds required (say 70 percent) and
would have to put in their own cash for the remaining 30 percent. Second, the lessor
shoulders all or part of the risk of technical obsolescence of the leased asset. Vancil
(1961) argued that the lessees are happy to pay a premium to the lessor for assuming
this risk. The size of the premium is likely to be much lower than the potential loss to
the lessee if it tied up a lot of capital in an asset that soon becomes obsolete. Third, the
lessor provides a potentially valuable service to the lessee through packaging the
administrative, legal and tax requirements.

Flath (1980) proposed a range of reasons for companies to undertake short-term
leasing. Two of his major points are discussed here. Contrary to Merton and Upton
(1976), Flath (1980) argued that leasing does affect the allocation of risk between
lessors and lessees.

Essentially, leasing allows the risk of using the asset in

production to be separated from the risks of ownership of the asset. This allows both
parties to gain through specialisation.

The lessee is able to use its specialist

knowledge of its business to maximise its advantage through the use of the asset. The
lessee does not need to worry about risk of change in the disposal price of the asset, or
being stuck with an asset that can be superseded. The lessor is able to use its
specialist skills in assessing the risk to its cash flows from technological change and
economic factors. However the lessor does not need to worry about the risk of using
the asset in production, this risk lies with the lessee.

Flath (1980) also argued that leasing creates economies on transaction costs,
particularly costs of determining the quality of the asset. For example, it is much
more convenient to lease an asset for a week and rely on the lessor to ensure the asset
will perform as required, rather than examine the asset carefully prior to buying it,
using it for the required period and then attempting to sell it. Interestingly, Krishnan
and Moyer (1994) suggested that leasing introduces a range of transaction costs that
are not imposed on owners of assets. These costs include restrictions on disposal of
leased assets, that is, having to obtain the approval of the lessor before the asset can
be sold. In addition, lessees may need to negotiate with lessors to terminate the lease
prematurely or sublease the asset. Krishnan and Moyer (1994) suggested that
transaction costs will be higher for leasing than for using secured borrowing.

Flath (1980) predicted that individuals and closely held firms are more likely to lease
than are corporations with widely dispersed shareholdings. Assuming closely held
firms are generally smaller than widely held firms, this result is in agreement with
Kang and Long (2001) and Sharpe and Nguyen (1995).

Smith and Wakeman (1985) maintained that leasing can prevent the under-investment
problem. This argument was originally developed by Stulz and Johnson (1985) who
argued that leasing, as a form of secured debt, could increase shareholder wealth
without increasing the riskiness to existing debt holders of wealth transfers from debt
holders to shareholders. Projects with a positive net present value can be financed by
leasing or secured debt, as the cash flows from the specific project can be quarantined
to the financier, rather than simply going into the general pool of funds that are
available to pay off existing debt-holders or dividends to shareholders. The advantage
for the financier of the leased (or secured) asset is a reduced risk profile due to the
seniority of the claim the financier has on the cash flows from the specific project. In
addition, the risk profile of the unsecured lenders is also improved, assuming the
leased asset is able to generate cash flows greater than the cost of debt, because these
cash flows will increase the cash available for unsecured creditors.

This reduction in the risk profile will also work in a slightly different form. Even if
the assets are not used for specific project, for example a number of computers leased
for the accounting department, the lessor will still have seniority of claim over the
specific assets if the lessees goes bankrupt. This will significantly reduce the costs of
the lessee's bankruptcy to the lessor. This advantage was also referred to by Sharpe
and Nguyen (1995) and Krishnan and Moyer (1994).

Smith and Wakeman (1985) also suggested that leasing could help reduce risk
through diversification of assets. This argument simply states that companies don't
want to tie up significant proportions of their wealth in one asset. Leasing lets them
gain control of a number of assets and so reduces the risk of having too much wealth
tied up in one asset that could become technologically obsolete or unsuitable for the
company as it struggles to survive in a turbulent environment.

Management compensation contracts can also affect the leasing decisions, according
to Smith and Wakeman (1985). Specifically, compensation contracts that refer to
return on capital employed, or return on assets are expected to cause managers to
want to increase the level of leasing activities undertaken by the company. Some
support for this argument is provided by Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1993). These
researchers found that American compensation committees ignored operating leases
when setting executive remuneration.

Finally, for the purposes of this paper, Smith and Wakeman (1985) suggested that
leasing is more likely to be undertaken if the lessor has specialist skills and
advantages in acquiring and disposing of the leased assets.

Benjamin, de la Torre and Musumeci (1998) argued that leasing commercial real
estate prevents a 'free rider' problem. The specific free rider problem is concerned
with spending money on security, car parks, and other amenities that will provide an
attractive environment for shoppers in order to maintain the desired volume of
customers, and therefore revenues. Benjamin, de la Torre and Musumeci (1998)
argued that such expenditures are unlikely to be paid by individual shop owners if

they believe that the return to them is less than the cost. However, if the shopping
center is owned by a single lessor, there is a strong incentive to make such payments,
as the benefits will accrue to the lessor, through the ability to charge higher rents, due
to high volumes of shoppers.

Barclay and Smith (1995) examined the determinants for capitalised leases, secured
debt, ordinary debt, subordinated debt, preferred stock and common stock. This
research did not look at operating leases. They found that the contracting cost
hypothesis, rather than the tax hypothesis, explained more of the reasons why a wide
range of American companies adopted different structures to fund their investments.

Mehran, Taggart and Yermack (1999) found that the level of leasing a company
undertakes is related to the proportion of shares in a company that are owned by the
company's CEO. This research found a positive correlation between the proportion of
CEO ownership and the levels of debt and leasing.

Sharpe and Nguyen (1995) adopted a financial contracting perspective and found that
leasing levels are about twenty-five percent higher for firms who would normally
expect to pay a premium for borrowing. In Sharpe and Nguyen's findings (1995),
these firms could be large or small. However, these firms pay no dividends, have little
free cash and are basically very unattractive to financial institutions. In addition,
Sharpe and Nguyen (1995) also found that small firms have proportionately higher
levels of leasing than large firms. These authors examined capital leases and operating
leases. Some of their results deserve comment. Quite surprisingly they found that the
propensity to undertake capital leases had little relation to the debt rating of their

sample firms, but it was positively and significantly related to firm size. However, the
propensity to undertake operating leases was found to be significantly negatively
related to both credit ratings and firm size.

Krishnan and Moyer (1994) found that leasing reduced bankruptcy costs in
comparison to financing with ordinary debt. This advantage arises due to bankruptcy
laws. Under bankruptcy laws in the United States, the lessee is able to reject or accept
a lease. If the company chooses to accept the lease, it must continue to make the
payments called for under the contract. However if the lessee decides to reject the
lease, the asset is returned to the lessor who can then dispose of it, re-lease it, or hold
it. In addition the lessor is able to sue as an unsecured creditor for any penalties or
late payments under the lease contract.

Weidner (2000), Murray (2001) and Smith and Wakeman (1985) gave specific
examples of the ability of leases to provide benefits due to their flexibility. Weidner
(2000) showed how synthetic leases can be created that so that leases will be treated
as operating leases for financial accounting purposes and so provide an advantageous
image in the financial reports. The same lease will also be structured so that, for tax
purposes, the lessee is able to claim deductions for depreciation of the leased asset
and an interest element of the rent payments. In the early years of the lease, the sum
of these two deductions is generally greater than the deduction on the rental payment
itself. Smith and Wakeman (1985) described a similar example of the same practice
carried out by British lessors and American lessees. In this case, the transaction was
structured so that the British banks could claim the deduction on the asset, while
under American law the lessee was also able to claim a deduction for the depreciation

on the same asset.

The non-tax reasons for leasing that have been developed in the academic literature
are also strongly reflected in a number of surveys carried out by the Equipment
Leasing Association (2001) and are reflected in promotional material provided by a
number of leasing associations eg the Canadian Finance and Leasing Association
(2001).

3.7 Australian based research
There does not appear to be much published Australian research relating to leasing. It
is important to note that some of the results from Australian research have
contradicted the findings of overseas studies. This poses questions about the validity
of basing Australian policy on the findings of overseas research.

Wilkins and Zirnmer (1983a) found that the method of reporting leases did not affect
professional analysts7 estimation of share valuations. However it impacted on their
precision of earnings estimates. Specifically, footnote disclosure for a moderately
levered company resulted in a significantly higher estimate of projected earnings, than
was the case for an identical company whose leases were capitalised and brought onto
the balance sheet. More significant than the difference in expected earnings levels
though, was the difference in standard deviation of the estimates of earnings.
Subjects who analysed companies that used footnote disclosure had a standard
deviation that was around six times greater than the standard deviation for those
subjects who analysed companies that reported their leases on the balance sheet. This
would indicate that the precision of professional investors to predict earnings is

significantly affected by the format of reporting leases.

On the other hand, Wilkins and Zimmer (1983b) and Wilkins (1984) found that their
subjects, lending officers, were generally not misled or affected by the formatting of
leases. They suggested that this was due to the specific training these officers had
received.

Bazley, Brown and Izan (1985) examined the factors that caused Australian lessees to
disclose lease commitments in annual reports from the period 1964 to 1982. This
research found weak evidence that companies with high debtfasset ratios were less
likely to disclose their lease commitments. In addition, there was no significant link
between managerial bonus schemes and disclosure of leases. However, firm size and
industry membership were found to be associated with the decision to disclose leases.

Godfrey and Warren (1995) adopted the model used by Imhoff and Wright (1988) to
examine the response of Australian lessee firms to the introduction of Australian
Accounting Standard 17 (AAS 17), Accounting for Leases. Contrary to Imhoff and
Wright (1988) Godfrey and Warren (1995) found that capital adjustments made by
Australian companies were independent of pre-existing levels of financial leases.
Specifically, companies who previously disclosed leases in the footnotes reduced their
reliance on lease debt, irrespective of the level of leases they had. In addition,
Godfrey and Warren (1995) stated that "contrary to experience overseas, firms
generally did not use definitional interpretations to reclassify finance leases as
operating" (Godfrey and Warren 1995, p226)

Gallery and Imhoff (1998) found that Australian equity markets basically rely on

balance sheet and operating income figures when assessing the riskiness of leases. In
other words, they largely ignore the footnote disclosures on leases. This result is
opposite to the results Imhoff, Lipe, and Wright (1995, 1993) obtained in earlier work
based on American equity markets.

Gallery and Imhoff (1998) found that capitalization of leases, using either the
constructive capitalization method developed by Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1991), or
the ndive 8 times rent method, did not explain more of the variability of returns than
could be explained by reliance on reported figures. These results are quite surprising
given the fact that many American institutional investors operate in the Australian
equity market. As Gallery and Imhoff (1998) claimed, the presence of these
companies, who would be expected to use the same methods here as are used in
America, and the availability of the literature on constructive capitalization techniques
and heuristic methods of dealing with operating leases, should be sufficient to predict
that Australian equity markets would behave the same as American markets, given the
similar nature of the accounting treatment of operating leases.

Gallery and Imhoff (1998) speculated that the cost of obtaining the information in
order to adjust for the operating leases may be considered too high by Australian
investors. However, this argument appears weak when it is realised that the lease
payments are separately disclosed in Australian reports. Given this, it is hard to argue
that the 8 times rent method has excessively high information collection costs. Of
course, Australian investors may think the method itself is without merit and so
choose not use it, despite its ease of calculation.

Goela and Bisman (2002) found that there is no single factor that adequately explains
the leasebuy decision in Australia for the period 1985-2001. In addition, they
question the claim that accounting numbers (off-balance sheet financing) affect the
leasebuy decision for Australian companies. Goela and Bisman (2002) argued that
leasing decisions are mainly driven by availability of funds, obsolescence and interest
rates.

Part 4. Current Issues; The Group of Four Plus One proposals

4.1 A brief overview of the vrovosals
The Group of Four Plus One (hereafter the G4+1) has proposed a radical overhaul of
the current accounting treatment of operating leases (AASB, 2000). This proposal
stems from the view that current lease accounting standards are unsatisfactory
(McGregor, 1996) due to the off-balance sheet financing and because the rights and
liabilities that arise under an operating lease are not reported.

The central part of the G4+1 proposal calls for the removal of the distinction between
operating and financing leases that currently exists in Australian, Canadian, American
and British accounting standards (AASB, 2000). This would force the majority of
lease transactions to be reported in the Statement of Financial Position instead of
being disclosed in the notes. The proposal states that lessees should recognise the fair
value of obligations and the fair value of rights, arising under leases that cover periods
greater than 1 year (AASB, 2000). The proposal limits recognition of assets and
liabilities to any period up to but not beyond the first option to renew date. That is, the
lessee will not record or disclose any liabilities or assets that arise after the first option

to renew date, irrespective of the likelihood these options will be renewed (AASB,
2000).

The proposal goes on in some detail to discuss how to account for contingent payment
leases and other aspects of leasing. These are not particularly relevant to this thesis
and so will not be discussed.

4.2 Reactions to the vrovosals
4.2.1 Academic
Lipe (2001) suggested that managers of lessees will seek to circumvent the intentions
of the G4+1 proposal by inserting "nonsubstantive renewal options" (Lipe, 2001,
p306) into lease contracts in order to minimise the assets and liabilities that would be
reported under the G4+1 proposal. It would be hard to criticise this view.
Unfortunately, it is just as hard to think of ways to force lessees to record assets and
liabilities that may arise after the first option to renew date, but do not yet exist as the
option has not been exercised. At best, this information could be disclosed. It is
possible that Australian lessees will not use the tactic of using short-term leases with
multiple options to renew, to avoid the intention of the proposal. Godfrey and Warren
(1995) showed that Australian managers did not engage in these practices in order to
reclassify leases into operating leases. However, it must be recognised that there is no
reason to believe that they would be as passive about changes in accounting for
leases, as they were when the last major changes were implemented.

Monson (2001) argued for a different interpretation of the rights that a lessee acquires
when it enters into a lease. He argued that that lessee should record the market value

of the physical asset, rather than assuming that the value of the rights to use the asset
will generally be no more than the discounted minimum lease payments.

Monson (2001) used an example of an airline leasing a plane for 3 years. Under the
G4+1 proposal, Monson (2001) argued that the company would only recognise the
rights to the extent that they were paid for, that is, 3 years of lease payments (in his
example, about $30M), rather than the market price of the plane (around $loom). The
implication here is that the G4+1 proposal will understate the assets and liabilities
faced by the lessee. Monson argued that the lessee is acquiring the right to use an
asset that is worth $loom that is, the company is not paying for the right to acquire
part of the asset, it is paying for the right to use the entire asset for a given period of
time. At the end of the lease period the lessee has a liability to hand back this asset.

Monson's view (2001) is not supported by the AAA Financial Accounting Standards
Committee (2001) who agree with the G4+1 proposal that the lessee should only
report the values of the rights and obligations conveyed under the lease, rather than
the value of the physical asset. The Committee (2001) recognised that this poses
measurement problems but assert that these problems are less important than the loss
in value of the reports that would occur if the alternative value were used.

4.2.2 Stakeholders
The various national leasing associations have recognised the potential impact of the
G4+1 proposals and have agreed to maintain a united front as a way to influence the
standard setters and other stakeholders (National Leasing Associations, 2000). The
responses to the proposal by the various leasing associations have generally been

negative, as is shown below.

The Equipment Leasing Association of America (hereafter the ELA) commissioned a
subsidiary of KPMG to analyse the impact of the G4+1 proposal (the Barents Report
1998). This report criticised the proposal on the basis that comparability across
companies will not be assisted by the proposed changes. The Barents Report (1998)
claimed that comparability would be affected by the use of different length initial
periods, that is, the period until the first option to renew, different payment terms and
different renewal option terms.

The Barents Report (1998) thought that these issues should be enough to block the
G4+1 proposal. In an unusually frank admission, the Barents Report (1998) showed
that the sponsors of the report seem to be driven by a fear that the proposal will result
in "the general decline in the demand for leasing products and would result in
permanent losses to some segments of the leasing industry" (the Barents Report 1998,
p 4). In addition, the report predicted that lease market participants would continue to
play "an ongoing game of cat-and-mouse" (the Barents Report 1998, p13) and
aggressively look for loop-holes in any new standards. This concern is also mentioned
in the response to the G4+1 proposal made by the Institute of Actuaries (2000).

ABN AMRO (2000) responded in a similar manner to the Barents Report (1998), but
in a much more strident tone. This organisation is adamant that the G4+1 proposal
will create increased levels of arbitrariness and relies on a spurious claim that
different types of leases do not give rise to similar assets and liabilities. Therefore, in
the interest of reflecting so called 'economic reality', leases should not be treated the

same and the status quo should be maintained.

The ABN AMRO (2000) argument is spurious. It relies on the status quo to maintain
that the current accounting treatment shows the 'economic reality'. The current
accounting treatment does no such thing. It shows an accounting fiction, based on an
arbitrarily selected set of criteria, that is the lease running for more than 75 percent of
the expected life of the asset and certain payments being equivalent to 90 percent or
more of the Net Present Value of the asset. ABN AMRO (2000) argues that there are
substantial differences in the economic reality if one company leases an asset for 74
percent of its life and another company leases a similar asset for 76 percent of its life.
The difference in this reality, according to ABN AMRO (2000), justifies one
company reporting the leased asset and the other disclosing it. Such an argument is
untenable.

Dakin (2000) studied the impact of the G4+1 proposals on the top 200 Australian
listed companies as at 31 December 1999. This study found that a number of ratios
used by analysts will be affected significantly. The impact on these ratios will vary
across industries. The study also found that varying the discount rate will have
offsetting impacts within the reports. If companies increase their discount rates, they
will report lower liabilities, however, the interest expense will increase. The study
concludes that there should be more research before the G4+1 proposal is accepted.
This conclusion is interesting. It seems odd that an accounting firm would support an
accounting treatment that has no basis at all in the Conceptual Framework. Further, to
suggest that the status quo should be maintained in order to protect those companies
within certain industries that gain (an artificial) benefit in the picture that emerges

from a ratio analysis seems ludicrous.

Responses from various accounting bodies tended to agree that the existing
accounting treatment for leases needs improvement. However, they generally agreed
that the G4+1 proposal was inadequate in that it preferred not to measure assets and
liabilities after the first option to renew date (Arthur Andersen, 2000; AASB, 2000a;
The Swedish Institute of Authorised Public Accountants, 2000). This view was also
shared by the British Bankers Association (2000) and the European Commission
(2000). On the other hand, the ANZ Bank (2000) disagreed that options past the first
option to renew date should be measured as this would breach the current definition of
a liability and asset.

The Association of Investment Management and Research (AIMR) was generally
supportive of the earlier, non-specific discussion paper issued in 1997 (AIMR 1997).
However, it seems to have made no response to the second, more specific proposal
made in 2000. A review of the responses to the IASC shows that analysts and users in
general did not contribute to the debate surrounding the later proposal. This is
interesting, given that the outcome of the debate will have an impact on these
stakeholders.

4.3 Implications for the current research
The G4+1 proposal (2000) is justified through a theoretical examination of the
definitions used in SAC 4. There is clearly no justification in SAC 4 for the arbitrary
distinction that allows reporting of financial lease liabilities and disclosing of
operating lease liabilities. The current research supports the general thrust of the G4 +

1 proposal (2000). This research seeks to contribute to the debate on accounting for
leases by providing some empirical evidence regarding the ability of non-professional
investors to analyse this information. As has been shown, the G4+1 proposal (2000)
has been roundly attacked and supported by a number of interest groups, none of
which have addressed the issue from the viewpoint of non-professional investors.
Following calls by Schipper (1994) and Maines (1994) this research attempts to
provide some empirical evidence to assist the decision making process of the standard
setters.

Part 5. Summary
This literature review reveals the tension created by the gap in the rhetoric of the
accounting standard setters. The SAC 2 states that general-purpose financial reports
are prepared for those who cannot command the preparation of specific purpose
financial reports. The standard setters assume that users of general purpose financial
reports are either trained accountants (who else would "possess the proficiency
necessary to comprehend the significance of contemporary accounting practices?"
(SAC 3, paragraph 36)), or that users will have the resources to obtain expert advice.

The literature has shown repeatedly that many classes of financial advisors have been
tricked by format effects. This would raise questions regarding the extent to which
non-professional investors should rely on the ability of these analysts. In addition,
there is evidence of systemic biases in the advice given by professional advisors.

The review of the literature on leases shows clearly that no one has examined the
impact of lease formatting on non-professional investors. This thesis attempts to fill

part of that void. Finally, the recent proposals by the G4+1 (2000) have created a
large amount of lobbying by different sets of stakeholders, such as leasing
associations, accounting bodies and banks, on how lease transactions should be
presented in the financial reports. None of the responses sighted by this author have
been from organisations representing non-professional investors, eg stock exchanges
or regulatory bodies such as ASIC etc.

Given that there is at least a chance that changes will be made to this standard, it
seems important to develop an understanding of whether non-professional investors
understand the current presentation format enough to make reasonable investment
decisions. If they do understand the current format, it would be arguable that it should
not be changed. However, if they do not understand this format, it may need
modification in ways that assist the standard setters reach their stated aim of assisting
users to reach decisions.

Ensuring that the presentation of this information is useful to non-professional
investors is not a case of the tail wagging the dog. It is quite the opposite in fact. It
simply recognises the right of millions of Australian non-professional investors (ASX
2000) to understand the information that is presented to them.

Chapter 3 Model development

Introduction
This chapter will discuss the requirements of the theoretical underpinnings of the
experimental instrument. The chapter will then examine the implications for the
experiment that emerge from the theoretical model. The discussion will then describe
the experimental instrument and explain why it was chosen. As was the case in the
previous chapter, this chapter will be divided into a number of parts.

Part 1. The theoretical model

1.1 Requirements of the model
This thesis, due to the nature of the topic, requires a model that will assist in providing
an understanding of how non-professional investors behave when making investment
decisions. The selected model must be able to provide guidance on where and why
individual non-professional investors will make mistakes, specifically related to the
accounting treatment of leasing, when conducting financial statement analyses. The
model needs to identify those factors that affect the quality of the decisions reached
by non-professional investors. Finally, the model needs to assist in identifying factors
that will increase the quality of decisions made by non-professional investors in
relation to leases. These requirements of the model are aligned with Peters' (1993)
claim that accounting decision-making theories need to be "both task and processor
specific if they are to assist in improving performance. That is, they must be theories
that jointly involve the decision maker, the task and taskldecision-maker interactions"
(Peters, 1993, p386).

In addition, the model must be able to provide ex ante financial accounting policy
research. This thesis is not concerned with ex poste research, that is research which
simply shows how investors are dealing with the current accounting treatment of
operating leases. This thesis is much more concerned with developing a model which
will provide guidance as to how information on operating leases should best be
presented, that is, identify the format that best assists non-professional investors
interpret this information correctly. This research is aligned with calls made by
Maines (1994) and Raghubir and Das (1999) who argued that theory driven
experimental research is required in order to gain a deeper understanding of how
decisions are actually reached, as opposed to how decisions should be reached.
Maines (1994) further argued that such an approach is required in order to improve
the quality of financial accounting standards. The literature that best suits the
requirements of the model just described is the Judgement and Decision Making
literature. The aims of this literature are set out below.

1.2 The aims of the Judgement and Decision Making Literature
Judgement and Decision Making has a very specific focus in that it is only concerned
with the quality of decisions made by individuals or small groups and it attempts to
determine which factors affect the quality of these decisions. This theme is constantly
re-emphasised. For example, Hogarth (1991) stated that "cognitive psychologists who
specialise in judgment and decision making typically focus their work on three
questions: (1) How well do people perform particular judgmental tasks? (2) How do
people perform particular judgmental tasks? (3) How can you help people perform
better?" (Hogarth, 1991, p278).

Bonner (1999) stated that judgment and decision-making research in accounting
examines two basic issues. First, it seeks to "measure individuals' performance when
doing [sic] judgment and decision making tasks. Second, JDM research examines the
determinants of both high-and lower-quality JDM" (Bonner, 1999, p386). Bonner
argued that the ultimate goal of JDM is to "identify areas of JDM that need
improvement, understand their causes, and examine the effectiveness of remedies that
address the causes" (id).

Peters (1993) provided a similar working definition of theories of accounting decision
making and neatly identifies the purposes of such theories. Peters (1993) claimed that
'theories of accounting decision making are theories of how accountants, auditors and
users of accounting information make decisions about and with accounting
information' (Peters, 1993, p383). Peters then argued that these theories are useful if
they describe, predict and improve the quality of decisions made by accountants,
auditors and users of accounting information.

In this thesis, no distinction will be made between the Judgement and Decision
Making literature, the Behavioural Decision Making literature and the Problem
SolvingICognitive Science literature. All these literatures accept that people will make
decisions that often violate expected rational behaviour. These literatures all seek to
explain why these decisions are made and which factors affect the decision maker
(see Part 1.5 of Chapter 3). As Hogarth (1993) contended, decision making is viewed
as how people evaluate choices or make judgements, while problem solving is viewed
as the study of how people form mental representations of a given task before solving

that task. Hogarth (1993) claimed that these are simply two ways of representing the
phenomena of interest, rather than studies of different phenomena of interest per se.
Therefore, as far as this thesis is concerned, the term Judgement and Decision Malung
will refer generically to research on how people make decisions or solve problems.

1.3 Framework for Judgement and Decision Making Research in Accounting
While this suggests that the aims of the JDM literature are in accordance with the
purpose of this thesis, Bonner (1999) showed that a number of issues need to be
considered and answered by researchers before they undertake JDM based research.
The framework set out below forces researchers to address a number of specific
questions sequentially. Each point must be addressed and the research should only be
undertaken if a researcher is able to advance past each checkpoint and has good
reason to believe that the research can lead to a practical improvement in decisionmaking. Each of these questions will be addressed, in order to determine if the
research conducted for this thesis fits the judgment and decision making model.

1.3.1 Do we know if the decision-making needs to be imvroved?
Initially, researchers have to determine if JDM performance in a specific area or task
needs improvement. This can be determined by earlier research highlighting problems
in specific tasks or pilot studies relating to a new area of interest. If these studies show
that poor or suboptimal decisions are being made, the researcher then needs to
determine if there is a need for improvement. Bonner (1999) argued that there will
generally be a need to improve the quality of decisions.

Research has shown that individual professional investors have problems dealing with
the accounting treatment of operating leases. This research goes back to Abdel-khalik
(1981) and includes studies by Wilkins and Zimrner (1983) and Imhoff, Lipe and
Wright (1993). These studies found that individual decision makers were unable to
correctly evaluate information relating to operating leases. All three studies clearly
showed a need for improved decision-making. For example, Imhoff, Lipe and Wright
(1993) found that executive remuneration committees took no account of changes in
firms' resources and obligations that occurred due to changes in operating leases,
when setting executive remuneration. While it is true that these studies have examined
professional investors, rather than non-professional investors, there is no reason to
believe that non-professional investors would perform better than the professional
investors who have already been used in previous research.

1.3.2 What is the source of the deficiencv?
Having identified a need to improve the decision-making quality relating to a specific
task, Bonner (1999) then suggested that the researcher identify the causal factor or
factors responsible for the problem. The three major classes of these factors are,
person, task and environment. The 'person' factor relates to the ability, experience and
knowledge required to undertake a given task. 'Task' refers to the complexity of the
task itself. 'Environment' refers to other factors that may affect the quality of the
decision. Examples would include time limits to complete a task.

It is possible that the complexity arising from the accounting treatment of operating
leases is the source of the deficiency.

The studies previously mentioned used

professional investors and others with extensive financial experience as the

experimental subjects. For example Abdel-khalik (1981) used chief financial officers,
bank loan officers, bond financial analysts, stock financial analysts, and auditors. The
study showed that these professionals did not analyse information on operating leases
correctly. This would indicate that the person factor is unlikely to be the source of the
deficiency, simply due to the fact that a number of professionals made similar
mistakes.

Abdel-khalik's (1981) survey instrument was very simple. In addition, he explicitly
drew the attention of the subject to the fact that the only difference between the two
companies he used, related to the treatment of operating leases.

Despite this

assistance, he showed that the majority of the representatives of the different classes
of his subjects were unable to answer the task correctly. Iinhoff Lipe and Wright

(1995) examined the decisions made by those who establish salary and bonuses for
CEOs. The study relied on the actual financial reports issued by the companies that
were surveyed. No mention was made in the study of the complexity of the financial
reports. Wilkins and Zimmer (1983) used financial reports for a three-year period that
included the full notes to the accounts. The study did not discuss the complexity of
the material presented to the subjects.

In the current research it is quite possible that task complexity will be the source of
any deficiency in decision-making.

It is entirely possible that non-professional

investors are unable to acquire, evaluate or appropriately weigh information relating
to operating leases due to the current accounting treatment. Under current practice,
operating leases are disclosed in the notes to the accounts. The note on operating
leases is not required to be linked to the liability or asset section of the Statement of

Financial Position. In addition, many Australian companies place information relating
to capital commitments in the note that deals with operating leases. Finally,
companies place their note on operating leases at some distance from other notes
relating to liabilities reported on the Statement of Financial Position, after the notes
explaining changes in owners' equity.

There is no reason to believe that environmental factors, especially time constraints,
are the source of the deficiency. Abdel-khalik (1981) and Wilkins and Zimmer
(1983) used experimental techniques and seem to have designed them so that the
subjects were not under time constraints. It is impossible to say what time constraints
the executive remuneration committee to under when they set the salary and bonuses
for the executives that were examined by Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1995).

1.3.3 How is the deficiency corrected?
The researcher next needs to determine how to correct the deficiency in the quality of
decisions made. This involves a study of whether to change the person, that is get
someone more suited to the task, change the task itself or change the environment.
Obviously, different research topics will require different solutions, depending on the
nature of each given problem.

The deficiency identified in the earlier studies seems to be best treated by modifying
the complexity of the task. Prior researchers such as Abdel-khalik (1981), Wilkins
and Zirnmer (1983) and Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1995) have shown that experts, or
at least people with high levels of accounting/finance knowledge have been confused
by the accounting treatment of leases. Therefore there is no reason to believe that the

deficiency can be fixed by using more qualified people. None of these researchers
reported that the problem was due to time pressure on experimental subjects.

Specific proposals to modify the task complexity will be discussed more fully below.
At this point, is it is suggested that complexity can be substantially reduced by
making more explicit the link between the Statement of Financial Position and
information relating to operating leases. The complexity can also be reduced by
reporting the aggregate value for operating leases in the liabilities and asset sections
of the Statement of Financial Position. The advantages and disadvantages of these
suggestions are discussed below.

1.3.4 Can this t m e of remedy occur in vractice?

It is important to realise that the suggested remedy has to be capable of being
implemented in practice. For example, if it is unlikely that a problem such as audit
quality can be fixed in the real world by changing the environment, then the problem
should not be studied, as it will not lead to a useful solution. However, if the
researcher is able to present a solution that is able to be used in the real world, then
the problem should be studied, as it will lead to an increase in the quality of the
decisions being made in relation to a specific problem.

There is no reason to believe that strengthening the link between the Statement of
Financial Position and the information on operating leases could not occur in practice.
Such a link would not be in breach of the conceptual framework. It would not impose
high costs on preparers.

1.4 Surnrnarv
As stated above, research in JDM should only proceed if all of these questions can be
dealt with in a way that leads to a practical improvement in decision-making by the
class of relevant decision makers. This thesis is able to address in full each of the
questions proposed by Bonner (1999). Therefore this research easily fits into the
judgment and decision-making framework and so will use this framework in
developing hypotheses that can be tested, hopefully leading to results that can be
utilised in the preparation of general-purpose financial accounting reports.

Having established that this research topic fits within the judgment and decisionmaking framework, it is time to examine some of the tensions within the judgment
and decision making literature.

This discussion will also justify the use of

psychological considerations in the design of the research instrument.

1.5 Tensions within and limitations of the JDM literature
The JDM literature reflects the mixture of its diverse intellectual roots. Libby and Luft
(1993), Hogarth (1993) and others have stated that Behavioural Decision Research, or
JDM, developed from economics, statistics and cognitive psychology. This mixture
makes it well suited to facilitate understanding of decision making in accounting
(Libby and Luft, 1993). However, the mixed parentage of JDM has created
"unresolved dialectic tensions between the normative and descriptive outlooks"
(Keren, 1996, p169). The normative outlook that Keren (1996) referred to is the neoclassical economic Expected Utility Theory. The descriptive outlook refers to studies
conducted from a 'psychological' perspective, rather than an economic perspective.
Authors within the JDM literature such as Simon (1986), Tversky and Kahneman

(1986), and Einhorn and Hogarth (1986) argued strongly that utility theory is unable
to explain or predict a range of stable, yet irrational behaviours that have been
observed repeatedly over a number of decades. Indeed, Tversky and Kahneman
(1986) argued that the assumptions underlying Utility Theory are unable to provide an
adequate description of decision-making behaviour. Therefore, these authors argue
that research into decision-making should not be conducted within the Expected
Utility framework. Rather, it should be conducted from a psychological perspective.
However, it seems to be quite difficult to untangle the economic and psychological
roots from work in this literature, see Keren (1996) for a discussion of this issue.

The JDM literature has identified a vast number of factors that affect the quality of
decisions made by people in a wide range of tasks. See Mellers, Schwartz and Cooke
(1998) for a recent overview of the general (psychological) literature. Libby and Luft
(1993) and McEwan and Welsh (2000) provide good overviews of the decisionmaking literature relating to accounting research. However, it should not be thought
that the number and variety of factors affecting decision-making would block
systematic research or the development of descriptive models of decision-making
behaviour. Hogarth (1993) argued that JDM opened the gates to a wider
understanding of how decisions are made. Hogarth claimed this literature has shown
that it is possible to develop standards to judge the quality of decisions, it is feasible
to study decision-making processes systematically and it is possible to build
descriptive models of decision-making behaviour.

Unfortunately, while it is true that these fields are open to researchers, there has been
some concern about the results emerging from these studies. The JDM literature has

been accused of only producing a "disjoint set of research findings with little progress
in developing theories of applied accounting decision making" (Peters, 1993, p386).
Hogarth (1993) made a similar point when he noted that a lot of research in JDM is
specific to a given issue and can't explain behaviour in another area. Peters' (1993)
comments are not to be taken as implying he believes that JDM will lead to a single
unifying decision making in accounting theory in the near future. He stated that
"accounting research will be needed to generate a variety of theories, each based on
an accounting task" (Peters, 1993, p 386). Peters suggested that these theories will
become more generalizable only after accounting researchers have a much better
understanding of task content and structure.

Therefore, while JDM assists in understanding the specific impact of certain factors in
certain situations, it has not yet reached the stage where it can offer broad based
theories on accounting decision making.

Part 2. Factors identified in the JDM literature that will impact on the
experiment

2.1 Introduction
Before any hypotheses can be developed relating to the ability of non-professional
investors to incorporate information relating to operating leases into financial
statement analyses, a number of key variables relating to the basic elements of JDM
need to be defined and implications for this thesis identified. Bonner (1990) and
Peters (1983) identified these variables as being the task, the decision maker and the
taskldecision maker interaction. A basic understanding of these variables is also
essential in order to ensure the test instrument is well designed.

2.2 The task
It is expected that the complexity of the task of analysing the survey instrument will
be a critical factor in the performance of the subjects. An understanding of the causes
of complexity and ways of measuring it will be crucial when designing the
instrument. This will ensure that hypotheses developed can be tested using the
instrument. An overly complex survey instrument will not shed any light on the
research topic, either will an overly simple instrument.

2.2.1 Task complexitv
Task complexity has been defined in a number of ways and from a number of
perspectives, see Campbell (1988) for a review of characteristics used to describe task
complexity in the literature over a thirty-year period. Campbell (1988) claimed that

definitions of task complexity can be categorised into three major areas. These areas
are psychological considerations, objective characteristics of the task itself, and the
interaction between the decision maker and the task.

2.2.2 Need for obiective definitions
Campbell (1988) and Wood (1986) argued that there is a need to define task
complexity in objective, rather than in subjective terms. Subjective definitions of task
complexity incorporate the feelings of the decision maker to the task and interactions
of the decision maker to the task. Wood (1986) argued that empirical research and
theoretical definitions of task complexity that incorporate these non-task elements in
the definition of task complexity reduce the construct validity of the resultant
definition of task complexity. Such definitions have

failed to provide definitions of task characteristics with sufficient construct validity to
either reliably describe how tasks differ from one another or validly predict the
effects that are due to variances in tasks (Wood, 1986, p61).

In the same vein, Campbell (1988) argued that complexity should be defined
objectively as this will allow task complexity to be defined independently of any
particular person undertaking the task.

2.2.3 Obiective framework and definition of the construct
Wood (1986) attempted to develop a model that would define and measure task
complexity for all tasks. He argued that there are three major components of task
complexity. These are, component complexity, coordinative complexity and dynamic

complexity. Briefly, component complexity refers to the number of distinct (nonrepeated) acts that need to be undertaken and the number of information queues that
must be processed in order to complete a given task. Coordinative complexity refers
to the "form and strength of the relationships between information queues, acts and
products, as well as the sequencing of inputs" (Wood, 1986, p68).

Dynamic

complexity "is due to changes in the states of the world which have an effect on the
relationships between task inputs and products" (Wood, 1986, p71). Wood (1986)
also provided some guidance on creating indexes for measuring each of these
components of complexity. However, these indexes are prospective, they have no
strong theoretical basis and there are significant measurement problems. For example,
it is not clear how to weight the acts required to complete a given task. If all acts are
given an equal value, there may be a problem if various acts require different amounts
of information processing. If the tasks are not given an equal weighting, issues of
subjectivity of the weighting will arise. This very subjectivity will cause problems for
a definition that is supposed to be objective.

Therefore, while it is impractical to use this model to produce a single number that
represents total task complexity (the aim of the model), the model does provide some
guidance on how to define different tasks in terms of task complexity. For example
the component complexity of different analytical tasks can be measured by the
number of acts required. For a financial statement analysis, the number of act
required could be related to the number of pieces of information that need to be
processed. For example, while both large and small manufacturing companies will
have similar looking financial reports, a larger company would be expected have
more words in the notes to the accounts, than a smaller company would.

Coordinative complexity in financial statement analysis can be measured by the
number of notes to the financial reports that are not mentioned specifically in the
Statement of Financial Performance, the Statement of Financial Position and the
Statement of Cash Flows.

Campbell (1988) drew on the information processing literature to provide a
framework to integrate the different concepts of task complexity. His framework
identified four major sources of task complexity. These are; the presence of multiple
paths to a desired end-state, the presence of multiple desired end-states, the presence
of conflicting interdependence among paths, and the presence of uncertainty or
probabilistic linkages. There is no need to discuss the first two sources of complexity,
as their impact on task complexity is quite predictable. Conflicting interdependence
among paths contributes to task complexity if there is a negative relationship among
desired outcomes. The most obvious example of this occurs when tasks require
people to be both accurate and fast. Increasing the speed at which the task is
performed can reduce the accuracy of the task performance.

Uncertain or

probabilistic linkages contribute to task complexity if "the connection between
potential path activities and desired outcomes cannot be established with certainty"
(Campbell, 1988, p45).

Various combinations of these factors are held to create complexity in different types
of tasks. This thesis is only concerned with one of these types of task, that is
judgement tasks and so this is the only one that will be examined here. Judgment tasks
require the

task-doer to first consider and integrate diverse sources of information, and second to
make a judgment or prediction about the likelihood of some future event.... Thus,
accurate judgment or prediction requires the task-doer to (a) determine which pieces
of information to pay attention to, (b) weight these pieces appropriately, and (C.)
combine the weighted information to arrive at an overall judgment (Campbell,

1988, p47).

The requirements of this task description are very closely aligned to the requirements
of a financial statement analysis. Campbell (1988) suggested that judgement tasks are
complex due to the conflicting interdependence and probabilistic nature of the
information associated with the task. Campbell (1988) argued that there is only one
desired outcome, therefore multiplicity of desired outcomes is irrelevant. He also
suggested that multiplicity of paths is also irrelevant to judgment tasks, because the
existence of multiple paths will reduce task complexity, if all these paths can be used
to achieve the desired outcome. However, as Campbell (1988) stated, the presence of
multiple paths will increase task complexity if only one path actually leads to the
desired outcome, while the other paths confuse the task-doer by appearing to lead to
the desired outcome.

There are many paths that can be taken by users when analysing financial statements.
For example, they may choose to only consider the information reported in the
Statement of Financial Performance and the Statement of Financial Position, or only
consider the Statement of Financial Performance, or consider both reports plus the
Statement of Cash Flows, or consider all reports and the notes to the accounts. Not all
these paths lead to the desired outcome, that is an understanding of the financial
position of the company. For example, McEwan and Hunton (1999) conducted an

experiment on professional analysts and found that the more accurate analysts tended
to emphasise different information items, compared to less accurate analysts. They
concluded that more accurate analysts could be differentiated from less accurate
analysts due to the different search strategies employed, and the different pieces of
information that were selected by the two groups. This would indicate that there are
multiple paths, not all of which lead to the desired outcome. Anderson (1988) and
Simnett (1996) and others found that differences in the information search strategies
of auditors and investors were very significant in explaining differences in
performance. The implication of this discussion is that financial statement analysis
could be argued to have three sources of task complexity, rather than the two sources
suggested by Campbell (1988).

2.2.4 Inadequacies of the framework and construct definition

Unfortunately, simply knowing that financial statement analysis contains a number of
sources of task complexity does not tell us how complex financial statement analysis
is as a task, or how complex a given financial statement analysis is. This is because
there is still no way to determine or measure the relative or absolute contribution of
complexity that each source of complexity brings to the task. Wood (1986) and
Campbell (1988) both encountered this problem in their attempts to define task
complexity. Neither of them was able to provide a model which could quantify the
amount of complexity that each source of complexity brings to the task.

2.2.5 Reliance on subjective measures of task complexity
Objective definitions of task complexity, despite their theoretical supremacy over
subjective definitions of task complexity, are unable to provide a usable model to

quantify task complexity in any more than general or relative terms. Therefore it may
be more realistic to discuss task complexity in terms of other tasks, that is task A is
more or less complex than task B due to the presence of certain sources of
complexity. This approach to experiments dealing with various aspects of task
complexity seems to be widely adopted in the psychological literature, see for
example Seijts and Latham (2001), Latham and Seijts (1999), Jimmeson and Terry
(1999), and Huber (1985).

This approach also has to incorporate the subjective impressions of a sample
population of the task-doers in order to locate the complexity of a given task on the
continuum of task complexity. This is critical as Bonner (1994) and Chang, Ho, and
Liao (1997) have shown that the quality of decision-making can be increased as task
complexity increases up to a threshold level. However, once the task complexity has
surpassed the threshold, the quality of decision-making will not be increased, no
matter how motivated the decision maker is.

2.3 The decision maker and the interaction of the decision maker with the task

In order to design a usable test instrument for this type of research, the researcher
needs to understand how decision makers think and reach decisions. This literature is
voluminous. Therefore this discussion can only provide an overview of the general
trends in understanding of the various paradigms of decision-making. This discussion
will also discuss the literature on how novices, both untrained and lightly trained,
make decisions, compared to experts. An understanding of how novices reach
decisions will allow predictions to be made as to where a novice decision maker is
likely to make mistakes in the experiment. It will also facilitate design of alternative

presentation formats of the test instrument to see if the performance of novices, that is
non-professional investors, can be improved in relation to financial statement
analysis.

2.3.1 Decision makers-rational or even cognitive?
The Judgement and Decision Making literature contains a range of views on the
behaviour of decision makers. This is due to the different origins of JDM. Originally,
it was accepted that the neoclassical model of rational man was sufficient to explain
decision-making behaviour.

However, a number of studies in the psychological

literature question the ability of the rational person model to explain observed, stable
yet 'irrational' behaviour in people. For example, Kahneman and Tversky (1979)
found that people react differently to the same information, depending on how it is
presented. In addition, Shafir and Tversky (1992) have shown that people use nonconsequential reasoning when dealing with uncertainty. Other examples of irrational
decision making is found in the literature on the sunk cost fallacy and the escalation
of commitment. A number of authors, such as Greer and Stephens (2001), Arkes and
Ayton (1999), Arkes and Blumer (1985), and Thaler (1980) have shown that many
decision makers incorporate irrelevant information such as sunk costs in a range of
decisions. These decisions often appear to be more driven by emotions, than by 'cold'
cognitive processes.

This thesis acknowledges the existence of the literature claiming that decision makers
are often irrational and incorporate non-cognitive factors when reaching decisions
Keren (1996). It is possible that results of individual subjects will be affected by the
emotions that the particular subject is experiencing at the time of the survey.

However, there is no reason to believe that the emotions of the subjects as a whole
will be vastly different to those of non-professional investors when they examine a
company's financial reports. This research assumes that any sense of intimidation or
confusion engendered by analysing these reports is similar for non-professional
investors and for the subjects. This assumption would need to be tested, but is outside
the scope of this study. To the best of this author's knowledge, there is no published
research on this issue.

2.3.2 The role of confidence in decision-making
The impact of confidence on the decision making process is crucial. As Bloomfield,
Libby and Nelson (1999) have shown, confidence directs actions. In other words,
decision makers are unlikely to undertake a given action if they don't feel confident in
their choice of option. The literature on confidence and decision-making is extensive
(see Harvey, 1997 for a review) and has shown over a number of years, in a range of
fields that people tend to be overconfident in their judgement when confronted with
hard tasks and are under-confident in their judgement when confronted with easy
tasks (Pallier, G., Wilkinson. R., Danthiir, V., Kleitman, S., Knezevic, G., Lazar
Stankov, L., Roberts, R.D., 2002). This literature has also shown that overconfidence
varies to some extent, but is present in a number of cultures (Yates, J. F., Lee, J.W.,
Shinotsuka, H., 1996).

In this literature, people are said to be overconfident if they believe they performed
better in a task than their actual performance level. This usually happens with difficult
tasks. On the other hand, people are unconfident if they believe they performed more
poorly in a task than their actual performance level. This usually happens with easy

tasks. In this literature a person is said to be well calibrated if he or she actually does
as well as he or she believes they did. Therefore, a person who scores 3 out of 10 in a
test and estimates that they scored 3 out of 10 in that test, is a well calibrated person,
even if not very good at that particular task.

There have been a number of suggested reasons for this phenomenon such as;
psychological predispositions to under or overconfidence (Soll, 1996), biases,
response criteria, selection of inappropriate questions, and errors in judgement
processes (Suantak, Bolger and Ferrell, 1996), errors in weighting different aspects of
evidence combined with experience effects (Griffin and Tversky, 1992), and cultural
factors (Yates, Lee, and Shinotsuka, 1996). Due to the topic of this thesis, the causes
of overconfidence do not need to be discussed in detail.

However, the potential impact on poorly calibrated, overconfident people can be
severely detrimental (Griffin and Tversky, 1992). This is especially true in financial
statement analysis when people may invest money on the basis of their own
miscalibrated ability to analyse complex material, or on the basis of a
recommendation from a miscalibrated professional advisor. Some evidence of the
over-confidence of non-professional investors is seen in their trading patterns. Barber
and Odean (2000) have shown that these investors are overconfident in their ability to
'pick winners'. This overconfidence leads many non-professional investors to trade
frequently. Barber and Odean (2000) showed that this overconfidence in the ability of
non-professional investors to pick winners results in them earning risk adjusted rates
of return up to 10 percent lower than they would have had, if they adopted a more
passive strategy.

The calibration literature has implications for unsophisticated investors trying to
analyse information relating to operating leases, and for financial statement analysis
in general. Investors who think they understand the information in financial reports
are more likely to be overconfident, due to the complexity of the task of financial
statement analysis. Given this overconfidence, they are more likely to make poorer
investment decisions than they thought they were making.

Simnett (1996) found evidence of this behaviour in an experiment conducted on
auditors. Half of the subjects in Simnett's (1996) study were allowed to select their
own inputs to determine if a number of companies were likely to meet the going
concern test. The other half was told which inputs to use when carrying out the same
analysis. It was found that those who selected their own inputs were significantly
more overconfident than those who used the inputs given to them. This
overconfidence may be simply due to the subjects having an input into the process of
selecting inputs (Simnett, 1996). Alternatively, overconfidence may have been due to
the failure of those auditors to select the 'correct' pieces of information to allow them
to make predictions as accurately as they thought they were making (Simnett, 1996).
That is, the quality of information selection could be a significant causal factor of
miscalibration and the quality of decision making in general. This leads us to examine
the significance of information selection compared with information processing by
decision makers.

2.3.3 Information processing or information selection as a limiting factor in
decision making
Simon (1957) demonstrated that the traditional model of rational man was ineffective
in describing much of human behaviour. Simon highlighted the inability of decision
makers to obtain all the information they require in order to make a particular decision
and also their inability to evaluate and make predictions based on this information.
These limitations are two factors that lead to bounded rationality. These two factors,
often called cue selection and cue weighting, are particularly relevant to financial
statement analysis and have been examined extensively in the JDM literature.

There have been a number of studies which have ranked the significance of cue
selection and cue weighting as limiting factors in decision making in accounting. A
number of studies starting with Abdel-khalik and El-Sheshai (1980) concluded that
cue selection is more significant than cue weighting as a limiting factor in decisionmaking. In other words, if subjects are able to select the correct cues, they have a high
probability of being able to weight the cues appropriately and reach the correct
conclusion.

Abdel-khalik and El Sheshai (1980) and Lewis, Patton and Green (1988) examined
this issue in relation to the performance of human decision making versus the
decision-making performance of expert systems. The expert systems used inputs that
were found to have the greatest predictive power for a specific task (evaluation of
financial instruments). Both papers found that cue selection was significantly
responsible for the lower performance level of human decision makers. However,
both papers also found that the models used to compare human performance were

very specific and the performance of these models dropped significantly when they
were used to evaluate different data sets relating to the same task.

Lewis, Patten, and Green (1988) divided their subjects into two pools. One pool of
subjects could select their own cues. The other had to rely on cues selected by the
expert model. They found that the subjects who could select their own cues were
much more likely to weigh them appropriately. However, those who relied on the
cues selected by the model were less accurate than the subjects who selected their
cues. This could imply that the subjects were unable to weight the better cue set, that
is the set selected by the expert model appropriately. Alternatively, it could imply that
the subjects deliberately ignored the cues, as these cues would generally have no
value in the problem presented to the subjects. This alternative explanation has some
merit given the fact that the performance of the model dropped from 60 percent in the
original case to 41 percent when tested against a different data set. Contrary to the
dramatic drop in performance of the expert model, the performance of the subjects
who were able to select their cues only changed from 45 percent to 41 percent when
their cues were tested against another data set.

Lewis, Patten, and Green (1988) concluded that comparing subjects to models may
not be very useful if the model is too specific and is only able to produce superior
results in a very specific area of interest. While this is true, their results also show
some support for the significance of cue selection for decision makers.

Another group of studies have examined the impact of cue selection versus cue
weighting from the perspective of human experts compared with non-experts. Bonner

(1990) referred to a study by Shantou (1984), which suggested that inexperienced
subjects were able to evaluate cues as well as experts, if they were given the cues. A
similar conclusion was reached by Sirnnett (1996) in a study of auditors. Specifically,
Simnett (1996) found that "there were no significant differences between the
processing (of information cues) by experienced and less experienced groups"
(Simnett 1996, p714). Simnett (1996) found that information selection was the single
most significant factor that discriminated between the performance of experienced
and less experienced auditors, irrespective of the complexity of the tasks faced by
them. Simnett and Trotman (1989) found that cue selection was only a limiting factor
when subjects chose their own inputs. If the inputs were chosen for them, cue
weighting became the limiting factor (Simnett and Trotman, 1989). As investors in
the real world are likely to choose their own inputs when conducting financial
statement analyses, rather than being able to rely on inputs given by a researcher, it is
unlikely that cue weighting will be a limiting factor compared with cue selection.

However, Libby (1981) concluded that a literature review showed clearly that poor
decisions are consistently related to poor cue weighting by decision makers. Bonner
(1990) also found that superior cue weighting, rather than cue selection, was
responsible for higher performance by experienced auditors. Bedard and Biggs (1991)
found that the vast majority (85 percent) of their subjects were able to identify certain
relevant cues, however only 29% were able to weigh the cues appropriately. In this
case, cue weighting was the limiting factor in decision-making.

2.3.4 Summarv
This literature has not clearly shown whether cue selection or cue weighting is the
critical step in decision-making. This means that both steps will need to be examined
in this thesis in order to see where the decision making process may break down in
relation to operating leases.

2.4 Differences in making decisions - Experts v non-experts
This thesis requires an understanding of the way non-professional investors reach
decisions. The majority of behavioural accounting research has been conducted on
experts and practitioners such as auditors and professional investors. This research
cannot be relied on in this thesis if it is shown that experts have predictably different
behaviours when undertaking decisions. Research on decision-making behaviour of
sophisticated and non-sophisticated users of financial information has been
undertaken for at least 30 years, see Hofstedt and Kinard (1970). This literature has
shown consistent differences in the way sophisticated users acquire and then process
accounting information, compared to non-sophisticated users. A summary of these
differences, is shown below.

FIGURE 3.1
Differences in decision-making processes between novices and experts

Information Accluisition Behaviour
Expert - Relies on hypotheses, rules of thumb, structured checklists, or standard lists
of questions to guide information search
Novice - Relies on a simple, passive undirected, sequential information search

Expert - Builds an overall picture, or develops a "feeling" for the task based on prior
knowledge.
Novice - Lacking among novices.

Expert - Searches for contradictory evidence and consistently focuses on potential
contradictions.
Novice - Ignores contradictory evidence

Information Integration Behaviour
Expert - Integrates both supporting and contradicting evidence to zero in on
underlying problems.
Novice - Integrates supporting evidence only and ignores contradictory evidence

Expert - Organises the wide-ranging incoming information into large chunks of
information.
Novice - Unable to handle the wide-ranging incoming information, thus forced to
organise into small chunks.

Expert - Responds to the deeper features of information as a result of well-developed
schemas.
Novice - Responds to the surface features of information as a result of less welldeveloped schemas.

Expert - Recalls more information (cues).
Novice - Recalls less information (cues).

Expert - Clusters the wide-ranging incoming information into proper categories.
Novice - Lacking among novices.

Expert - Engages in less information processing time.
Novice - Engages in more information processing time.
(Source; Choo 1989, page 115)

While this thesis is not concerned with the differences in decision-making techniques
of experts and novices per se, it is concerned with how novices or non-experts reach
decisions based on accounting information. This table shows clearly that non-experts
utilise a number of flawed techniques when analysing financial information. The
major points of concern for this thesis arising from the table above relate to the
tendency of unsophisticated users to use sequential search strategies, their tendency to
ignore contradictory information, both as part of their search strategy and as part of
their information integration process and their impaired ability to cluster and classify
different types of information into proper categories.

2.4.1 The impact of confirmation bias
Choo (1989) referred to a study conducted by Bouwman (1984) who found that
experts actively sought out contradictory evidence in order to form an overall picture
of the subject being analysed. However, unsophisticated users did not link pieces of
information, if they did not perceive these pieces as explaining each other. In other
words, if a piece of information did not appear to support previously identified
information that had already been incorporated into a decision-maker's process, the
second piece of information was ignored or discounted. This behaviour is known as
confirmation bias. Similar findings are also reported in the general psychological
literature, see Russo, Medvec, and Meloy (1996) and Jones and Sugden (2001).

Confirmation bias has generally been found to affect the behaviour of decision makers
who have already reached a decision (Elliot and Devine 1994). However, Russo,
Medvec, and Meloy (1996) reported that confirmation bias forms and influences
interpretation of information while people are still in the process of reaching a
decision.

This is significant in the current research due to its impact on the behaviour of
unsophisticated investors and their ability to interpret information relating to
operating leases. If, as can be expected, unsophisticated users read the reported
numbers before the notes, as part of their systematic search strategy, they will start to
form an opinion of a company on the basis of these numbers. Subsequent information
obtained from the notes will tend to be analysed according to whether or not it
confirms the opinion that is in the process of being formed on the basis of the reported

numbers. If the disclosed information (in the notes) is not seen as confirming the
reported information, it is likely to be ignored, leading to a failure to reach a
materially different decision (that is the subjects would have changed their decision,
or will state they would have used that information when making their decision, if
they had understood it.)

Rabin and Schrag, (1999), Jones and Sugden (2001), and Dave and Wolfe (2002)
reported that confirmation bias can obviously lead to poor quality decision-making,
but more significantly, can be difficult to overcome, as it is internally coherent and
self-reinforcing, despite the opportunity to learn from previous mistakes. This implies
that confirmation bias is a stable and predictable phenomenon that impacts the
decision-making ability of both experienced and inexperienced subjects.

Levin, Ims, Simpson, and Kim (1977) introduced another aspect of the way decision
makers deal with contradictory information. Levin, Ims, Simpson, and Kim (1977)
examined how people reacted to information that had sufficient inconsistencies in it to
force decision makers to question the reliability of the information. The
inconsistencies represented 'deviant' information. They found that decision makers
treated the information differently, depending if they were making an evaluation of
past performance, or making a prediction of future performance. Levin, Ims, Simpson,
and Kim (1977) found that the deviant information was significantly discounted when
people were using the information set it was contained in to make a prediction. On the
other hand, decision makers who made evaluations of performance tended to give the
deviant information slightly too much significance.

2.4.1.1 Implications of Levin. Ims, Simpson, and Kim (1977) for this thesis
Investors are taken to use the financial reports to both evaluate and predict a
company's performance. If unsophisticated shareholders rely on the reports to predict
the performance of the company, it is likely that contradictory information in the
notes is likely to be discounted. However, if investors are more concerned with
evaluating the performance of the company, the contradictory information may be
overweighted. It is not clear which activity, that is evaluation or prediction is
dominant in any given financial statement analysis. It is possible to tell the subjects in
the experiment conducted for this thesis to only focus on one of these activities.

However, this is likely to reduce the external validity of the experiment. At this point,
no hypothesis can be drawn on how the dual activities of evaluating and predicting a
company's performance will affect the weighting of information relating to leases. It
is expected that confirmation bias will tend to cause unsophisticated users to ignore
disclosed information that contradicts reported information as the survey instrument is
not designed to force subjects to question the reliability of the information. In other
words, the subjects will not be given enough deviant information to cause them to
doubt the reliability of the information they are given.

Part 3. Experimental Instrument

3.1 Techniaues used in previous experimental research on non-professional investors.
The published research relating to the ability of non-professional investors to conduct
financial statement analysis is quite limited. Researchers in this area have tended to
use different types of protocol analysis. For example, Bouwman (1982) and Anderson
(1988) used verbal protocols to examine the way experts and non-professional
investors examined material when conducting financial statement analyses. This
technique requires the subjects to verbalise as they examine the relevant documents.
These verbalizations are then processed in order to gain insights into how that
particular group of subjects reached their decisions.

Maines and McDaniel (2000) also examined the ability of non-professional investors
to analyse financial statements. However, these researchers did not use a protocol
analysis technique. Rather, they used questionnaires to address their experimental
questions.

3.2 Choice of research technique

This thesis will follow the work of Maines and McDaniel (2000) and use
questionnaires rather than protocol analysis to examine the impact of format effects
on the quality of decisions reached by non-professional investors when dealing with
operating leases. There are a number of reasons for this.

The primary reason relates to the fact that this researcher has no training at all in
protocol analysis. Other reasons include the fact that verbalising thoughts might be
enough to distort the process being studied (Lichtenstein, 1982). In addition, while it
is accepted that there are limitations on the ability to draw generalized conclusions
from questionnaires, this problem is compounded when protocol analysis is
undertaken. For example, Anderson's (1988) study reported results for seven subjects
in total. Bouwman's (1982) study reported results for three experts and fifteen nonexperts. These very small sample sizes are a result of the high demands protocol
analysis places on researchers.

3.3 Description of the formats used in the exveriment.

3.3.1 Why the four formats were developed
The formats used in this thesis have been selected for a number of reasons. The first
format represents the status quo. The second format represents a proposal developed
by the G4+l. The third format represents a compromise model, developed from the
literature relating to the way non-experts, in accounting and elsewhere, make
decisions. It represents a compromise because it does not report the aggregate amount
of lease liabilities or lease assets. Many of the proponents of maintaining the status
quo have argued that operating lease information should not be reported on the
Statement of Financial Position. However, it provides a much stronger link, than
currently exists, between the note containing this information and the asset and
liability sections of the Statement of Financial Position. The fourth format reports the
undiscounted payments relating to the lease asset and liability. This format was

included due to the lack of a generally accepted capitalization technique for operating
leases.

Lease capitalization models developed by Imhoff, Lipe and Wright (1991) and
Beattie, Goodacre and Thompson (2000) do not appear to be widely accepted and are
subject to a range of assumptions. The fourth format is not subject to these
assumptions but can fairly be criticised due to the fact that it reports the undiscounted
rather than the discounted cash flows arising from the lease contracts. The main
justification for the full linked notes format is that it closely represents the disclosures
in the notes to the financial reports that are made under the current accounting
treatment. However, in this format operating lease information is reported, rather than
disclosed in the notes.

3.3.2 The first format (current treatment)
The first format represents the existing accounting treatment for operating leases. As
was stated above, this represents the status quo. The version of this format that will be
used in the survey instrument will have the following characteristics in order to
maintain external validity. There will be no link between the note for operating leases
in the notes to the financial reports and the asset section or the liability section of the
Statement of Financial Position. The note relating to operating leases will be placed
after the notes relating to Owners' Equity. The note will show the breakdown of
operating lease payments that are due within one year, between two to five years, and
after five years. There will be no reference to the operating leases in the notes to the
financial reports that relate to assets. This format will be called the current treatment
format.

3.3.3 The second format (capitalised leases)
The second format to be used will capitalise the lease payments and report the
operating lease liabilities and assets in the Statement of Financial Position. The
reported figures will be linked to the notes. The notes will break down the aggregate
payments and rights to use the assets into periods of less than one year, 2-5 years,
more than 5 years. The notes will be placed in both the asset and liability sections of
the notes.

This format has been included due to the work of the G4+1. This group has argued
strongly that operating leases should be capitalised and brought onto the Statement of
Financial Position. Given the fact that this proposal may find acceptance among a
number of the standard setting bodies, there is a need to examine the impact this
proposal will have on the ability of non-professional investors to evaluate the
information relating to operating leases. This format will be called the capitalised
leases format.

3.3.4.The third format (blank linked note)
The third format will show a labelled, numbered link in the asset and liability sections
of the Statement of Financial Position, going to the notes to the financial reports. The
link will be labelled as leased assets or leased liabilities in the relevant sections of the
Statement of Financial Position. This format will not report a dollar amount beside
the titles, instead, there will be a star (*). The user can follow the numbered note to
the relevant section of the notes to the financial reports and find identical information,

as it relates to operating leases, in the notes section, as he or she would find in the
current treatment format.

This format is included due to the arguments that have been presented by the
opponents of the G4+1 proposal (see above). Basically these respondents argued that
operating leases did not represent a liability and therefore should not be reported on
the Statement of Financial Position. This format represents a compromise as it keeps
the dollar amounts relating to the leased assets and leased liability off the Statement of
Financial Position, but creates a stronger link, than currently exists, between the
disclosures relating to operating lease information and the Statement of Financial
Position.

This format is similar to one used by a number of American companies, such as Duke
Energy and Delta Air Lines. These companies place a series of numbered notes, one
of which relates to operating leases, in a separate ruled off part at the bottom of the
reported liabilities. These numbered notes do not show a dollar amount and there are
no notes for the corresponding assets.

3.3.5 The fourth format (full linked note)

The fourth format will report the aggregate of the undiscounted lease payments in
both the asset and liability sections of the Statement of Financial Position. The notes
will show the breakdown of lease payments due in the same way as is currently
disclosed. In the survey the figures reported and disclosed for the asset and liability
will be the same. These figures will not usually be the same if the leased assets are
amortised on a straight line basis, and the lease liability is amortised on the interest

method of amortisation (Imhoff, Lipe and Wright, 1991). It must be noted however
that this mismatch in reported lease assets and lease liabilities will only arise if
managers deliberately chose different amortisation techniques for the leased asset and
the lease liability.

3.4 Description of Maines and McDaniel's (2000) study.
Maines and McDaniel (2000) examined the impact that format effects relating to
unrealised gains in losses (UGL) had on the quality of decisions made by nonprofessional investors when conducting financial statement analyses. Maines and
McDaniel's (2000) study developed a model based on earlier work by Hogarth (1987).
This model is shown below.

FIGURE 3.2
Maines and McDaniel's model
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This model fits within the framework suggested by Bonner (1999) as it offers the
ability to identify specifically where a problem may arise for non-professional
investors attempting to understand the accounting treatment of operating leases.
Identification of the specific problem allows researchers to develop practical solutions
to the problem. This is important as Bonner's (1999) model requires researchers to

provide practical solutions to increase the quality of decision-making by relevant
decision makers.

Basically, the model shows that different formats will react with a variety of
mediating factors in a way that will affect the ability of investors to acquire, evaluate
and then weigh information in order to reach a decision regarding the state of the
company or the effectiveness of management during the year.

The mediating factors identified by Maines and McDaniel (2000) are split into two
categories, format dimension, and cognitive costs. The first category, format
dimension, is composed of; placement of the information in the financial statement,
labelling of the information, and linkage of the information to net income. The second
category is composed of items that will impose cognitive costs on the subjects when
making decisions. These items are, isolation of the information from other
information that relates to it, and the degree of aggregation of a given number.

Maines and McDaniel (2000) argued that these mediating factors have predictable
impacts on the quality of decisions made by subjects. For example, Maines and
McDaniel (2000) predicted that a given format which uses no labelling to highlight a
given number, and simply presents a single aggregate number that requires analysis to
break it down to its components, will be more likely to result in lower quality
decisions being made by non-professional investors, than would be the case with a
different format which uses labelling and presents disaggregated data.

It must be recognised that these mediating factors need to be studted individually and
also in combination due to the fact that these mediating variables will interact with
each other.

An obvious example of this interaction concerns the labelling of

information variable, the linkage to information variable and the isolation of
information variable. Maines and McDaniel (2000) showed that information which is
clearly linked is easily recognised as relating to other information and therefore used
appropriately in decision-making. These researchers also showed that isolation of
information improves decision-making if information is not placed near irrelevant
information. This implies that each piece of information should be placed by itself in
order to prevent users from being confused by other information in close proximity.
This immediately creates a tension between the need to link information, the amount
of information that is placed within each title or label, and the need to keep
information isolated. These tensions will result in a trade off among the mediating
variables in order to achieve the format that maximises the quality of decisions made
by non-professional investors.

3.4.1 Definition of the stages of decision making used in the model
Maines and McDaniel (2000) identified three major steps in the decision-making
process. These are, information acquisition, evaluation of information, and weighting
of the information.

Maines and McDaniel(2000) define information acquisition as an investor " reading a
specific financial-statement item

...and storing the item in memory sufficiently well

to recall where it appeared in the financial data" (Maines and McDaniel, 2000, p183).
Information evaluation is defined as requiring an investor to assess "characteristics of

the data" (Maines and McDaniel2000, p183). Information weighting is defined as 'the
weight an investor places on the evaluated information characteristic.. .it reflects, in
part, his perceived importance of that characteristic for judging corporate and

management performance" (Maines and McDaniel 2000, p183). These definitions of
acquisition, evaluation and weighting will be used in this thesis.

3.5 Differences between the current research and Maines and McDaniel(2000)
The major difference between the current research and that conducted by Maines and
McDaniel (2000) relates to experimental design. Maines and McDaniel (2000) used a
between subjects approach. The current research uses a within subjects approach.

Subjects in the current research were given one of five different versions of a set of
information to analyse. Each set contained financial reports for two companies. The
major difference between the reports was the presentation of information relating to
operating leases. As an example, Company A in set 1 used the current accounting
treatment when presenting operating lease information. Company B used the full
linked note version when presenting lease information. This experimental design
precludes an analysis of the ability of subjects to identify terms, relating to leases,
between different formats, as different terms appear in different sets. These terms
would be expected to have very similar titles and so it would be very easy to confuse
the titles andfor locations.

While it is not possible to determine if identification tests are affected by formats, as
per Maines and McDaniel (2000), it is possible to determine if subjects can identify
lease information as it is currently presented. In addition, the current study is still able

to determine whether evaluation and weighting of information is affected by format
issues. Subjects will have to evaluate information presented in different formats, for
example, cases where operating leases are reported or disclosed. This is no different
to the current situation where leasing information is either reported or disclosed,
depending on whether some arbitrarily set hurdles have been passed.

There is also a difference between the characteristic evaluated by Maines and
McDaniel (2000) and the characteristic that this thesis will adopt for the evaluation
process. In Maines and McDaniel's (2000) study, the characteristic of concern was the
perceived volatility of income due to formatting effects when reporting unrealised
gains and losses over a three-year period. This thesis looks at the format effects of
operating leases on the decision-making ability of non-professional investors. The
current research uses reports that cover a two-year period and so volatility would not
be an appropriate characteristic to examine, simply due to the shorter time frame.
Instead, this thesis will focus on whether or not the subjects recognise that operating
leases affect the debt level of a company.

Chapter 4 Hvpothesis development

1.1 Introduction
In this chapter hypotheses are developed that attempt to predict the factors that will
impact on the decision-making ability of non-professional investors. These
hypotheses are developed from a discussion of the mediating factors (below) and the
factors that have previously been identified as generally affecting the quality of
decisions made by novice decision makers.

1.2 Mediating factors used in the thesis and their expected impact on the four formats
As was shown above, Maines and McDaniel (2000) used five mediating factors.
These are, placement, labelling, linkage to other information, isolation, and
aggregation. The next part of the discussion examines whether the same mediating
factors should be used in this thesis or whether other mediating factors should be
used. This discussion is important, due to the difference in topics researched in the
Maines and McDaniel (2000) study and this study. While both of these studies are
concerned with the impact of format effects, they are concerned with format effects
relating to different elements in the financial reports. The Maines and McDaniel
(2000) examined a revenue item but this thesis examines a liabilitylasset item. The
functional fixation literature suggests that income figures are the focal point for a
substantial proportion of individual investors (Watts and Zimrnerman 1986; Hand
1990). Therefore income figures are likely to be more 'visible' than many other
figures reported and disclosed in the financial reports, especially disclosures on

operating leases. This difference forces an examination of the mediating factors used
by Maines and McDaniel(2000).

This discussion will also develop hypotheses on how these variables will affect the
ability of subjects to identify, evaluate and weight operating leases when the
information is presented in different formats.

1.2.1 Identification or ac~uisitionof information
Placement would appear to be a critical variable in this thesis. As mentioned above,
notes on operating leases are not currently linked to the Statement of Financial
Position In addition, they are often placed at some distance from other notes relating
to liabilities, often pages apart and after notes referring to owners' equity issues. This
placement creates an intuitive belief that non-professional investors will not acquire
the information, simply because they won't find it.

However, research in financial statement analysis and in other areas has shown that
this belief may not be well founded. As mentioned above, there have been a number
of studies in accounting showing that non-experts have quite different search
strategies to those used by experts. See for example Anderson (1988) and Bouwman
(1982). These studies are consistent with results found by Chi, Feltovich and Glaser
(1982), McKeithen, Reitman, Reuter and Hirtle (1981), Choo (1989) and Ericsson and
Smith (1991) in other, non-accounting fields, which show that experts are more likely
to use an unstructured approach when examining information as they have a good
idea of where they need to go in order to obtain the required inputs. On the other

hand, non-experts tend to adopt a much more sequential approach and move from the
start to the end when looking for required information.

It is therefore likely that non-professional investors will see a given piece of
information, no matter which format is used, simply due to their predicted sequential
search strategy. However, this is not to say that they will remember where they saw it.
The definition of information acquisition used by Maines and McDaniel (2000) is not
sensitive enough to separate seeing the information from remembering where the
information was. This lack of sensitivity is not a problem for this thesis as the thesis
has adopted a JDM framework. If subjects saw a piece of information so fleetingly
that they couldn't remember where they saw it, it is unlikely that they will base a
decision on that piece of information. In this thesis, subjects will be required to both
see and remember where they saw relevant pieces of information.

It is expected that non-professional investors will acquire information relating to
operating leases, irrespective of the format used, due to their sequential search
strategy. Therefore all formats rank equally in terms of their ability to affect the
quality of decision-making, for this mediating variable. While the placement of the
information relating to operating leases is not expected to be a significant mediating
variable for the ability of non-professional users to acquire the information, it is
possible that placement will have an impact on the ability of these investors to
evaluate and weigh the information appropriately. This will be considered in the
discussion on labelling, below.

1.2.2 Evaluation and weighting of information
Maines and McDaniel (2000) claimed and found that evaluation of information was
not affected by formatting. However, they found that weighting of information was
affected by formatting issues. This discussion examines the factors that may impact
on evaluation and weighting of information relating to operating leases.

1.2.3 Labelling
For Maines and McDaniel (2000), labelling of information was expected to affect the
way information is perceived due to the fact that people classify information
differently, depending on the way it is labelled. These authors cite Kozminsky (1977),
who claimed that titles are used to gather information around them. The title "serves
as a nucleus that connects propositions that successfully match the title" (Kozrninsky
1977, p488).

In Maines and McDaniells (2000) study, the item of interest was the accounting
treatment of unrealised gains and losses (UGL). In that study, three different formats
were studied. One of the major differences in the formats concerned the label
attaching to the section of the financial report that the UGL was placed in. For
example, one option required the UGL to be placed in a section called "Statement of
Comprehensive Income", while another format required the information to be placed
in a "Statement of Changes in Stockholders' Equity". They expected that the titles
used in the different formats would impact on the quality of decisions made by their
subjects. However, Maines and McDaniel (2000) concluded that labelling of UGL
was not a major causal factor in distinguishing between the ability to evaluate
information relating to profits.

There is reason to believe that labelling will be an issue in the current research due to
the difference in variables studied between Maines and McDaniel (2000) and the
current study. The major reason for this relates to the functional fixation literature. It
is possible that Maines and McDaniel (2000) found labelling had no impact on their
variable of interest (comprehensive income), as it is a variable that investors were
going to actively pursue, due to its very nature. However, this is no reason to believe
that labelling would not have an impact on a less visible variable, such as operating
lease disclosures.

1.2.3.1 Elements of labelling
An examination of Kozminsky's (1977) study shows that labelling has two major
dimensions. The first dimension relates to the words used in the label. The second
dimension relates to the proximity of the information to a given label.

1.2.3.1.1. Dimension one-the title itself
Kozminsky argued that titles are 'superordinate propositions' because they 'carry the
thematic information in the text' (Kozminsky, 1977, p484). This part of the discussion
will examine the titles used in the different formats and their ability to describe the
content in the text that they head.

The current treatment format places the disclosures for operating leases in a note titled
"Commitments for Expenditure".

This note generally contains information on

commitments for capital expenditure, operating leases and finance leases. The title

for operating leases is simply one of the subtitles in the note for "Commitments for
Expenditure".

In the capitalised leases format and both the linked notes formats, operating leases are
reported and labelled in the liabilities and assets sections. In addition, these formats
also present information on operating leases in two discrete notes. One is labelled
"Leased Assets." The other is labelled "Leased Liabilities". These notes only contain
material that relates to operating leases.

It is not expected that the label itself will have a substantial impact on the ability of
users to evaluate operating leases in the current study, due to the similarity of titles
used in the study. At most, it is expected that the current treatment is least likely to be
evaluated correctly, due to the fact that it has the smallest title in the notes, a subtitle
in the note for "Commitments for Expenditure". The other formats have similar titles
and so this variable cannot be used to discriminate among these formats.

1.U.1.2. Dimension two-proximity to the title
As Kozminsky (1977) has shown, labels serve to act as a nucleus around which other
information is grouped. Information that is not grouped around a given label may be
assumed not to belong to the group that the label identifies. This has a strong
implication for the accounting treatment of operating leases. Primarily, if the users of
the financial reports assume that operating leases are not characterised as liabilities,
due to the distance they are placed from the other, clearly labelled notes relating to
liabilities, users are less likely to correctly evaluate the nature of the obligations and
benefits that arise from operating leases. In this sense, the proximity to the title has a

placement effect that will impact on the evaluation of the information. Obviously, if
users do not evaluate operating leases as affecting assets and liability levels, because
of the placement of the information, they will not be able to weigh the information
appropriately when making their decisions.

The current treatment of operating leases seems designed to ensure that this
information is not labelled as a liability (the only part of the transaction that is
disclosed under the current treatment format). This is achieved by placing the
information relating to operating leases at some distance from the obligations defined
by the title "Liabilities" that are reported in the Statement of Financial Position. The
disclosed information relating to operating leases is not even placed in the space
occupied by other disclosures that have already been implicitly labelled as liabilities
in the notes to the Statement of Financial Position. In fact, the disclosures relating to
operating leases are presented after the notes relating to owners' equity.

It is expected that the capitalised leases format and both of the linked note formats are
more likely to be evaluated correctly, compared to the current treatment of operating
leases, because these formats will clearly place operating leases in both the liabilities
and assets sections of the Statement of Financial Performance.

There are two more issues relating to the proximity to the label argument that deserve
comment. These issues are confirmation bias and the ndive interpretation of numbers
by non-professional investors. As Russo, Medvec and Molloy (1996) reported,
confirmation bias can exist during the period that opinions are being formed. This
raises the probability that the current treatment format of operating leases impacts on

the ability of users to evaluate operating leases, due to the placement of these
disclosures at some distance from the reported assets and liabilities. In the current
treatment format, the number of the note relating to operating leases is not shown in
the reported liabilities section of the Statement of Financial Position. The note itself is
placed after the notes on owners' equity, which in turn is placed after the notes
relating to liabilities. This placement suggests that there is considerable time for the
confirmation bias to form in the minds of the users, if the users read the reported
figures first, then read the notes, as might be assumed by the sequential search
strategy of non-professional users.

Even if users follow each note as they get to it, in their sequential search of the
material, the current treatment format will still promote the formation of confirmation
bias, as this format does not show a numbered note in the reported assets and
liabilities sections of the financial reports. In other words, there is no note to follow
from the reported section to the disclosures. Users will only find the disclosed
information close to the end of the report. This is likely to be some considerable time
after the reported information has been digested and opinions have started to form.

Confirmation bias should not be a problem for those formats which report operating
leases and place disclosures beside other notes that clearly relate to liabilities.

1.2.4. Linkage to other information
Maines and McDaniel (2000), referred to work by Lipe and Salterio (1999) which
claimed that linking relevant pieces of information helps decision makers to mentally
'chunk' these items and increase the weight these items receive in the decision
making process. Maines and McDaniel (2000) predicted that information which was

clearly linked to other relevant information would be more likely to be 'chunked'
together by decision makers, leading to higher-quality decisions, than would be the
case if the information is not linked. In their study, information linkage was said to be
improved if comprehensive income was clearly linked to net income. The Maines and
McDaniel(2000) study found that the variable 'linkages to other information' was not
a primary contributor to the format effect they found.

Maines and McDaniel (2000) operationalized information linkage in two steps. The
first step required all items in both net income and comprehensive income to be
included in a category labelled as comprehensive income. The next step required net
income to be summed with comprehensive income items and the total presented.
Generically, this can be presented as adding the relevant pieces of information
together on one clearly identified document and then producing a total.

This form of linkage was not adopted by any of the formats that will be tested in this
thesis. It is possible, theoretically, to add all the liabilities that are reported on the
Statement of Financial Position to all the commitments that are disclosed in the notes
to the financial reports. However this poses a number of problems for this thesis. The
first problem relates to the boundary of this thesis. This research is only concerned
with improving the quality of decision-making in relation to operating leases. It is
simply outside the scope of this thesis to deal with commitments for capital
expenditure, superannuation commitments, commitments arising from financial
instruments and other obligations. Therefore any document that summed the reported
liabilities with only the aggregate of operating leases must be an incomplete
representation of the total liabilities and commitments confronted by an entity.

The second problem relates to the measurement of these commitments. It is one thing
to add reported liabilities to non-cancellable operating leases, where the cash flows
are reasonably easily measured, although this may not apply to operating leases with
clauses stating that rent will be conditional upon sales levels or activity levels.
However, it would be quite another matter to add and reported liabilities to liabilities
that arise from highly volatile financial instruments, and post-retirement
commitments.

The current research will operationalize linkage in a different manner to that used by
Maines and McDaniel (2000). In this research, linkage will be achieved by the use of
numbered links to notes relating to operating leases and by reporting operating lease
information.

The current accounting treatment for operating leases has no linkage at all between
the reported liabilities and the note relating to operating leases. This is because the
number placed beside the note on operating leases is not found in the Statement of
Financial Position.

Capitalising operating leases and reporting these in the Statement of Financial
Position would be expected to have a positive impact on the ability of nonprofessional investors to evaluate operating lease information. In this case, both
requirements of linking to other information are partially satisfied. Operating leases
are clearly included with liabilities and assets, although they do not have their own
discrete title, they are simply part of the total liabilities and assets reported. In
addition, the totals for assets and liabilities reported in the Statement of Financial

Position clearly show that the leases have been added to both classes of accounts.
However, these totals are simply placed in the existing Statement of Financial
Position, rather than being placed in a separate document, as was done in the Maines
and McDaniel(2000) study.

It is expected that the full link notes format will be equally effective as the capitalised
leases format, in terms of this mediating variable, due to the fact that it clearly shows
the link between operating leases and liabilities and sums these items together in order
to produce a total.

The blank linked note format is also expected to have a positive impact on the ability
of non-professional investors to evaluate operating leases, although this impact is not
expected to be as significant as the impact that is expected to be found for the
capitalised leases format or the full linked note format. The major reason for this is
the fact that the blank linked note format does not sum the liabilities with the
operating leases, which are only represented by a star. This poses two contradictory
psychological factors that may impact on non-professional investors. It was shown
above that non-professional investors use a sequential search strategy (Choo 1989).
In addition, non-professional investors naively accept information at face value

(Bouwman 1982; Anderson 1988).

At this point theory provides no guidance as to which of these factors will dominate.
It is impossible to predict whether non-professional investors will follow the link as
part of their sequential search strategy, or keep reading the reported figures, before
moving to the disclosures in the notes. On the other hand, the investors may naively

decide that the lack of a dollar amount beside the numbered link for operating leases
in the Statement of Financial Position indicates that there are no operating leases,
therefore causing the non-professional investor to ignore the link.

The blank linked note format requires greater cognitive skills from non-professional
investors than the capitalised leases format and the full linked note format. This
format requires the investor to determine if the numbered link should be followed to
the notes, then it requires the investor to determine whether or not this information
should be added to the liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.

Therefore it is possible that even if non- professional investors follow the numbered
link to the notes to the financial reports, they will be unsure whether or not they
should add the aggregate operating leases to the reported liabilities. It is expected that
this doubt will reduce the ability of non-professional investors to evaluate operating
leases correctly when using this format.

The blank linked note format is expected to be inferior to the capitalised leases format
and the full linked note format in terms of linkage to other information because the
links are not as clear. However this format should be more positively associated with
correct evaluation and weighting of the operating leases than would be the case for the
current treatment of leases format, due to the presence of the numbered link on the
Statement of Financial Position.

1.2.5 Isolation of information
Maines and McDaniel (2000) argued that cognitive costs of processing information
are reduced if information is presented in isolation, rather than being placed with a

number of other, less relevant pieces of information. This claim is based in part on
work carried out by Nisbett, Zukier and Lemley (l98 1) which showed that the quality
of decisions made by both expert and non-expert is inversely affected by increasing
levels of extraneous or non-diagnostic information.

Maines and McDaniel (2000) found that the 'isolation of information' variable was a
primary contributor to format effects affecting the quality of decisions made by their
subjects. They found that the quality of certain decisions fell when information
relating to unrealised gains and losses was placed with irrelevant information, such as
detailed information relating to changes in, and the balance of, retained earnings,
changes in and the balance of paid-up capital etc. Therefore, Maines and McDaniel
(2000) found higher quality decisions resulted from formats that isolated relevant
information.

This particular variable may not be of such significance in the current research.
Maines and McDaniel (2000) required their subjects to evaluate the performance of
management and the company in relation to the volatility of earnings that the
company reported. The three different formats studied by Maines and McDaniel
(2000) displayed a huge range in the isolation of the relevant information. The
alternative formats studied in this thesis have a much narrower range in the isolation
of the relevant information.

The current accounting treatment for operating leases does not require that operating
leases be disclosed in isolation. Current practice simply requires that a note called
"Commitments for Expenditure" be shown. These commitments are generally limited
to finance leasing, operating leasing, and commitments for capital expenditure.

Therefore, operating leases are one of three major subclasses of information contained
in this note.

The capitalised leases format and both of the linked note formats require reported
figures for operating leases as one of a few major subclasses of liabilities and assets
that are reported in the Statement of Financial Position. Therefore, there is not a large
difference in the degree of isolation of leasing information between the different
formats.

1.2.6Aggregation of information
Maines and McDaniel (2000) predicted that that aggregation of information would
reduce the quality of decisions made by non-professional investors. They found this
was not a primary contributor to the quality of decisions made by their subjects.

This variable is not expected to be relevant in this thesis. All formats that will be
examined will have the same level of aggregation of information. Specifically, all
formats will disclose the contracted payments to be paid within one year, those
payments to be made later than one year but not later than five years, and those
payments to be made after the fifth year. This information will appear in the notes
and the format of this information in the notes will not vary between the current
treatment format, the capitalised leases format and the two linked note formats.

1.3 Hv~otheses
The discussion above implies that the sequential search strategy of non-professional
investors will ensure that operating lease information, as it is currently presented, will
be acquired. The discussion also leads to the conclusion that operating leases in the
current treatment format are not likely to be evaluated or weighted appropriately, due
to the lack of proximity to labels, and increased potential for confirmation bias to
form when the information is disclosed, rather than reported. The above discussion
can be distilled into the following hypotheses.

Hypothesis 1 (Acquisition) Non-professional investors will acquire (identify)
information relating to operating leases.

Hypothesis 2 (Evaluation) Non-professional investors will not correctly evaluate
operating leases when the information is disclosed, rather than reported.

Hypothesis 3 (Weighting) Non-professional investors will not appropriately weigh
operating lease information when it is disclosed.

Chapter 5 Experiment design issues

Introduction
This chapter describes the way the experiment was conducted, demographic
characteristics of the subjects, a brief discussion of certain implications arising from
the choice of company used to base the experimental instrument on, and a justification
for the experimental method chosen. A description of the experimental instrument
used in the current research is found in Chapter 2. Finally, this chapter will discuss
issues relating to the use of students as surrogates in behavioural accounting research.

Part l. Experimental Procedure

1.1. Overview
The experiment used a between subjects design. Each subject was required to evaluate
the financial reports for two companies, Company A and Company B. Subjects were
required to state which company they preferred to invest in. The major difference
between the reports was the accounting treatment of operating leases. In order to
prevent students realising that both companies were the same, the reports were
manipulated slightly. Most of the figures in the two reports that subjects received
were different by approximately one percent. It was felt that a one percent difference
would not of itself be enough to influence the subjects' choice of company.

The experiment was run twice. The first group comprised 141 students who
completed the experiment in the last lecture of their introductory financial accounting
unit. The second group tested comprised 11 people who held themselves out to be

non-professional investors. These people responded to an appeal for volunteers that
was broadcast on a local radio station. The appeal was made at the end of a chat-show
segment featuring the author. The segment discussed the way information is presented
in financial reports. However, it did not discuss the treatment of operating leases.

Each group was given approximately an hour to complete the experimental instrument
(hereafter the survey). The students completed their survey in a lecture theatre. The
second group completed their surveys either at their homes or in a tutorial room at the
University of Canberra, at times that suited them. It is conceded that conducting the
experiment at the homes of some subjects was not ideal experimental technique.
However, given the scarcity of members in the second group, a decision was taken to
conduct the experiment in their homes, rather than risk losing the subjects' agreement
to participate in the experiment. The author was present for the entire period that each
subject had the survey. This ensured that the survey was administered in the same
way to both groups.

Each student was given one of five different versions of the experimental instrument.
Each version was called a set (see appendix). Prior to distribution, copies of the sets
were interspersed evenly within a single pile of papers. This ensured a random
distribution of the sets.

Due to the small numbers of participants, Group 2 was only asked to analyse set 1.
Subjects answered each question as a cohort. They were given an amount of time to
answer each section of the survey instrument and then asked to wait until they were

told to progress to the next section. This was necessary in order to prevent subjects
reading ahead and then changing their responses to earlier questions.

To avoid students reading ahead and learning what they were to be asked, the
question sheets in the survey instruments were printed on different coloured pages.
For example, Part A was printed on pink paper and Part B was printed on green paper.
This allowed the observers to have a clear indication if someone was reading ahead.
This seemed to work as no students were observed reading the 'wrong' material at
any given time. Subjects were given the following amounts of time to complete each
part of the instrument.

FIGURE 5.1
Times for each part of the survey
Part A = 35 minutes
Part B = 5 minutes
Part C =l5 minutes
Part D =10 minutes

1.2 Commitment
Commitment of the subjects to the current experiment was considered a crucial factor
to the validity of their responses to the survey instrument. Ideally, student responses
to the instrument would have been marked as part of their assessment. This was not
possible as the researcher used students in a class he was not associated with.

The author decided not to use financial reward to increase student commitment. There
are a number of reasons for this. Libby and Lipe (1992) concluded that the impact of
incentives on quality of performance in an experimental accounting task depends on
the type and the amount of incentive offered. This implies that if the amount of the
incentive is too low or of the wrong type, performance will not be increased. Tversky
and Kahneman (1986) and Chang, Ho and Liao (1997) argued that the use of financial
incentives may have an impact on the effort a subject puts into a problem. However, it
will not stop subjects making poor decisions, particularly as task complexity
increases.

It was decided not to use a tournament to increase the subjects' commitment to the
experiment. Ashton (1980) showed that tournaments can cause some participants to
give up once they realise they are not going to win the tournament, while others will
try harder, convinced that they have a chance to win. Both of these responses are
unlikely to be reflected in the real world, due to the absence of a tournament in the
real world. It is true that users of these reports will attempt to gain information to
increase their wealth. However, it is unlikely that many of them are explicitly
competing with other investors to see whose portfolio is doing the best.

Following Huber (1985), Wood, Mento and Locke (1987) and Latham and Seijts
(1999), subjects were not given a specific goal when undertaking the experiment.
They were just asked to do their best when analysing the reports they were presented
with. These studies found that that performance is adversely affected when subjects
are presented with a complex problem, that is a problem that can be solved using a
number of different paths, and then given a specific and hard goal to achieve.

As stated above, ideally, the survey instrument would have been part of the
assessment of the students, as this would have been most likely to increase
commitment to the survey instrument. However, this was not possible. It is possible
therefore that a number of students did not take the experiment seriously and
submitted results that would be different to those that would have been produced if
marks, or some other valued reward were dependent on the quality of the subjects'
responses to the survey. Because the members of the second group volunteered, it was
not expected that their commitment to the survey would be an issue.

Part 2. Demographic details

2.1 Group 1
Approximately 124 undergraduate first year accounting students and 17 post graduate
students attempted the survey. No attempt was made to separate the results of these
two sub groups. All student results were placed into one pool. The majority of this
group were aged between 19 and 25.

2.2 Group 2

Due to time constraints and certain policies in place at the University of Canberra, it
was not possible to obtain specific demographic information on the subjects in this
group. Casual conversations with members of the group revealed that the group
included a chartered accountant, two business analysts, a clerk in the Australian
Public Service, two nurses, a trade union organizer, a retired person, a manager, and a
housewife. Participants seemed to be aged between 35 and 60ish. Nine of the

members appeared to be aged between 35 and 45. The others looked to be older than
50. There were 5 males and 6 females in the group.

Again, due to certain policies at the University of Canberra, no questions were asked
regarding the number of times they had traded on the market. In addition, no
questions were asked of the size of their investments.

Part 3. Choice of company

3.1 Reasons for choice of company
The survey was based on the Financial Report of 2000 for the Just Jeans Group. This
particular company was chosen due to the size of its operating leases and the
simplicity of its financial reports. The reports required very little manipulation in
order to be useful for an experiment such as this. The operating leases represented
approximately three times the amount of liabilities that were reported on the
Statement of Financial Position (approximately $154 million in operating leases
versus approximately $51 million in reported liabilities). It was felt that the huge
difference in the dollar size and proportion of the operating leases compared to the
reported liabilities would bias the results as more subjects would identify and evaluate
the operating leases simply due to their enormous size in relation to all other items in
the reports. If subjects couldn't identify or evaluate operating leases here, it seems
unlikely they will be able to deal with them in more common cases where companies
have lower, but still significant levels of operating leases.

3.2 Biased experimental instrument
It must be pointed out that the proportion of operating leases to reported liabilities for
the Just Jeans Group is quite different to the average position for Australian
companies.

Hughes (2000) conducted an analysis of the nominal (that is not

discounted) balances of lease liabilities of a random selection of Australian
companies, excluding those in the financial sector. This showed that between 40 to 48
percent of companies surveyed had operating leases that represented more than 10
percent of their reported liabilities.

On average, operating leases represented

approximately 27 percent of reported liabilities.

Part 4. Link between the survey instrument and steps in the decision-making
process

Maines and McDaniel (2000) identified three stages in the decision-making process
(see Chapter 3).

These are the identification, evaluation, and weighting of

information. Part A of the survey asked subjects to explain in detail why they
preferred one company to the other, or were indifferent between them.

This

represented the weighting stage of the decision-making process. Subjects who had
identified and evaluated the information relating to operating leases would be
expected to realise that there were no substantial differences between the companies
they were asked to analyse. In this case they would be expected to state that they
would be indifferent between the companies.

The survey deliberately started at the last stage of the decision-making process used
by Maines and McDaniel (2000).

It was important for subjects to reach their

conclusion without being prompted or led by other information that needed to be
presented to the subjects in order test their ability to identify and evaluate information
relating to operating leases.

Part B of the survey asked subjects to identify where they saw information relating to
leases and other commitments. Subjects were asked to answer these questions from
memory. They were explicitly told that they were not allowed to go back to the
financial reports and notes in order to answer these questions.

Part C of the survey tested the ability of subjects to evaluate information relating to
operating leases. Subjects were asked to identify which company in their set had the
greatest amount of current assets, non-current assets, liabilities and commitments to
pay third parties. The subjects were also asked to state the relevant dollar amount at
each response.

Stating the dollar amount was crucial as it showed whether the

subjects simply relied on the reported figures or whether they incorporated
information from the notes into their responses.

Part D of the survey was not related to the steps in the decision-making process
identified by Maines and McDaniel (2000). Part D was included because it seeks to
determine whether the accounting treatment of operating leases is significant for nonprofessional investors when making an investment decision. As was shown in Chapter
2, behavioural research in accounting has value if it finds a problem that needs fixing
and is able to offer a cost effective solution. Part D of the survey fills this requirement
by determining if the subjects consider the information on operating leases to be
significant when making an investment decision. Part D also seeks to determine if

subjects are satisfied with the current accounting treatment of operating leases. If they
are satisfied, there is no reason to change the current accounting treatment of
operating leases.

Part 5. Type of statistical analysis

Data collected in this experiment are categorical and interval. Subjects were often
required to select a company when answering questions in the experimental
instrument. These data are categorical and were analysed using SPSS for Windows
(version 10) to carry out cross tabulations. Generally, this paper will use the
Likelihood Ratio test statistic and the associated p-values will be reported.

For the purposes of this research, standard interpretations of p-values will apply. That
is, a p value of less than 0.05 will be viewed as significant. Values between 0.05 and
0.10 will be viewed as marginally significant, values greater than 0.10 will be viewed
as not being significant (Diekhoff, 1992).

Part 6. The use of students

6.1 Previous use and limitations of using students as surrogates
A major criticism of the external validity of the current research relates to the use of
students, as experimental subjects, rather than using a sample of actual nonprofessional investors. Fortunately, there is support for the use of students as
surrogates, within certain parameters. These are discussed below.

A review of the Behavioural Accounting Research literature shows that students are
often used as surrogates for investors in experiments that require analysis of
accounting information. Examples include Frederick and Libby (1986), Anderson
(1988), Libby and Lipe (1992), Reimers (1992), Chan, Ho, and Liao (1997), and
Maines and McDaniel(2000).

Other researchers have examined the validity and limitations of using students as
surrogates in Behavioural Accounting Research. For example, Ashton and Kramer
(1980) found that undergraduates made decisions that were comparable to those made
by the general population. However, this should not be taken as support for the
argument that undergraduates make comparable decisions to those made by
professionals, or experts (Abdel-khalik, 1974 and Abdolmohammadi and Wright,
1987). It should be pointed out that Abdolmohammadi and Wright (1987) also found
that less experienced professionals and students were systematically different to
experienced professionals. Therefore, they question the validity of using any type of
non-experts as surrogates for experts.

This literature indicates that students are acceptable surrogates for the general
population but not for experienced professionals or experts. This supports the use of
students in the current research as this research is concerned with the behaviour of
non - professional investors, that is non-experts.

Having established the acceptability of using students in Behavioural Accounting
Research it is necessary to determine how similar or dissimilar the students are,
compared to the 'average' non-professional investor. This is required in order to

provide a framework within which to evaluate the students' responses. If the students
were found to generally have characteristics that would place them on the right hand
edge of a normal distribution of a profile of the 'average' investor, there would be
little interest in the results, if the students were unable to form high quality decisions.
However, if the students were found to be a reasonable surrogate for retail investors,
and they did not make high quality, or even decent decisions, this suggests that a
problem exists with the current accounting treatment of leases.

6.2 Selected characteristics of students and non-professional investors
Unfortunately the ASX survey (2000) did not provide data or information on the
characteristics of the 'average' retail investor. This survey showed the proportions of
adult Australians, in different classifications, that owned shares in 1999. For example,
the survey showed that around 22 percent of people aged between 18 and 24 owned
shares. However, it did not show how many shareholders hold a degree, or were
undergraduates, or earn a given income within a year. Therefore it is not possible at
the moment to define the characteristics of the 'average' investor. The lack of a
model to base the 'average' retail investor on prevents a discussion of whether the
subjects used in the current research represent investors on the left or the right of a
normal distribution of retail investors.

6.2.1.An estimate of the education levels of retail investors
Fortunately, the 2001 Census provides data that can be used to estimate the numbers
of shareholders with different levels of education. In turn, this will facilitate an
estimation of the proportions of shareholders with different levels of education.
Table 5.1 shows a breakdown of the highest education level attained by Australians.

TABLE 5.1
Education levels of Australians
Highest level of education attained

Number (000)

Post graduate
Bachelor degree
Diploma
Year 12
Year 10
(Source; ABS Census of Population and Housing. Basic Community Profile and
Snapshots, second release)

These numbers were then multiplied by the percentages estimated by the ASX survey
(2000). Table 5.2 shows the ASX survey (2000) estimate of the percentage of direct
share ownership by education level. Table 5.3 shows the estimated number of
shareholders classified by education level.

TABLE 5.2
Estimate of education level of Australian retail shareowners (%)
Highest education level

Percentage owning shares

Postgraduate
Bachelor degree
Diploma
Year 12
YearlO or less
(Source ASX Shareholder Survey 2000, page 14)

TABLE 5.3
Estimate of education level of Australian retail investors (Nos.)
Education status

Number owning shares

Percentage of total retail

(000)

shareowners

Postgraduate
Bachelor degree
Diploma etc
Year 12
YearlO or less
Total owing shares

The estimate of total shareholders by education level in Table 5.3 produces a
reasonable figure (5.89 million shareholders) in that it is quite similar to ASX survey
(2000) estimate of approximately 5.7 million shareholders in 1999. It must be

acknowledged of course that the estimates of the percentages of total shareholders
within each education level are just that, estimates, and so care must be taken when
using them.

6.2.2. Imvlications relating to students used in the current research
The figures in Table 5.3 are represented in Chart 5.1 below. It must be noted that the
chart has combined both the bachelor degree and postgraduate categories into one
category labelled "University". This chart shows that the majority (83 percent) of
retail shareholders do not posses university degrees. Approximately 60 percent hold
certificates, diplomas and year 12 qualifications.

CHART 5.1
Estimated proportions of shareowners by education levels

Estimated proportions of Shareownels by education level

University

Diplomas

Year 12

Year 10

Education level achieved

If this chart is accurate, it appears that undergraduate students would fit somewhere in
the top half of the distribution of retail shareholders, in terms of education level.
Shareholders whose highest qualifications are Year 10 or Year 12 certificates
comprise approximately 54 percent of retail shareholders. The students used in the

current research have passed their year 12 exams. It would be too speculative to
compare the education qualifications of undergraduates and diploma holders.
Therefore, the only claim that is made regarding education is that the students used in
the current research are somewhere in the top half of the population of retail investors
in terms of education levels.

As was stated before, a number of students (n= 17) used in the current research were
undertaking postgraduate studies. These students will have completed their bachelors'
degree. Therefore, these students would be expected to be similar to those in the
University category. These shareholders represented the top 17 percent of
shareholders, in terms of education levels.

The ASX survey (2002) did not present information on success, or experience, or job
type in their description of shareholders. These factors would add substantially to the
picture of the 'average' retail shareholder. Therefore, while it is argued that the
students used in the current research were representative of the majority of retail
investors in terms of education, and are in a reasonable age bracket, it is impossible to
state how the students would compare to retail investors in terms of other significant
characteristics.

This analysis would indicate that students used in the current research had education
levels comparable to around 50 percent of the sample of retail investors identified by
the ASX survey (2002). In addition, the students were in a reasonably significant age
group of retail investors, that is approximately 22 percent of Australians aged between
18 and 24 own shares, according to the ASX survey (2002).

On the basis of these characteristics there is no reason to believe that the students
.

represented the lowest level of retail investors (the far right hand side of a normal
distribution). This reduces some of the concern regarding the external validity of the
current research.

This discussion may be criticised as it fails to make a link between education level
and success of retail investors. However, no such link needs to be established. For the
purposes of the current research, all that needs to be established is whether students
are a reasonable surrogate for the 'average' non-professional investors. There is no
claim made in the current research that students are a reasonable surrogate for the
most successful retail investors.

Chapter 6 Results

Introduction

The results of the two groups will be presented separately. The results of Group 1 (the
student subjects) will be presented first. The results of Group 2 (the volunteers) will
then be presented. The results for the identification tests, evaluation tests and
weighting tests will be presented in separate parts of this chapter. A brief discussion
of the results will be included with each set of findings. A more comprehensive
discussion of factors that may have led to the results is found in Chapter 5.

Part 1. Acquisition of information tests

1.1 Introduction
In Part B of the survey, subjects were asked four questions relating to where they saw
information on operating leases and capital commitments. Specifically, subjects were
asked to state where they saw the following terms:

Operating lease liabilities
Operating lease assets
Capital and leasing commitments
Capital commitments

The term 'Capital and leasing commitments' is the variable of interest as it covers
operating leases under the current accounting treatment. The other terms are included
in the identification test as decoys. These terms were used in the alternative formats
and so appeared in some of the financial reports being analysed.

Subjects were asked to state if they remembered seeing the terms in the Statement of
Financial Performance, the Statement of Financial Position, or the notes. Subjects
were also able to state that they did not see the term. They were informed that a term
may have appeared in more than one place. The frequency and placement of these
terms is shown in Table 6.1 below.

TABLE 6.1

Frequency of appearance of terms within sets
Variable

Operating

Capital and

Capital

lease assets

leasing

commitments

commitments
Set 1

RI, N1

N1

N1

Set 2

RI, N1

N1

N1

Set 3

RI, N1

N1

N1

Set 4

RI, N1

-

N2

Set 5

RI, N1

-

N2

Key:
R= Reported in the Statement of Financial Position.
N= Notes
N1 means the item was placed in the notes once in the set.
N2 means the item was in the notes of both companies within a given set.

1.2 Grading of acquisition responses
Subjects' responses to the terms were marked as wrong, partially correct or correct.
The term 'capital and leasing commitments' appeared in the notes for Company A in
the first three sets. It did not appear in the last two sets.
Subjects in the first 3 sets were awarded a full mark if they ticked the box that
referred to notes. They scored a partial mark if they ticked the notes box and any other
box. They scored zero if they failed to tick the notes box at all. Subjects who analysed

the last two sets (that is sets 4 and 5) scored a full mark if they ticked the box that
indicated that the term did not appear at all. All other responses were marked as
wrong.

1.3 Results for identification tests - Group 1
The charts below show the responses to the identification tests.
1.3.1 Incorrect responses

CHART 6.1
Group 1 - Incorrect identification of operating leases

Incorrect identification of operating leases

1

2

3

4

5

Sets

Chart 6.1 presents the results for the proportion of those responses which incorrectly
identified the specified terms. The most obvious aspect of the results in Chart 1 is the
dramatic increase in incorrect identification when the term did not appear in a specific
set. At this stage it is unclear if subjects were answering these questions based on
where they expected the items to appear, rather than relying on their memory of
where they thought the item actually appeared in their sets. Given the very high
incorrect response rates when items were not present in a set, the possibility of

providing a response not based on memory cannot be ruled out. Chart 6.1 also shows
that the incorrect identification rate was quite high for sets where the term did appear.

1.3.2 Correct responses

CHART 6.2
Group 1 - Correct identification of operating leases

Correct identification of operating leases

Set 1

Set 2

Set 3

Set 4

Set 5

The most obvious feature of Chart 6.2 is the fact that the subjects in the first three sets
(the sets where the term appeared) did not identify the term in the majority of cases.
At best, the term was identified by approximately 54 percent of the subjects in set 3.

1.3.3 Partially correct responses

CHART 6.3
Group 1 - Partially correct identification of operating leases

Partially correct identification of operating leases

1

2

3

4

5

Set

Chart 6.3 shows the most generous interpretation of the ability of the subjects to
identify the term. The most striking feature of this chart is the low level of even
partially correct identification of the term when it appeared in a set.

1.3.5 Possible contributing factors

Maines and McDaniel (2000) indicated that non-professional investors would be
expected to identify the terms ('acquire' the information in their parlance), regardless
of formatting issues. They reported that around 95 percent of their subjects correctly
identified the appropriate terms. They also reported there was no statistically
significant difference in the ability of their subjects to identify the terms due to format
issues.

These charts indicate that the majority of subjects in Group 1 were not able to
correctly identify the relevant term. This appears to contradict the literature on this
issue.

There are a number of factors that may have contributed to the current results. The
most obvious factor would be the complexity of the task. There were a number of
terms with similar sounding names. For example, the tem 'leases' appears in note 1 of
every set of notes. Other terms with leasing in their names appear in various parts of
the reports. There may not appear to be a lot of difference between terms like 'Capital
and leasing commitments' and 'Capital commitments', especially for subjects who
felt they were under a time constraint. This factor could indicate a problem with the
research design. Of course, this raises a question about the degree of complexity an
identification test should contain. Unfortunately, there is no objective measure to
provide guidance here. The issue of complexity will be discussed further below.

Another factor relating to experimental design may also be relevant. The current
research and Maines and McDaniel (2000) examine different types of variables.
Maines and McDaniel examined comprehensive income, whereas the current research
examines operating leases. It is arguable that there are fundamental differences in the
'visibility' of these variables. As mentioned earlier, the functional fixation literature is
premised on the idea that individual investors are highly likely to focus on profit
figures. Therefore, profit figures are much more likely to be 'visible' to individual
investors, rather than operating lease disclosures, simply because investors seek out
profit information. This could explain why users were able to acquire information

relating to an income number, regardless of format, but were unable to do so for
operating lease information.

1.4 Identification results - Grouv 2
Due to the small population in Group 2 (n=l l), subjects were only presented with Set
1. The grading scale was the same as that used for Group 1.

CHART 4
Group 2 - Identification of operating leases

Identification results

Correct

Partially correct

Incorrect

Grade of response

Chart 6.4 shows that the proportion of correct responses is quite low and more than 60
percent of responses to this question were incorrect.

1.5 Summary of both groups
The results for both groups show that the majority of non-professional investors in
each group were unable to identify (acquire) the information on operating leases. This

does not support the findings of Maines and McDaniel (2000). It must be
acknowledged that this may be due to the complexity of the survey instrument. The
presence of similar terms in different reports within the same set may have confused a
number of subjects.

The literature indicates that the placement of information should not affect the ability
of non-professional investors to identify (acquire) information. However, due to the
'natural' lack of 'visibility' of operating leases, compared to income numbers, it may
be expected that information relating to operating leases would not be identified by a
substantial proportion of subjects.

Part 2. Evaluation

2.1 Introduction
Subjects were asked to answer a number of questions to determine their ability to
evaluate the nature of operating leases under a variety of formats. These questions
were presented to them in Part C of the survey instrument. Subjects were able to look
at the information in the reports and notes and use it as they saw fit when answering
these questions.

Part C had 12 questions. Questions 3, 4, 6 and 12 were relevant to the research topic.
The others were used as decoys. The relevant questions are reproduced below.

Question 3 asked subjects to identify which company had control of the most noncurrent assets and to state the dollar amount. Question 4 asked a similar question

relating to current assets. A deliberate choice was made to frame questions 3 and 4 in
a way that gave subjects a hint that companies do not have to own assets before the
assets can be recorded. This choice in framing should have biased subjects' responses
to using the notes more than would have been the case if they felt compelled to only
use the reported figures, in the mistaken belief that a company would only show
assets that it owns in the Statement of Financial Position.

Question 5 asked subjects to identify which company had the greatest level of
liabilities and to state the dollar amount. Question 6 asked subjects to identify which
company would have to pay the most cash to outsiders and to state the dollar amount.

Question 12 asked subjects to identify which company 'had the greatest dollar
increase in obligations during the year'. They were asked to state the dollar amount.
Unfortunately, question 12 was generally unanswered by Group 1, so no results for it
are reported here. This question may have been generally shunned due to its
placement as the last question, or due to its difficulty. Members of the second group,
the non-professional investors, were only asked to answer questions 1 to 7 inclusive.

It was decided to exclude the evaluation results for set 4. In this set, Company A used
the capitalised leases format and Company B used the full linked notes format.
Therefore both companies in this set used formats whose notes did not contain new
information on operating leases. This meant it was not possible to test their ability to
evaluate disclosures on leases.

2.2 Grading of responses
A valid response in this section required the subject to identify the company and state
the dollar amount of the relevant item. Responses that did not state the dollar amount
were excluded from the analysis of results. Stating the dollar amount was crucial as it
showed whether the subjects were able to evaluate the material relating to operating
leases.

2.3 Group 1 responses
Table 6.2 shows the source of the responses to questions 3, 4, 5, and 6, when the
source could be identified.

TABLE 6.2
Percentage of identified responses to auestions 3,4,5, and 6
Q3

Q4

Q5

Q6

Reported figures

Set 1 100% 100% 100%

40%

Reported or disclosed

Set 1

60 %

Xeported figures

Set 2

Reported or disclosed

Set 2

<eported figures

Set 3

Reported or disclosed

Set 3

ieported figures

Set 5

Reported or disclosed

Set S*

I"

verage of reported figures
verage of reported

96% 96% 96%

43%
57 %

92% 92% 100%

60%
40 %

100% 100% 100%

50%
44 %

*Set 5 does not sum to 100 percent because one subject gave a response from the
notes for this question. The response was illogical and had no connection to the
question.

These responses to questions 3,4, and 5 render statistical analysis redundant. The vast
majority of subjects simply relied on reported figures when answering these
questions. Analysis is carried out below which indicates that the responses to question

6 were significantly different to those for the other questions.

A number of the responses were simply reported figures, such as the subtotal for
current liabilities, or total liabilities. These figures only appeared once in the reports
and so were easy to identify as being a reported figure. Other responses had more
ambiguous sources. For example, a number of responses to question 6 were simply
the accounts payable figure. Unfortunately, this figure was both reported and
disclosed, therefore it was not possible to state whether the subject relied on the
reported or disclosed figure.

It was decided to separate responses that were clearly sourced from reported figures,
from those that may have been sourced from either reported or disclosed figures in
order to prevent overstating the case regarding the reliance subjects in Group 1 placed
on reported figures. The source of the responses was really only an issue for question

6. In all other cases bar one, subjects relied on reported figures when answering
questions 3 , 4 and 5.

Only one subject incorporated disclosures into hisher responses in a sensible manner.
This subject (in set 2) followed the blank linked notes and used the disclosed
information when answering questions 3, 4 and 5. However, this subject did not use
the blank linked note when answering question 6.

Table 6.3 shows the frequency of identifiable responses by subjects to each question.

TABLE 6.3
Freuuencv of identified responses to certain questions

P

et No

No of subjects Number of identified responses per
question
Q3

Q4

Q5

Q6

Set 1

29

25

26

28

20

Set 2

30

26

26

27

23

Set 3

27

24

24

25

15

Set 5

27

23

25

25

16

This table shows that question 6 was the least often answered with an identifiable
figure in each set. McNemar's test shows that there is a statistically significant
difference (p=0.000) in the frequency of responses to 6 compared to questions 3, 4
and 5. McNemar's test showed that there was not a statistically significant difference
in the frequency of responses between questions 3 and 4 (both relating to assets) and
questions 4 and 5. There was a marginally significant difference in responses between
questions 3 and 5 (p=0.057). This could imply that subjects found question 6 more
difficult than the previous questions and so answered it less frequently. Question 6 is

more difficult than other questions as it does not ask for a simple figure such as the
total assets or total liabilities.

Table 6.4 shows the number of non-responses to different questions.

TABLE 6.4
Frequency of non-responsesto certain questions

a
Number of non- responses per question

Q3

Q4

Q5

Q6

Set l

1

1

0

7

Set 2

1

2

2

6

Set 3

3

3

2

12

Set 5

1

1

1

4

This table provides a similar message to Table 6.3, that is, question 6 was probably
perceived by the subjects as being a lot more difficult than the others. Question 6
consistently had the lowest frequency of identifiable responses (Table 6.3) and the
highest rate of non-response (Table 6.4).

2.3.1 Ability to evaluate disclosures when they relate to leased assets
The subjects in Group 1 seemed to make no connection at all between the disclosed
information and the reported figures. Some indication of the reliance by subjects on
the reported figures, and their reluctance, or inability, to incorporate the disclosed

information in their answers is seen in the responses for sets 2 and 5. In set 2,
Company A used the current accounting treatment of operating leases while Company

B presented the operating lease information via a numbered blank link to the notes. In
set 5, Company A used the capitalised leases approach and Company B used the
blank linked notes format. This means that the subjects who were given set 2 or set 5
will have seen something similar to the following as Figure 1 in the Statement of
Financial Position for Company B.

FIGURE 6.1
Example of the blank linked notes format (current asset presentation)

Current Assets

Notes

.......
......
Other
Operating lease assets

I

Total current assets

Note 7 shows that Company B had current assets worth around $49m and non current
assets of around $103m.

When the subjects were asked which company controlled the most non-current assets
(question 3) or current assets (question 4), only one subject added the figures that
were found in note 7 to the figures reported in the statement. Every other response
simply used the subtotal that was reported in the statement. The impact of adding the

disclosed figures to the reported figures was quite significant. Table 6.5 shows the
figures that were reported in the statements and the amounts that were disclosed at
note 7. When the disclosed information in the notes is added to the reported balances,
the differences are quite substantial.

TABLE 6.5
The imDact'bf disclosed lease assets on the total assets of Com~anvB (Set 2)
Company A

Company B

Company B Assets
(adjusted for
disclosures)

Reported Current Assets

52206

5 1684

101325

Figures

493 16

48823

151840

Non Current
Assets

Disclosed Current Assets
Lease

Non Current

figures

Assets

It is understandable that students did not recognise that they had to add disclosed
information on operating lease liabilities to the reported asset figures when they
analysed Company A (the current accounting treatment of operating leases). Given
the fact that assets arising under operating leases are not presented at all in the
financial reports under existing accounting standards, it is not expected that subjects
would recognise that a corresponding lease asset exists for each lease liability. This
would make it very hard for subjects to realise that they need to modify the current
and non-current assets as reported in Company A, as it uses the current accounting

treatment for operating leases. However, it is surprising that they did not or could not
follow the link to the disclosed information and evaluate this information. Possible
reasons for this will be discussed below.

Set 5 also revealed a similar level of reliance on reported numbers. In this set,
Company A capitalised the operating leases and reported the numbers. Company B
used the numbered blank link format as used in Set 2. This time all subjects except
one responded with the balances reported in the Statement of Financial Position. The
subject who did not respond with the reported figures subtracted the operating leases
from the total of current assets. It would appear that this subject did not correctly
evaluate the disclosed information on operating leases.

The results for questions 3 and 4 support hypothesis 2 in relation to operating lease
assets. All subjects bar one failed to incorporate any information in the notes that
clearly related to operating lease assets. This finding occurred in all four sets where
disclosed information was different to reported figures.

2.3.2 Abilitv to evaluate disclosures relating to operating lease liabilities
Question 6 addressed the issue of whether subjects would be able to evaluate
operating leases as being similar to debt in their adverse affect upon future cash flows
when the leasing information was disclosed, rather than reported. The previous
question ( 5 ) asked subjects to nominate which company had the highest level of
liabilities. Subjects were also asked to state the dollar amount. It was felt that subjects
would simply rely on the figures in the liability section of the Statement of Financial
Position, due to the use of the technical term 'liabilities' in the question. This would

not help discover if they simply followed instructions and gave the number as
reported in the liability section. To get around this problem, the question was
immediately repeated, this time using non-technical terminology that is '[Wlhich
company will have to pay the most cash to outsiders?' It was felt that the subjects
would be less likely to rely on the figures in the liability section of the Statement of
Financial Position due to the use of the non-technical language and the fact that the
question was asked twice in a row. This should have biased results to subjects looking
elsewhere for the answer and not simply relying on the reported figures.

Table 6.6 shows the dollar impact in each set when operating lease disclosures are
added to reported liabilities.

TABLE 6.6
Differences between reported and adiusted liabilitv levels

Reported liabilities

Set l

Set 2

($000)

($000)

52,5 14

52,5 14

202,802

Set 4

Set 5

($000)

($000)

52,5 14

184,907

184,907

50,640

184,907

202,802

50,640

206,2 13

206,213

206,213

202,802

203,298

COA

COA

COA

COB

COB

Set 3
($000)

Company A
Reported liabilities
Company B
Impact on liabilities
when operating
leases are included
Company with the
highest adjusted
amount of liabilities.

Table 6.6 shows that there were sizeable differences in the highest reported liability
levels and the adjusted liability levels (those in the lowest panel of the table) for sets
2, 3 and 5. These differences should have made it easier for subjects to see that the
highest reported figures were less than the adjusted figures if they had evaluated the
disclosed information on leases as representing liabilities.

The subjects in Group 1 ignored these hints and gave responses that were, in the
majority of cases, clearly from the reported figures in the Statement of Financial
Position (see Table 6.2, above). The source of the other responses could not be
determined. The main result that emerged from question 6 is that no subject included
the notes on operating leases when determining how much a company would have to
pay to outsiders. This result supports hypothesis 2.

2.3.3 Possible reasons for the failure to evaluate overating- leases
There are a number of reasons for the subjects to use reported figures when answering
question 6. It is possible, of course, that they did not take the exercise seriously and so
just grabbed any 'reasonable' number when confronted with a question that was more
challenging than previous questions.

It is also possible that their responses support the claims of Bouwman (1982) and
Anderson (1988) that non-professional investors interpret numbers naively. It seems
clear that the members of Group 1 were convinced the notes did not contain any
information that would supersede the reported figures. In other words, the only
significant information was contained in the reported figures.

Some support for this claim is found in an analysis of the responses to question 6.
This question required subjects to identify which company had to pay the most to
outsiders, as well as state the amount that needed to be paid. When the individual
responses were examined, it became apparent that subjects were not going to move
from the reported figures, even though question 6 immediately followed a question
that appeared similar to the previous question. A number of subjects responded to
question 6 by entering the same number that they had entered for question 5. This is
shown in Table 6.7. These subjects ignored the hint that was provided by the
proximity of the two questions dealing with liabilities.

TABLE 6.7
Source of responses to questions 5 and 6

I Set No
1

Percentage of students who gave identical
responses to questions 5 and6
10%

The responses of subjects who did not use the same figure in both questions 5 and 6
are also interesting. This suggests that these subjects also failed to incorporate any
new information from the notes.

Table 6.8 provides a breakdown of where the most common identifiable responses
came from for question 6.

TABLE 6.8
Source and frequency of identified responses to question 6
All sets
Total liabilities
Total current liabilities
Dividends
Accounts payable
Dividends and current liabilities

This table shows that approximately 90 percent of identified responses to question 6
were totals of accounts payable, dividends payable, total current liabilities and other
figures which were essentially subsets of the reported total liabilities.

Responses that were simply totals and subtotals, such as total current liabilities and
total liabilities were clearly based on reported numbers in the statements, rather than
disclosures in the notes. It is less clear if figures for dividends, accounts payable and
dividends were obtained from the notes or from the statements, as these figures were
both reported and disclosed.

One subject who analysed set 3 subtracted the operating lease liability from both the
current liabilities and the non-current liabilities. This may be an indication that the
subject used the notes when responding to this question. However, an examination of

the subject's paper shows that he or she subtracted the individual amounts that were
reported in the statements, rather than subtracting the total operating lease figure in
the notes. Therefore it is not clear that the subject obtained the information from the
notes. In any case, by subtracting, rather than adding, the operating leases from the
total liabilities, the subject showed he or she did not evaluate operating lease
obligations correctly, that is as being a future cash outflow.

An examination of the responses in Table 6.8 is revealing, as it shows that these
subjects seem to be fixed on the reported figures and so produced responses that are
not very 'sensible'. For example, it seems strange that 20 subjects would think that
total payments to outsiders would only be dividends.

It seems as though these

subjects realised that the reported balance of liabilities was not the correct response
but they were unable or unwilling to incorporate the disclosed information. This
behaviour may be due to a nalve interpretation of the figures, that is, only reported
figures are significant. This result may provide support for Kozrninsky's (1977)
argument regarding the impact of labelling and placement of headings. It seems clear
that subjects did not feel they had to leave the area that they had interpreted as
defining the liabilities and assets of the companies. The borders of these areas seem to
have been identified by the labels in the Statement of Financial Position. Therefore it
was not necessary to look in the notes for information relating to assets and liabilities.

2.4 Responses of the non-professional investors (Group 2)
Unfortunately, the finding relating to questions 3 and 4 that was found in sets 2 and 5
could not be tested against the responses of Group 2, the non-professional investors,

as all the members of this group were given set 1 to analyse. There were not enough
participants in this group to allow more than one set to be analysed.

2.4.1 Abilitv to evaluate disclosures relating to operating lease assets
Like the members of Group 1, the members of Group 2 generally relied on the
reported subtotals when answering questions 3 and 4. However, one member of
Group 2 appears to have incorporated information in the notes into his or her
responses to questions 3 and 4. This subject deducted the operating lease assets from
the balances of the asset accounts for one of the companies and reached a conclusion
on that basis. This subject, when answering question 5, also subtracted the operating
lease obligations from the amount of liabilities a company reported. This would
indicate a problem evaluating the nature of operating lease assets and obligations.
However, in question 6, this subject evaluated operating leases correctly. Another
member of Group 2 presented the same (wrong) numbers in response to questions 3
and 4, without explanation. Possibly this subject misread the question and thought it
asked for the company with the lowest number of assets under control. Alternatively,
he or she may have thought the leased assets were not under the control of the
company, ie the assets had been leased to other companies for lease income. These
speculations could explain these responses for questions 3 and 4.

2.4.2 Abilitv to evaluate disclosures relating to operating lease liabilities
Group 2 were quite different to Group 1 in the way they answered question 6. Five
members (about 45 percent) of Group 2 included operating lease information obtained
from the notes in their calculations relating to which company would have to pay the

most to outsiders. This would indicate that at least some members of this group were
able to evaluate operating lease information when it was disclosed.

Three members of Group 2 gave responses that came from the Statement of Financial
Position. Only one of these three subjects responded with the total liabilities figure, a
figure that was commonly used by the members of Group 1 when answering this
question. The other two subjects responded with the totals of accounts payable and
borrowings. These were reported in the Statement of Financial Position. These figures
were also disclosed in the notes. Therefore it is not possible to say if the subject relied
on the reported figures or the notes when responding to the question.

Three members of the group failed to provide a dollar amount for this question. All of
these subjects nominated Company B as the company with the highest amount to
repay. This is not the correct answer when the operating leases are taken into account.
In set 1, if the undiscounted operating lease payments were taken into account,
Company A would need to repay around $207m. This is more than the $202.8m that
is reported for Company B. This suggests that these subjects relied on the reported
numbers, or at least failed to incorporate the information relating to operating leases
into account when responding to question 6.

Part 3. Weighting

3.1 Introduction
The final stage of the decision making process, according to the model used by
Maines and McDaniel (2000) required the decision maker to assign a weight to the

variable of concern when making the decision. In their analysis, Maines and
McDaniel (2000) examined whether format affects influenced subjects' judgments of
corporate and managerial performance due to differences in the weightings the
subjects gave to volatility of unrealized gains and losses.

In the current research, weighting refers to whether format effects relating to
operating leases influenced the subjects' company selection. It was expected that if
subjects were influenced by format effects relating to this variable, they would have
preferred one company to the other. If they were not influenced by format effects,
they should have been indifferent between companies as they would have seen that
both companies were essentially the same. Of course, this presupposes that subjects
were able to identify and evaluate operating leases.

The current research found that most subjects were unable to evaluate operating
leases. It is expected that this will have an impact on the ability of subjects to assign a
sensible weight to this variable when selecting a company. The implications for the
Maines and McDaniel (2000) model stemming from the failure to evaluate operating
leases are discussed below.

3.2 Design issues in Maines and McDaniel's (2000) model

Part of Maines and McDaniel's (2000) model is reproduced below. It is significant
that there is no 'yeslno' choice between the 'Information evaluation' box and the
'Information weighting' box on the top line of the diagram below.

FIGURE 6.2
The Maines and McDaniel(2000) model

I

information
acquired?

IS

-1

1-

No information
evaluation

,I weighting 1

No information

(Source; Maines and McDaniel, 2000, p 184)

Figure 6.2 shows that information weighting can only occur if the information is
acquired (identified in the current research) and evaluated. Unfortunately, their model
does not explicitly show how the weighting process is affected if information is
incorrectly evaluated. They seem to assume either that the information will always be
evaluated correctly, or that if it is evaluated incorrectly, this will feed into the weight
the information is given. The second interpretation simply means that poorly
evaluated information will be inappropriately weighted. This seems intuitively sound.

3.3 Results
The weighting test requires that subjects identify, then evaluate operating leases
correctly. If these requirements are imposed on the subjects' responses, the weighting
test will only be applied to, at most three subjects, all from Group 2. Table 6.9 shows
that only three subjects were able to partially or completely identify 'capital and

leasing commitments', the note with the disclosures relating to operating leases, and
then evaluate it correctly as a liability.

TABLE 6.9
Com~anvselection. evaluation and identification
Subject

Company

Evaluate Identify operating leases*

No

selected

1

A

2

A

3

B

4

A

5

B

6

Indifferent

7

A

8

B

N

0

9

B

Y

0

10

B

-

0

11

A

N

0

leases?

(l=yes, 0.5 = partially, O=no, -=no response)

This table shows that of these three subjects in Group 2, one each selected Company
A, Company B and one was indifferent between the companies. The implication of
this table is that approximately 2 percent2 of all subjects who undertook the

Three subjects were able to identify and evaluate operating leases of the 130 subjects whose results
were used. Group 1 was made up of 147 members. 28 members of this group were in Set 4, which was
not used for the evaluation test as both companies reported lease obligations. Group 2 was composed of
1 1 members. Therefore the usable responses for the evaluation test were 147 - 28 + 11 = 130.

experiment were able to successfully identify and evaluate operating lease
information. Of this tiny proportion, only one in three stated that he or she was
indifferent between the companies, possibly because he or she saw through the format
effects and realised that the companies were essentially the same.

It might have been possible, though unlikely, that students may not have been able to
articulate their evaluation of operating leases. This is unlikely because subjects were
only required to show that companies with operating leases would need to pay more,
see the discussion on questions 5 and 6. This simply requires the subjects to add the
lease disclosures to the reported figures.

However, it is possible that some students may not have been able to express their
ability to evaluate the disclosures relating to operating leases. Therefore, it was
decided to see if those who had performed better in the identification tests were able
to make better decisions (weight the information better) than those who failed to
identify operating leases. In other words, would identification alone be enough to
assist subjects to weight the information they identified correctly?

3.3.1 Is identification enough for a~prowiateweighting to occur?

A further examination was conducted to see if it was possible for subjects in Group 1
who had at least partially identified the term 'Capital and lease commitments' to make
the correct decision, that is state that the investor would be indifferent between
companies. It would be expected that subjects would be unable to correctly weight the
information, even if they had identified the information, but were unable to evaluate
it.

Cross tabulation shows that there was no significant difference in the company
selected and whether subjects in Group 1 identified the term 'Capital and lease
commitments', (p= 0.536). This confirms the prediction that simply identifying a
variable was not enough to assist in weighting the information in a way that produced
the desired result, a good decision. Of the 33 subjects in Group 1 who identified
leases, 24 selected CO A or B, rather than being indifferent between the companies.
This shows that these subjects did not weight the term appropriately, most probably
due to a failure to evaluate its content.

This result is robust to changes in the classification of partially correct responses.
Responses in this group were reclassified twice. The first reclassification treated the
responses as being correct. The second reclassification of partially correct responses
classified them as incorrect. Cross tabulations of company selection were then
conducted on both reclassifications. In both cases, no significant differences were
reported between company selection and identification of the term 'Capital and
leasing commitments.'

This shows that identification of the variable is a necessary, but insufficient step to
weighing the information correctly. This would indicate that, in this experiment, cue
selection may have been a limiting factor for the majority of subjects, as they failed to
identify (acquire) the disclosed information on operating leases. For those who were
able to identify the variable, cue weighting was the limiting factor.

3.4 Summarv
The vast majority of subjects were unable to weight the information on operating
leases appropriately. According to the model used by Maines and McDaniel (2000),
this result is explicable by the failure of a significant proportion of subjects to identify
(acquire) the information. It also appears that failure to evaluate the information had a
severe impact on the ability of subjects to weight the information appropriately when
selecting companies.

Part 4. The significance of operating lease information to the investing decision

1.1 Introduction
This part of the discussion examines whether subjects indicated that leasing
information is material, that is something that would affect their investment decision.
If subjects stated that operating leases would not affect their investing decisions, there
is no need to be concerned with the fact that the majority of subjects in the current
research were unable to evaluate operating leases because the information was
immaterial in the decision-making by non-professional investors.

However, if a significant proportion of subjects stated that information relating to
operating leases is material to their investing decision, there is clearly a need to
change the present accounting treatment of leases, given the fact that so many subjects
were unable to evaluate disclosures relating to leases.

This discussion will examine whether there are differences between subjects who
found operating leases information to be material. It will also examine whether
subjects felt that leases should be reported or disclosed.

1.2 Overview
The final part of the survey instrument, (Part D) sought to determine the value of
operating lease information to subjects when making an investment decision. Sets 1 to

3 compared the existing accounting treatment of operating leases to three alternatives.
Sets 4 and 5 compared a capitalised leases approach to two alternatives. The results
from sets 4 and 5 are not reported here.

Part D in sets 1 to 3 reproduced the note detailing the operating lease commitments
faced by Company A in each of these sets. Subjects were then asked the following
questions.

Does this information affect your decision of which company you would
prefer to invest in? Y N

(Please circle your choice)

WhyIWhy not?

Do you think this information should be reported in the Statement of Financial
Position or left in the notes? Why?

The subjects were then asked to indicate the significance of this information when
making an investing decision on a seven point Likert scale. The lower numbers

indicated the information was not significant and the higher numbers indicated more
significance.

1.3 Desim issues
A problem arose with the responses to the question asking where operating lease
information should be placed. A number of students (approximately 40) responded by
saying 'yes'. Perhaps these students meant to indicate that the information should be
reported in the statement, as a number of them then went on to say things like, 'it is
easier to see'. However, a decision was made to exclude those responses that did not
explicitly state where the information should be presented. This is just as arbitrary a
choice as one that deemed the responses to favour reporting. However, it was felt that
it would be more unacceptable to include these ambiguous responses than it would be
to exclude them from the analysis. This prevents criticism of biasing the responses in
a particular way. Unfortunately this decision reduces the size of the cells.

Another factor that reduces the size of the cells is the use of the Likert scale. A
number of points on the scale were not ticked more than 5 times. In order to get
around this small cell size problem, a decision was made to treat all ticks on the scale
between 1 to 3 as one group, labelled 'low'. All ticks between 3.5 and 5 were grouped
and labelled 'medium'. All ticks from 5.5 to 7 were grouped and labelled 'high'.

2. Results

2.1 Group 1

2.1.1 Impact of operating leases information on the investment decision
Approximately 65 percent of valid responses by subjects in Group 1 who responded
to this question indicated that the information on leases would affect their investing
decision. A cross-tabulation was performed to see if those subjects in Group 1 who
mentioned leases in Part A of the survey instrument responded similarly to those who
did not mention leases. Results of this cross-tabulation are shown in Table 6.10.

TABLE 6.10
Mentioning leases and materiality of lease information
Mention

ADJ-AFFE

leases?

No

Yes

Count

18

38

56

Percentage

32.1%

67.9%

100.0%

Count

11

16

27

Percentage

40.7%

59.3%

100.0%

Count

29

54

83

Percentage

34.9%

65.1%

100.0%

No

Yes

Total

Total

Key
ADJ-AFFE = "Would the leasing information affect your decision?"
Mention leases? = Whether the subject mentioned leases in Part A

There was not a statistically significant difference between the two groups (p =
0.444). The responses of those who did

mention operating leases are of some

interest. It would be expected that information revealed to them in Part D of the
survey instrument would be more likely to be a surprise to this subgroup, than would
be the case for those who mentioned leases in the company selection process. This is
because the group that did not mention the leases in the company selection stage may
have either failed to identify the information, or identified lease information, but
thought so little of it that they ignored it. Table 6.10 shows that around 68 percent of
those who did not mention leases said the information would have affected their
decision.

Table 6.10 shows that a smaller proportion of those who mentioned leases in Part A
said that the information in Part D would have affected their decision. These subjects
would be less likely to say the information revealed in Part D would have affected
their decision, as they had already mentioned operating leases, and thought they had
evaluated this information in their response when selecting their preferred company.

The responses of those that mentioned leases and said the information did not affect
their decision (n=l l ) raises an interesting issue. These responses could be interpreted
as saying the information in Part D of the survey would not affect the decision of the
11 subjects who mentioned leases, as they were already aware of the information,
because they mentioned leases in Part A of the survey instrument. This suggests that
these subjects were over-confident and poorly calibrated. They mentioned leases but

were unable to evaluate the nature of these leases. No one evaluated the operating
leases correctly.

2.1.2 Preferred presentation of operating lease information

As shown above, a large proportion of subjects in Group 1 failed to answer the
question in a manner that could be analysed. Therefore, the discussion below needs to
be treated as being very tentative. Based on the usable data, the responses of the
subjects in Group 1 to this question were effectively split evenly. Table 6.1 1 shows
that around 53 percent responded that the information should be reported, while 47
percent responded that the information should be left in the notes.

TABLE 6.11
Preferred placement and materialitv
Preferred Placement

ADJ-AFFE No

Yes

Total

Total

Statement

Note

Count

10

13

Percentage

43.5%

Count

17

Percentage

60.7%

Count

27

Percentage

52.9%

23

56.5% 100.0%
11

28

39.3% 100.0%
24

51

47.1% 100.0%

Key

ADJ-Am;E = "Would the leasing information affect your decision?"

Table 6.1 1 shows that approximately 61 percent of subjects who indicated that leasing
information would have affected their decision preferred leasing information to be
reported, rather than disclosed in the notes. However, there was not a significant
difference in preferred placement between those who said their decision would have
been affected by the leasing information and those who said their decision would not
have been affected by the information.

Table 6.12 gives some indication of which subjects in Group 1 preferred the
information to be reported and those who wanted it to remain in the notes.

TABLE 6.12
Preferred placement as a function of materialitv and whether subiects mentioned
leases
Preferred Placement
Statement
Note
Count
4
10
Percentage
28.6%
71.4%
Yes Count
14
9
Percentage
60.9%
39.1%
Total
Count
18
19
Percentage
48.6%
51.4%
ADJ-AFFE No
Count
6
3
Percentage
66.7%
33.3%
Yes Count
3
2
Percentage
60.0%
40.0%
Total
Count
9
5
Percentage
64.3%
35.7%

Mention
leases?
ADJ-AFFE No
No

I

Yes

I

Key

ADJ-AFFE = "Would the leasing information affect your decision?"
Mention leases? = Whether the subject mentioned leases in Part A

Total
14
100.0%
23
100.0%
37
100.0%
g 1
100.0%
5
100.0% 1
14
100.0%

Approximately 64 percent of those who mentioned leases in Part A of the survey
preferred leasing information to be reported, rather than disclosed. On the other hand,
subjects in Group 1 who did not mention leases were split almost equally between
reporting this information and disclosing it. It may be of note that approximately 61
percent of those who did not mention leases and whose decision would have been
affected by the lease information indicated that they preferred the information to be
reported, rather than disclosed. This is explicable if they felt the placement of the
information was a factor in their failure to consider the information significant enough
to include it in their response, when selecting their preferred company in Part A of the
survey.

There is a marginally significant difference in preferences for the way the information
should be presented within the group of those that did not mention leases (p= 0.054).
It will be noted that those who did not mention leases, but whose investing decision
would have been affected by lease information generally preferred to have lease
information reported (n = 14) than disclosed (n = 9).

There is no significant difference relating to desired presentation format for those
subjects that mentioned leases in Part A (p = 0.804). However, this result has a
problem with small cell size.

2.1.3 The significance of leasing information when making an investment decision
Table 6.13 presents the raw data distribution of the subjects' perception of the value
of lease information.

TABLE 6.13
Value of lease information
Likert Frequency

Percent

score

Cumulative
Percent

1.00
2.00
3.00
3.50
4.00
4.50
5.00
5.50
6.00
7.00

Total

Table 6.13 shows that approximately 22 percent of responses were less than or equal
to the mid point of 4 on the scale. In other words, around 78 percent of responses
indicted that the information was of moderate to high levels of significance. The
distribution is heavily skewed to the higher numbers, that is the area that indicates the
information is more significant.

As stated above, in order to circumvent the problem of small cell sizes, an arbitrary
decision was made to treat all ticks on the Likert scale between 1 to 3 as one group,
labelled 'low'. All ticks between 3.5 and 5 were grouped and labelled 'medium'. All

ticks from 5.5 to 7 were grouped and labelled 'high'. This variable was labelled
ADJ-VAL (adjusted value of the information).

The frequency distribution of this variable is shown in Table 6.14.

TABLE 6.14
Adiusted value of lease information
Rank Frequency Valid Percent Cumulative
Percent
Low

9

11.1

11.1

Medium

33

40.7

51.9

High

39

48.1

100.0

Total

81

100.0

This shows that around 89 percent of the adjusted responses indicated that leasing
information had a moderate or high value. Approximately 48 percent ranked leasing
information in the top 1.5 marks (7-5.5).

Table 6.15 shows that those subjects in Group 1 who rated the value of the lease
information highly were more likely to indicate that this information would have
affected their decision.

TABLE 6.15
Materialitv and value of lease information
ADJ-AFFE

ADJ-VAL

Low

Medium

High

Total

Total

No

Yes

Count

6

3

9

Percentage

66.7%

33.3%

100.0%

Count

13

19

32

Percentage

40.6%

59.4%

100.0%

Count

10

29

39

Percentage

25.6%

74.4%

100.0%

Count

29

51

80

Percentage

36.3%

63.8%

100.0%

Key

ADJ-AFFE = "Would the leasing information affect your decision?"
ADJ-VAL = An indication of the value of lease information to the subject.

There was a marginally significant difference (p = 0.058) between those who rated
lease information highly and the materiality of the information to the subjects.

Table 6.16 gives an indication of which subjects in Group l thought leasing
information was valuable when making their investment decision.

TABLE 6.16
Value of information, materialitv, and whether subiects mentioned leases
Mention ADJ-AFFE
leases?
No

I

No
Yes

Yes

No
Yes

I

Total

ADJ-VAL
Count
Percentaee
Count
Percentage
Count
Percentage
Count
Percentage
Count
Percentage
Count
Percentage

Low
6
33.3%
2
5.4%
8
14.5%
1
7.1 %
1
4.0%

Total
Medium High
7
5
38.9% 27.8%
14
21
37.8% 56.8%
21
26
38.2% 47.3%
6
5
54.5% 45.5%
5
8
35.7% 57.1%
11
13
44.0% 52.0%

18
100.0%
37 1
100.0%
55
100.0%
11
100.0%
14
100.0%
25
100.0% 1

Key

ADJ-AFFE = "Would the leasing information affect your decision?"
Mention leases? = Whether the subject mentioned leases in Part A

ADJ-VAL = An indication of the value of lease information to the subject

It was expected that the majority of subjects in Group 1 would state that information
on operating leases was important in this experiment, if only due to the huge size of
the figures relating to operating leases in the financial reports. In other words, the size
of the operating leases may have biased responses to this question. Therefore, care
must be taken when interpreting these responses. Future research would need to be

carried out using operating leases that represent smaller proportions of reported
liabilities.

The most noteworthy issue to arise from Table 6.16 is the high proportion of subjects
in Group 1 who did not mention leases and said the information would have affected
their decision. Approximately 95 percent of this group indicated that lease
information was either of medium or high value when making an investment decision.
This group was the largest of the four groups analysed in this cross tabulation. It was
nearly double the size of the next largest group (n = 37 v n = 18). There is a
statistically significant difference within the set of subjects in Group 1 who did not
mention leases (p = 0.015). However, it must be pointed out that one cell was
undersized.

2.1.4 Summary of Group 1 responses to Part D
Subjects in Group 1 who did not mention leases generally indicated that the
information on operating leases in Part D would have affected their decision. This
indicates that the information is viewed as material. A slight majority of the useable
responses for the subjects in Group 1 also indicated a preference for the information
to be reported, rather than being disclosed. It is speculated that the majority of the unuseable responses to the question on where lease information should be presented,
would have nominated the reporting option. This is due to the general tone of the
responses, an example of this tone is given below.

"Yes, because it is a liability which the company is committed to and has to
pay.. .

9,

This would have supported the argument that leasing information should be reported.
However, these responses were excluded from the analysis.

Subjects in Group 1 who did not mention leases when they selected their company
tended to rate the lease information highly. Approximately 95 percent of these
subjects rated lease information as being either of medium importance or of high
importance. In total, around 47 percent of those who did not mention leases rated the
information on leases as very high. However, it must be acknowledged that the
response may have been artificially high, due to the sheer size of the operating leases,
compared to the total liabilities reported in many companies in this experiment. It is
entirely possible that leasing information would not be ranked so highly in cases
where the size of the lease obligation is much smaller, compared to reported
liabilities. This size effect would need to be examined in future experiments.

The results of the subjects in Group 1 responses to Part D give some support to the
argument that non-professional users consider lease information to be material in
investing decisions. It also reveals that leasing information is highly valued by a large
proportion of subjects in Group 1 It also supports the argument that non - professional
investors think that lease information should be reported, rather than being disclosed.

2.2 Group Two

2.2.1 Introduction

The discussion below presents frequencies of responses and cross tabulations without
statistics as the small population size renders the result of any cross-tabulation
statistically meaningless. The cross tabulations are presented simply to show
frequencies of responses by different subjects.

2.2.2 The effect of operating lease information on companv selection

Members of Group 2 were asked whether the information in Part D would have
affected their choice of company. The results are shown in Table 6.17.

TABLE 6.17
Materialitv of lease information

No

3

27.3

27.3

27.3

Yes

8

72.7

72.7

100.0

Total

11

100.0

100.0

This shows that approximately 73 percent of Group 2 stated that the information
would have affected their decision. This implies the information is material for the
majority of members of this group.

2.2.3. Preferred presentation of operatinn lease information
Members of Group 2 were then asked to state where leasing information should be
presented (PLACE). There were 10 valid responses to this question. One response
was invalid. Table 6.18 shows that 60 percent of the valid responses preferred leasing
information to be reported, rather than being disclosed.

TABLE 6.18
Preferred placement
Frequency Percent Valid Percent Cumulative Percent
Valid

Missing
Total

Reported

6

54.5

60.0

60.0

Notes

2

18.2

20.0

80.0

Indifferent

2

18.2

20.0

100.0

Total

10

90.9

100.0

System

1

9.1

11

100.0

The remaining four subjects were either indifferent to where the information was
presented (n=2), or preferred it to be presented in the notes. Only one of these four
subjects incorporated information contained in the notes when determining the
amount of money that had to be paid to outsiders. This would indicate that most of
these subjects did not evaluate operating leases correctly.

Table 6.19 shows there is no consistent pattern between mentioning leases and
expressing a preference for the placement of lease information.

TABLE 6.19
Preferred placement and whether subiects mentioned leases
Preferred Placement

Reported

Notes

Indifferent

Mention leases?

Total

No

Yes

Count

3

3

6

Percentage

60.0%

60.0%

60.0%

Count

2

Percentage

40.0%

Count
Percentage

Total

Count

5

5

10

Percentage

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

I Mention leases? = Whether the subject mentioned leases in Part A
Those who did not mention leases are split almost evenly on whether lease
information should be reported or disclosed in the notes.

This result is somewhat similar to the result for the subjects in Group 1.
Approximately 64 percent of subjects in Group 1 who mentioned leases preferred
leasing information to be reported, rather than disclosed. On the other hand, the
subjects in Group 1 who did not mention leases were split almost equally between
reporting this information and disclosing it

Ideally, there should be an analysis of the responses of those who evaluated operating
leases correctly, rather than simply mentioning them, and the format of lease
information. Unfortunately, this analysis was impossible for Group 1 as none of the
subjects in this group evaluated operating leases correctly. However, such an analysis
is possible on the results of Group 2, as around 50 percent of these subjects evaluated
operating leases correctly. It must be stressed again that small cell sizes makes this a
primitive analysis.

Table 6.20 shows the preferred placement of operating lease information for Group 2.

TABLE 6.20
Preferred placement and ability to evaluate leases
PrefeRred
Reported
Evaluate leases?

Total

I

Placement

Total

Notes In different

No

3

1

Yes

3

1

6

2

2

6
4

2

10

Evaluate leases = Did the subject evaluate leases correctly?

This table shows that the majority of those who correctly evaluated operating leases
preferred operating leases to be reported, rather than disclosed. This finding is
interesting, as these subjects would have been expected to be less concerned with
reporting this information, as they were able to evaluate it, despite its placement in the

notes. The result for those who failed to evaluate operating leases is less clear. Fifty
percent of this subgroup preferred leases to be reported. This is explicable if the
subjects felt they had been tricked by the placement of the information. The remaining
members of this subgroup preferred the information to be disclosed (n=l), or were
indifferent (n=2). These responses do not seem logical, unless they felt they would
not make the same mistake in the future.

In this cross tabulation, anyone (n=3) who Idid not exp)licitly incorporate the
disclosures relating to leases in their answer relating to the amount that needed to be
paid to outsiders was treated as failing to evaluate operating leases correctly.

2.2.4 Significance of leasing information
Finally, members of Group 2 were asked to indicate how significant leasing
information was when making investing decisions. The responses are shown in Table
6.21.

TABLE 6.21
Significance and materialitv of lease information
Affect decision?
No
SIGNIF

Low

Medium

High

Total

Count

1

Percentage

33.3%

Count

1

Percentage

33.3%

Count

1

Percentage

33.3%

Count

3

Percentage

100.0%

Total
Yes

4

5

50.0% 45.5%
4

5

50.0% 45.5%
8

11

100.0% 100.0%

Key
SIGNIF = A measure of how significant lease information was to subjects.
Affect decision? = Would lease information have affected the subjects' decision?

Table 6.21 shows that only one subject rated lease information as being of low
significance. The other 10 subjects rated the information as having a medium to high

level of significance. Two of the three subjects who indicated that the lease
information in Part D would not affect their decision still ranked the information as
having a medium to high level of significance (SIGNIF). In addition, all those who
indicated that the information in Part D would have affected their decision indicated
that lease information was of a medium to high level of significance.

2.2.5 Summary of Group 2 responses to Part D
A clear majority of Group 2 stated that operating lease information was material to
their decision-making. Generally they preferred operating leases to be reported rather
than disclosed.

2.3 Summary of results for Part D
Both groups responded clearly that operating lease information would have affected
their investment decision. As would be expected, this result was more pronounced for
those subjects who had not mentioned operating leases in Part A of the survey.

However, the subjects were more evenly split as to where leasing information should
be presented. A slight majority of subjects in Group 1 stated a preference for reporting
this information, rather than disclosing it. Interestingly, the subjects in Group 2 who
evaluated operating leases preferred the information to be reported.

Chapter 7 Discussion of results

Part 1 General discussion
The results in this study appear to be at some odds with those reported by Maines and
McDaniel (2000). These authors predicted and found that non-professional investors
were able to identify and evaluate the variable of interest in their study,
comprehensive earnings, no matter which of three formats was used to present the
information. The next part of the discussion attempts to identify factors that may be
responsible for the difference in results between these studies.

1.1 Variables studied
Maines and McDaniel(2000) examined whether non-professional investors were able
to identify, evaluate and weigh comprehensive income measures when they were
presented under different formats. The current research examines whether nonprofessional investors were able to evaluate operating leases when the information
was presented under formats that disclosed or rather than reported the information.

Possibly the difference in variables studied may have influenced the results for the
two studies. If the functional fixation literature is to be believed, it is expected that
subjects would be more likely to actively look for and attempt to evaluate information
that relates to profit figures than they would for information that relates to operating
leases. In this sense, operating leases are likely to be much less 'visible' than income
figures to non-professional investors. This is simply an example of the theory
dependence of observation. That is, people will look for information, and interpret it,

in light of their prior beliefs. The popular press and large parts of the financial press
generally emphasise the profit numbers for companies when financial reports are
released. Given the power of the media to influence the public, it is not unexpected
that non-professional investors would be more focussed on that number than others in
the financial reports.

1.2 Experimental design
Maines and McDaniel (2000) used a between subject experimental design. Each
subject received a document containing the financial reports of two companies for the
previous three years. The financial reports for both companies in each document were
prepared using the same format.

The current study used a within-subject design. Each subject received a set of
information containing financial reports of two companies for the previous two years.
Each set contained reports that were prepared under different formats. It was not felt
that this change in experimental design would impair the ability of subjects to
evaluate operating leases. However, it is possible that subjects were confused due to
the mixing of formats within a set. It is possible that this would reduce the ability of
subjects to evaluate leases, as the subjects might have been confused why one
company reported them while the other company disclosed them.

This criticism may be dismissed due to the fact that non-professional investors are
currently required to deal with at least three different versions of presenting lease
information in the real world. A proportion of companies disclose lease information,
others report it, and a third group (such as Delta Airlines) place a numbered note at

the bottom of the liabilities section of the Statement of Financial Position. In other
words, the use of different formats within sets given to subjects does not contradict
conditions presently existing in the external environment.

1.3 Psvcholonical factors
1.3.1 Confirmation bias
Probably the most significant of the psychological factors that affected subjects in the
current study is confirmation bias. A number of researchers have shown that people
will significantly discount or ignore evidence that does not support an earlier held
opinion or view (Choo 1989; Bouwman 1984; Russo, Medvec and Meloy 1996; Jones
and Sugden 2001). Confirmation bias has been shown to be significant even when
subjects are still in the process of making their decision (Russo, Medvec and Molloy,
1996).

It is likely that the sequential approach to financial statement analysis adopted by nonprofessional investors (Bouwman 1984; and Hunton and McEwan 1997) contribute to
confirmation bias forming in the minds of subjects in the current research, as
information relating to leases is contained in the notes and not linked to the reported
figures under existing accounting standards. Therefore, assuming the notes were read
after the reported information had been examined, information relating to operating
leases in the notes is likely to be heavily discounted or even ignored in the evaluation
process, even if the information was identified and mentioned as a factor in the
company selection stage of the experiment (Russo, Medvec, and Molloy, 1996). This
factor is likely to be particularly strong for subjects who analysed reports which used
the existing accounting treatment for operating leases, as this treatment does not show

a note in the Statement of Financial Position relating to operating leases. In addition,
the note itself is placed at some distance from the other notes relating to liabilities.

The size of the operating lease obligations, compared to the reported liabilities, may
have exacerbated this tendency. It would require a lot of confidence for a nonprofessional investor to overturn his or her previously formed opinion on the relative
debt levels of the two companies he or she analysed. It was shown that the liability
levels in sets 1,2, 3, and 5 were adjusted by approximately $153m when the operating
leases were incorporated into the amount that needed to be paid to third parties. This
represented a huge proportional and dollar change from the reported numbers. For
example, in the first three sets, the operating leases were about 300 percent larger than
the reported liabilities of one of the companies. It is possible that the subjects simply
rejected the operating lease information as it radically affected the image they had
formed of the two companies.

It is interesting to note that operating leases were mentioned by approximately one
third of students when they selected their companies in Part A of the experiment. This
variable was the third most frequently mentioned (n = 48), after assets (n = 51), and
debt/liabilities (n = 85). This indicates that approximately one third of students
thought operating leases were significant enough to mention when selecting their
companies. Unfortunately, they did not know how to evaluate this information.

1.3.2 Inabilitv to see relations between pieces of information
One of the major differences between the decision making techniques of novices and
experts is the inability, or reduced ability, of novices to "chunk pieces of information

together and form a coherent understanding of what the pieces of information mean
(Choo 1989, p 117).

The blank linked note format provides a glimpse of the scope of this problem. This
format placed the operating lease information on the Statement of Financial Position
but replaced the associated figure with an asterisk. It was found that even with this
format, subjects in Group 1 were unable to evaluate operating leases correctly. No
subject who received this format showed that they added the disclosed figures for
operating leases to the reported figures for liabilities.

It is possible that the failure of subjects in Group 1 to follow the blank linked note to
the information on operating leases is another example of the way "non-professional
investors rely on the financial statements to provide signals about the nature and

importance of ...informationw(Maines and McDaniel 2000, p18 1, emphasis added).
This might explain why the blank linked note did not provide a strong enough signal
for the subjects to evaluate the operating leases. Quite simply, they may have thought
that if the item wasn't important enough to have a figure reported, then it must not be
important at all.

The inability of subjects to follow a blank linked note to the disclosed information
was a particularly striking example of the inability of novices to join pieces of
information together when making decisions. It is unlikely that subjects were
confused by this type of format as most of them would not have enough experience to
realise that such formatting was novel. Unfortunately, due to small numbers, this
finding could not be tested against Group 2.

1.3.3 Cue selection and cue weighting
A significant body of research has examined the significance of cue selection and cue
weighting in the decision making process for non-expert decision makers. The
literature is divided on the relative importance of cue selection and cue weighting to
the decision making process. Various authors have found that the relative importance
of cue selection and cue weighting changes across situations. This literature was
discussed earlier and does not need to be discussed in detail here.

The current research found that a significant number of subjects selected appropriate
cues, such as debt levels, operating profits, asset levels and leasing information, when
selecting their company. However, a number of these cues were not evaluated
correctly, as the responses to questions relating to asset levels and obligations to pay
outsiders indicated.

The difference in the subjects7 ability to evaluate cues creates a problem when
interpreting these results in light of the divided literature on cue selection and cue
weighting. For example, Simnett and Trotman (1989) reported that cue selection was
the limiting factor when subjects were allowed to select their own cues. These authors
found that cue weighting only became a limiting factor when the cues were selected
for the subjects. This result was also found by Shantou (1984) (referred to in Bonner,
1990). On the other hand, Bedard and Biggs (1991) reported that the majority of their
subjects were able to select appropriate cues, but a far smaller proportion was able to
weight the cues appropriately.

The current research does not support the results of Sirnnett and Trotman (1989).
Approximately one third of subjects in Group 1 selected the cue 'operating leases'
when selecting companies. This would imply that two thirds of the subjects did not
select appropriate cues. Therefore cue selection was a limiting factor for two thirds of
the subjects in Group 1.

However, not one of the subjects in Group 1 who selected the cue operating leases
was able to evaluate it any better than was the case for subjects in Group 1 who had
not selected it. Possibly, the main reason for this failure to support the previous
findings lies in the experimental design of the current research. In this work, subjects
were asked to evaluate operating leases indirectly. They were asked to determine the
amount of cash that would need to be paid to outsiders. The subjects were not asked
explicitly to evaluate the cue operating leases. This could have been achieved by
asking the subjects to specifically comment on the impact of the operating leases on
the future cash flows of the company. It was decided not to ask such a direct question,
as this research is concerned with determining whether subjects could evaluate
operating lease information without prompting.

Of course, the criticism can be made that subjects may have wanted to know what the
term operating leases referred to, but felt unable to seek clarification due to the nature
of the experiment. In the real world there would be no such limitation on this sort of
information gathering. This criticism is valid and is an acknowledged limitation of
this experimental research. The best way to overcome such a problem would be to
conduct the experiment individually and let the subjects know that queries will be
answered. Obviously, this increases the cost and complexity of the experiment.

The current research raises the possibility that the complexity of the cue is also a
limiting factor to be considered in the context of cue selection and cue weighting.
Generally, subjects in Group 1 in the current research were able to select and evaluate
the basic cues correctly. They were unable to evaluate a more complex cue, such as
operating leases.

1.4 Task complexity
The results for the subjects in Group 1 can be interpreted as showing there was a
major experimental design flaw, in that no subjects were able to evaluate operating
leases when they were disclosed, due to the complexity of the survey instrument.
Alternatively, the results may be interpreted as showing that the current presentation
of operating leases is too complex for non-professional investors to evaluate.

The implications of these interpretations are quite serious. If the experimental design
is the cause for the failure to evaluate operating leases, the experiment needs to be
repeated on a different group with a better designed survey instrument. On the other
hand, if the survey instrument is not to blame and the results are due to the formatting
of operating lease information itself, then the presentation of this information needs to
be modified. Therefore, the complexity of the instrument and the task complexity
need to be considered.

As was seen in Chapter 2, the task complexity literature can be broken into two major
schools of thought. Wood (1986) and Campbell (1988) argue for the development of

an objective measure of task complexity. However, implementation of this approach
seems improbable due to measurement problems.

Another approach to task complexity is to define it in subjective terms. In this case,
task A could be compared to task B and one would be found more complex than the
other. This approach is used widely in the psychological literature (Seijts and Latharn
2001; Latham and Seijts 1999; and Huber 1985). The current research has adopted a
subjective measure of task complexity when examining whether task complexity was
a factor in the evaluation of operating leases by subjects. This is due to the
measurement problems of the objective approach suggested by Wood (1986) and
Campbell (1988).

A subjective measure of task complexity has two major dimensions. These
dimensions are the complexity of one task relative to another, and the ability of
different groups to deal with the complexity of a given task. It is expected that
different groups could find the same task had different levels of complexity,
depending on the skills of the group members.

Some concept of the relative complexity of evaluating operating leases is provided in
Table 7.1.

TABLE 7.1
Proportion of non-responses to questions 3.4.5. and 6

Question No

Proportion of non-responses

This shows that question 6 (the question asking how much the company would have
to pay to outsiders) was the least frequently answered question. As was shown above,
there is a significant difference in the response rates to question 6, compared to
questions 3 , 4 and 5.

This could be interpreted as some evidence that students found this question more
complex than the others. However, this is not to say that it was excessively complex.
The fact that a large number of students attempted to answer this question would
indicate that they felt it was possible to answer.

The second element of subjective complexity, the ability of different groups to deal
with the same task is tested when the results of Group 1 are compared with those of

Group 2. The ability of these two groups to evaluate operating leases is quite
different. Around 45 percent of the subjects in Group 2 showed that they could
evaluate the information on operating leases. This would indicate that the question
was not impossible to understand by some non-professional investors. This provides
some evidence that the survey instrument, in relation to question 6 was complex, but
not excessively so.

It is possible to speculate that those members of Group 2 who evaluated operating
leases were much more sophisticated users than other members of Group 2 and the
subjects in Group 1, and therefore unlikely to view the task as being very complex.
This would imply a mismatch between the different groups, as one group would be
qualitatively different to the other. Therefore any comparison between the groups
would be invalid.

This issue can be dealt with in two ways. Firstly, this research accepts that nonprofessional investors will be a diverse group, extending from very unsophisticated
users right through to very sophisticated users. It would be improper to deliberately
exclude the more sophisticated non-professional investors on the basis that they were
different to the 'average' non-professional investor.

Secondly, up to three members of Group 2 would be expected to have had some
training in financial statement analysis. These members are the chartered accountant
and the two business analysts. Assuming these members evaluated operating leases
correctly, the other 2 members who evaluated operating leases correctly did not
appear to be highly trained or have extensive experience analysing financial reports.

This would provide some support for the claim that the issue itself, and the survey
instrument were not excessively complex.

1.5 Summan,

In general, the subjects in Group 1 relied almost totally on reported figures and
seemed unable to evaluate the impact of operating leases on the cash flows of the
companies. This finding was not as strongly repeated in the non-professional investor
group (Group 2). Around 45 percent of this group correctly evaluated operating leases
as a form of debt. Both groups tended to rely very heavily on reported numbers in the
questions relating to assets. Only one member in each group attempted to incorporate
the information in the notes into his or her response to these questions.

Due to the mixed nature of the subjects in Group 2, it should be expected that some of
them would do better than subjects in Group 1. It is still worrying that around 50
percent of the subjects in Group 2 were unable to evaluate operating leases (as
affecting the cash flows of companies). Of course, this result needs to be treated
cautiously, due to the very small number of participants in subjects in Group 2.

Bearing in mind the caveat relating to the size of Group 2, it is apparent that
significant proportions of both groups were unable to evaluate disclosures relating to
operating leases.

Part 2 Reconciliation of the results obtained by both groups

2.1 Introduction
The fact that approximately 45 percent of the members of Group 2 were able to
evaluate operating leases correctly, while none of the members of Group 1 were able
to do so raises some major issues regarding the validity of using students as surrogates
for non-professional investors. An obvious conclusion that might be drawn is that
students are inappropriate for this type of research due to the fact that they are
qualitatively different to the group they are being used as proxies for.

However, this criticism has been dealt with in a previous discussion on the merits of
using students as surrogates for retail investors. The literature shows clearly that it is
common practice to use students as surrogates, if they are not expected to behave as
experts or experienced professionals (Abdel-khalik, 1974; Ashton and Kramer, 1980;
Frederick and Libby, 1986; Abdolmohammadi and Wright, 1987; Anderson, 1988;
Libby and Lipe, 1992; Reimers, 1992; Chang, Ho and Liao, 1997; and Maines and
McDaniel, 2000).

The Behavioural Accounting Research literature supports the use of students in the
current research as this research is concerned with the behaviour of non - professional
investors, that is non-experts. This implies the students are not qualitatively different
to the group they surrogate for.

2.3 Composition of the groups
There could be concern that the difference in the results between the students and
Group 2 shows up a problem with the composition of the different groups.
Specifically, either one or both groups might be unrepresentative of the demographic
profile of non-professional investors (retail investors) identified by the ASX
Shareholder Survey (2000). The difference in results may indicate that Group 2 was
unusually good, compared to 'average' retail investors. Alternatively, it may indicate
that the students' characteristics meant that they were surrogates for the lowest quality
shareholders, that is those that would be placed on the extreme right hand edge of a
normal distribution, in terms of education or other characteristics.

It was shown in Chapter 3 that undergraduate students were reasonable surrogates, for
an 'average' retail investor, on certain measurable characteristics such as education
level and age.

If it is accepted that the students were reasonable surrogates for retail investors, the
question remains why Group 2 did so much better than the students when it came to
evaluating operating leases. It is possible that the more qualified, more mature and
experienced retail investors were over-represented in Group 2.

At least 55 percent of the members of Group 2 had bachelors' degrees. Two were
business analysts, one was a chartered accountant, two were university-trained nurses,
and one had completed a degree in commerce. This percentage of degree holders is
approximately 3.9 times greater than the estimated proportion of 14 percent for the
entire sample of retail investors, calculated in Chapter 3. This would indicate that

Group 2 was not representative of retail investors as it contained a substantially higher
proportion of members with bachelor degrees.

In addition, Group 2 appears to have an unusually high proportion of members who
would be expected to be trained in, or have experience in analysing financial reports.
For example, two of the eleven members of this group were business analysts and one
was a chartered accountant. The A.B.S. Census (2001) (see Chapter 3) suggests
approximately 13 percent of retail shareholders had earned a Degree of Bachelors.
This is approximately one half of the proportion in Group 2 that had earned a degree
and was working as an accountant or analyst.

Group 2 was also generally older than the students that were used in the current
research. Eight of the members of Group 2 seemed to be in their late 30s to early 40s.
The other three seemed to be aged in their late 40s to late 50s. The ASX survey
(2000) shows that substantial proportions of both age groups are retail investors.

These factors, especially those relating to education and experience would indicate
that Group 2 was more likely to represent 'better quality' retail investors. That is,
retail investors who lie further out on the left hand side of a normal distribution, in
terms of these characteristics.

While it is likely that Group 2 had a higher proportion of members who could be
expected to have better analytical skills in this specific area, compared to the
'average' non-professional investor, it must be realised that the inclusion of these
members does not invalidate the responses of Group 2. The inclusion of members of
Group 2 would only be invalid if the members did not fit the demographic profile

provided by the ASX Shareholder Survey (2000). There is no reason to believe that
this was the case. These subjects might be better trained and educated than many
retail investors, but as long as the subjects fit within the (incomplete) profile of retail
investors, their use as surrogates for retail investors is valid.

Other factors that may have caused a difference between Groups 1 and 2 lie in the
selection process of the two groups. Group 1 members were not offered a lot of choice
about participating in the survey. They were presented with the document after they
sat down in a lecture theatre and may have felt obliged to remain and complete the
survey. On the other hand, members of Group 2 were all volunteers who freely gave
up their time and obviously had an interest in the topic. Group 2 was also very small.
Therefore care must be taken when interpreting their results.

2.4 Surnmarv
It has been established that both groups were composed of members who fitted
aspects of the demographic profile of the ASX survey (2000). Therefore, the fact that
those who would be expected to do better than the rest, due to their training and
experience, actually did better than the students, is hardly of concern.

Of much more concern is the finding that a large proportion of surrogates for retail
investors with the median level of education was unable to evaluate operating lease
disclosures. This would indicate that a problem exists with the current accounting
treatment of operating leases. It is likely this information was not evaluated by most
subjects because the existing formatting of the information is conducive to the
formation of the stable and predictable psychological phenomenon, confirmation bias.

Part 3 Limitations of the current research

Like all experimental research, the results of the current research suffer from a
number of limitations. The major limitations relate to the subjects used as surrogates.
A previous discussion in this chapter has dealt with a number of points relating to this
issue. However, a few points remain.

It is possible that the responses in Group 1 were related to the fact that all the
members of this group were in the same class at the same university. It is possible that
they had been taught in a way that caused these subjects to feel that they should only
rely on reported numbers when analysing financial reports. This problem could be
reduced, or identified, if the experiment was repeated on subjects from another
university, or TAFE college. It is possible that subjects from a different university
would provide radically different results to those obtained in the current experiment.

Even though members of Group 2 are legitimate surrogates for retail investors
according to a number of demographic characteristics, it would have been better to
have a larger number of members in this group. It is unlikely that the self-selection
bias that was identified for Group 2 in the current research will be reduced.
Researchers will always have to rely on self-selecting volunteers for this sort of
research, as the researchers lack any ability to compel this type of subject to undertake
the survey or participate in the experiment.

It is possible that the members of Group 1 were inadequate surrogates for nonprofessional investors, despite matching a number of demographic characteristics,
such as age and education levels, identified in the ASX survey (2000). Possibly the
students were missing some fundamental life skills or investing skills that retail
investors posses. This is only a speculative thought. Further research would need to be
conducted on retail investors to see how the responses of undergraduates (Group 1)
compare with the responses of a larger group of retail investors.

The current research suffered from the lack of a mechanism to increase the motivation
of subjects in Group 1. It is possible that a number of subjects would not have made
as serious attempt at the questions in the survey instrument as they might have, had
their been marks attached to their responses. However, as was shown earlier,
increasing effort is not always related to increasing performance, especially for
complex tasks. In addition, it is unlikely that every subject in the group (n=141) was
so disinterested in the survey that they produced results that were substantially
different to those that would have been produced, had the subjects been awarded
marks. This claim is based on the fact that most subjects correctly identified and
measured other figures that were reported in the financial reports.

Finally, there is the possibility that subjects' responses would have been different to
those reported in this research, if the subjects were actually risking their own money
in the real world, rather than hypothetically risking their money in an experiment.
There is some evidence that this is not a major problem for this sort of research.
Wiseman and Levin (1996) reported that subjects made the same responses when
making risky decisions in both real and experimental environments.

Chapter 8 Conclusion
Part 1

1.1 Aim of this thesis
This thesis examined format effects on the ability of non-professional investors to
analyse information in financial reports relating to operating leases. The thesis started
from the position that the current disclosures mandated for operating leases impedes
the quality of decision-making by non-professional investors. This is based on earlier
work looking at the ability of professional investors and managers to analyse lease
information. See for example, Abdel Khalik (1981), Imhoff, Lipe, and Wright (1993,
1995) and Gallery and Irnhoff (1998).

1.2 The need for this t m e of research
There have been a number of calls recently, including Libby, Bloomfield and Nelson
(2001), Levitt (1997), Maines (1994), and Lipe (1998), for accounting researchers to
analyse issues in ways that contribute to the accounting standard setting process.
These commentators and others are particularly interested in understanding the factors
that influence the decision making processes of individual investors, rather than
focusing on aggregate capital market responses.

The recent proposal by the Group of Four Plus One (2000) has created considerable
interest in the accounting treatment of operating leases among accounting standard
setters in Australia, The United Kingdom, New Zealand and America, and other
interested stakeholders. However, none of the publicly available submissions have

considered the issue from the point of view of the primary objective of generalpurpose financial reports, that is, to assist users when undertaking investing decisions.

Previous research has not examined the ability of non-professional investors to
evaluate operating lease information. This thesis seeks to provide some ex-ante
evidence that may of use to the standard setters when they examine the accounting
treatment of operating leases.

1.3 The significance that should be given to non-professional investors
Lev (1988) argued that the interests of less informed investors should take precedence
over those of more informed investors. This view of the user primacy argument is at
some variance with the view expressed in the Conceptual Framework, specifically
Statement of Accounting Concepts 2, which states that the objective of generalpurpose financial reporting in Australia is to "provide information useful to users for
making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of scarce resources" (SAC 2
paragraph 43).

However, the standard setters attempt to restrict the class of users they need to
consider when designing accounting standards. Statement of Accounting Concept 3
shows that users of financial reports are assumed to "possess the proficiency
necessary to comprehend the significance of contemporary accounting practices"
(SAC 3 paragraph 36). Those users that do not possess this level of skill are assumed
to rely on a professional advisor when undertaking investment decisions. This implies
that financial reports only need to be understandable by trained accountants (Who else

would understand contemporary accounting practice?), or that financial advisors can
be relied on to provide unbiased, competent advice.

Considerable research has questioned the ability of many classes of professional
advisors to analyse financial information or provide unbiased advice. This shows that
the arguments advanced by the standard setters, seeking to limit their obligation to
produce general-purpose financial reports understandable to a wider audience of users
are untenable. This thesis rejects this part of the Conceptual Framework and adopts
the user primacy argument advanced by Lev (1988).

1.4 Experimental method employed
This thesis used a within subjects experimental design based on a model developed by
Maines and McDaniel (2000). Subjects were asked evaluate financial reports for two
companies and then to state which of two companies they would prefer to invest in.
The subjects were also told they had to explain why they selected one company or
were indifferent between companies.

Four different versions of the experimental instrument were developed. The only
significant difference in the information presented to the subjects related to operating
leases. The different versions were randomly distributed to subjects.

The experiment was conducted on two major groups. The first group was composed
of introductory financial accounting students (n = 141). The students group contained
17 postgraduates and 124 undergraduates. The second group was composed of
volunteers from the broader community (n = 11).

Part 2

2.1 Findings

In contrast to the results obtained by Maines and McDaniel (2000), the subjects in the
current research were generally unable to identify information relating to operating
leases as they are presented in the current accounting treatment (hypothesis 1). The
major finding was that no members of Group 1, and approximately half of the
members of Group 2, were able to evaluate information relating to operating leases,
when this information was disclosed in accordance with the current accounting
standard (hypothesis 2). In addition, very few subjects were able to weigh leasing
information appropriately in their investment decisions (hypothesis 3).

Possibly the group composition affected the results. Both groups fit into a profile of
non-professional investors developed from a survey conducted by the Australian
Stock Exchange (2000) and the Census of 2001 (2002). However, Group 2 had a
much higher proportion of graduates than was the case for Group 1 and the general
profile of non-professional investors, as identified by the Australian Stock Exchange
survey (2000). In addition, Group 2 contained 2 business analysts and a chartered
accountant (approximately 27 percent of its members). These people would be
expected to have superior analytical skills in this area, compared to the rest of the
subjects and the general population of non-professional investors.

It is suggested that the subjects who were unable to evaluate operating lease
disclosures fell victim to a predictable confirmation bias (Jones and Sugden, 2001 and

Russo, Medvec and Meloy, 1996), created in part by their structured and systematic
evaluation of the information (Choo, 1989, and Bouwman, 1984). It is widely held
that novices are unlikely to link pieces of information if the information does not
confirm each other. It seems likely that the presence of the operating leases in the
notes did not confirm the image that subjects were forming of the relative net assets of
each company. Therefore this information appears to have been excluded in the
decision-making process.

The vast majority of subjects relied almost exclusively on reported figures and were
unable or unwilling to incorporate information disclosed in the notes into their
responses to specific questions relating to assets and liabilities. Subjects in Group 1
did not seem capable of evaluating disclosed information, even when it was linked to
the reported figures, possibly because the disclosure did not confirm the reported
figures. These subjects only seemed capable of evaluating figures that had been
reported and incorporated in the reported figures.

It is also possible that the survey instrument contributed to the confirmation bias due
to the large dollar amount and proportion of total reported liabilities that operating
lease disclosures represented. Undiscounted operating lease obligations were
approximately three times the size of the reported liabilities in some of the financial
reports that were analysed by the subjects. It is possible that the sheer size of these
figures caused subjects to reject the leasing information.

A further analysis was carried out to determine whether subjects felt that lease
information was significant when making their investment decision and whether the

information should be disclosed or reported. Around two thirds of Group 1 subjects
stated that leasing information would affect their investing decision. Those who did
not mention operating leases when making their investing decision were more likely
to state that the information would have influenced their decision. Approximately 73
percent of Group 2 members indicated that lease information would affect their
decision.

Due to a problem in the survey instrument, a number of the responses by Group 1
subjects relating to where lease information should be presented (reported or
disclosed) could not be used. Based on the valid responses, there was no clear
preference, among these subjects, for reporting or disclosing lease information.
Approximately 60 percent of the members of Group 2 preferred lease information to
be reported. The remaining 40 percent were evenly split between disclosing the
information or being indifferent between the presentation options.

2.2 Implications
Given the wide acceptance of the confirmation bias hypothesis, and the implications
this poses for financial statement analysis, it seems reasonable to conclude that
operating lease information should be reported in financial reports, rather than
disclosed in the notes to the financial reports. Such a change in format will not impose
additional compliance or administrative costs on reporting entities as the information
is already collected under the existing standard. This change does not breach the
Conceptual Framework as operating leases meet the definition of liabilities in SAC 4.
In addition, a large proportion of operating leases can be reliably measured.

The existence of a number of problems in the current research, such as the different
results between the groups, the small number of members in Group 2, the potential
implications of a self selection bias, and the high proportion of members within this
group who are likely to have higher than average skills in financial statement analysis
means that further research should be undertaken in this area. Hopefully future
researchers will have access to larger and more representative groups of nonprofessional investors. Further research is required to confirm or contradict the
finding that non-professional investors are generally unable to evaluate disclosures
that contradict or do not support reported figures.

Appendices
Set 1

Case A

Notes

2001
$000

2000
$000

0
Operating profit before income tax
Income tax attributable to operating profit
Operating profit after income tax
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year
Total available for appropriation
Dividend paid or proposed
Retained profits at the end of the financial year

Statement of Financial Position
Current assets
Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Plant and equipment
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Borrowings
Other
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Reserves
Retained profits
Total Shareholders' equity

2 12007
4655
7352
12834
20186
3 8595
10231

14481
5440
9041
11967
21008
8174
12834

Notes to and forming part of the financial report C o m ~ a n v A
1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report.
Set out below is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this
financial report.
(a) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated as outlined below. Items of plant and
equipment are depreciated using the over their estimated useful lives to the entity.
The estimated useful life for each class of asset is generally:
- Plant and equipment
5 to 8 years
Leased plant and equipment 4 years
(b) lnventories
lnventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using a first-in first-out basis
(c) Leases
Leases of plant and equipment, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the entity, are classified as
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease assets are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense for the period. The interest components of the lease
payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance.
Lease payments under operating leases, are charged as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred.

(d) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the entity.
(e) Loans and borrowings
All loans are measured at the principal amount. lnterest is charged as an expense as it occurs.
(f) Provisions
Dividends payable are recognised when a legal obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically
following approval of the dividend at a meeting of shareholders.
(g) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow
to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured
2. Operating profit
Included in the operating profit are the following revenues
Sales
lnterest
Total revenues

Operating profit before tax has been determined after
charging/(crediting) the following
Borrowing costs:
Interest paid
Finance charges on finance leases
Total borrowing costs
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Rental expense on operating leases
Bad debts
3. Dividends paid and proposed
Interim dividend paid 8 May 2001
Proposed final dividend
Total
4. Receivables
Sundry debtors
Less provision for doubtful debts
Net receivables
5. Inventories
The valuation policy adopted in respect of the following is set out
in note l (b)
Raw materials
Finished goods
Total

6. Other assets
Prepayments
7. Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net book value
Capitalised assets under finance leases
Less accumulated amortisation
Net assets under finance leases
Total
8. Accounts payable
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Total

9. Borrowings
Current
Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Lease liability
Total
Non-current
Bank loan
Lease liability
Total

10. Other liabilities
Dividends payable
Tax payable
Total
11. Share capital
Fully paid ordinary shares 80,300,000 (2000: 80,300,000)
12. Reserves
General reserve
13. Capital and leasing commitments
(a) Capital and expenditure commitments:
-Plant and equipment
Payable:
-Not later than one year
-Within 1-2 years
-Within 2-5 years]
(b) Lease commitments:
These are represented by:
(i) Non-cancellable operating leases
Due within 1 year
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total
(ii) Finance leases
Total lease liability
Current (note 9)
Non-current (note 9)
Total
Finance lease commitments
Due within 1 year
Due within 2-5 years
Minimum lease payments
Less finance charges
Total lease liability
Operating leases have an average lease term of four years. Assets which are the subject of operating
leases include motor vehicles, premises and computers.
Finance leases have an average lease term of four years with the option to purchase the asset at the
completion of the lease term for the asset's market value. The average interest rate implicit in the
lease is 6.5% (2000:10%)

Statement of Financial Performance Companv B
Operating profit before income tax
Income tax attributable to operating profit
Operating profit after income tax
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year
Total available for appropriation
Dividend paid or proposed
Retained profits at the end of the financial year

Statement of Financial Position
Current assets
Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Operating lease assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Plant and equipment
Operating lease assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Borrowings
Operating lease liabilities
Other
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Operating lease liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Reserves
Retained profits
Total Shareholders' equity

Notes

Notes to and forming part of the financial report

Company B
1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report.
Set out below is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this
financial report.
(a) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated as outlined below. Items of plant and
equipment are depreciated using the over their estimated useful lives to the entity.
The estimated useful life for each class of asset is generally:
- Plant and equipment
5 to 8 years
Leased plant and equipment 4 years
(b) Inventories
lnventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using a first-in first-out basis
(c) Leases
Leases of plant and equipment, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the entity, are classified as
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease assets are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense for the period. The interest components of the lease
payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance.
Lease payments under operating leases, are charged as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred.

(d) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the entity.
(e) Loans and borrowings
All loans are measured at the principal amount. lnterest is charged as an expense as it occurs.
(f) Provisions
Dividends payable are recognised when a legal obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically
following approval of the dividend at a meeting of shareholders.
(g) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow
to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured
2. Operating profit
Included in the operating profit are the following revenues
Sales
Interest
Total revenues

2001
$000

2000
$000

341 640
233
341 873

337539
320
337858

Operating profit before tax has been determined after
charging/(crediting) the following
Borrowing costs:
Interest paid
Finance charges on finance leases
Total borrowing costs
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Rental expense on operating leases
Bad debts

3. Dividends paid and proposed
Interim dividend paid 8 May 2001
Proposed final dividend
Total

4. Receivables
Sundry debtors
Less provision for doubtful debts
Net receivables
5. Inventories
The valuation policy adopted in respect of the following is set
out in note l (b)
Raw materials
Finished goods
Total

6. Other assets
Prepayments
7. Operating lease assets
leased for,
Current
Non-current
Two to five years
More than five years
Total non-current
8. Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net book value
Capitalised assets under finance leases
Less accumulated amortisation
Net assets under finance leases
Total

8. Accounts payable
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Total

9. Borrowings
Current

Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Finance lease liability
Total
Non-current

Bank loan
Finance lease liability
Total
10. Operating leases
The company has entered into a number of non-cancellable
operating leases that require the following payments.
These leases provide the entity the right to use certain
assets, generally motor vehicles, premises and
computers.
Current
Non-current
Due within 2-5years
Due in more than 5 years
Total non-current
11. Other liabilities
Dividends payable
Tax payable
Total

12. Share capital
Fully paid ordinary shares 80,290,000(2000:80,290,000)
13. Reserves
General reserve
14. Capital commitments
-Plant and equipment
Payable:
-Not later than one year
-Within 1-2years
-Within 2-5years

Part A

(pink paper)

A friend has asked you to assist him in determining which company to invest in. He
has given you the two financial reports below. He also told you that both companies
are in the retail clothing industry and have good reputations. Both seem to be very
popular with consumers and are expected to remain popular. Your decision is to be
made purely on the basis of the financial material in front of you.

1) Which company would you advise your friend to invest in and why?
You must explain in detail why you preferred one company to the other.
If you are indifferent between the companies you must also justify your decision in
detail.
When answering this question, you
choose to use ratios in your analysis or
simply interpret the information as it is presented. For example, you might wish to
calculate the gross margin percentage, (gross profit divided by sales), andor you
might prefer to state that one company has a higher level of sales or gross profit than
the other. You would need to discuss the implications of this information.
Just so there is no confusion, you will not be able to calculate the gross margin
percentage in this particular question as the reports do not provide the gross margin,
and it can't be calculated from the information given. It was presented purely as an
example to explain the different ways you may choose to analyze the information.
Please explain your decision in the space below.

Please circle the number on the line below to show how strongly you feel about the
company you prefer.
Prefer COA
Prefer CO B
very strongly
very strongly

Part B

(green paper)

You are mallowed to look at other information when answering this section. This
section is designed to be answered from memory.
State where you saw each of the following items. Some may not have appeared in
your reports, some may have appeared in more than one place.
Nowhere
Statement of
Statement of Notes
Term
Financial
Financial
Performance Position
Lease
liabilities
Operating
lease assets
Capital and
leasing
commitments
Capital
commitments
Please fill in the blank.
The interest rate in the finance lease in 2001 =

%

Part C
These questions all relate to the year ended 2001.
You are allowed to refer to the financial reports to obtain the information to answer
these questions. You are not allowed to refer to your answers in Part A or Part B. You
will be given the chance below to change your answer to Part A,if you wish to.
1) Which company had the highest profit after tax?
State the number.
2) Which company paid the highest dividend?
State the number.
3) Which company had control of the most non-current assets?
State the number.
4) Which company had control of the most current assets?
State the number.

5) Which company had the highest level of liabilities?
State the number.

6) Which company will have to pay the most cash to outsiders?
State the number.

7) Which company had the highest balance in the provision for doubtful debts?
State the number.
8) Which company has the best chance of paying their debts as they fall due within
the next year?
Show your calculations

9) Which company has the best chance of paying their non-current debts?
Show your calculations
10) Which company has the highest level of retained profits?
State the number
11) Which company had the greatest depreciation expense?
State the number
12) Which company had the greatest $ increase in obligations during the year?
Show your calculations

Part D
(yellow paper)
1) Company A paid $3,220,000 in dividends during the year. This company will
pay another $5,375,000 dividend within the next few months. Company B
paid $5,321,000 in dividends during the year and will pay another $3,306,000
in the next few months.
Does this information affect your choice of which company to invest in?
Y N (Please circle your choice)
WhyNhy not?

Please circle the number on the line below to show how significant this information is
to you
Unimportant
Very important

2) Company A has non-cancellable leases of $153,699,000. These leases allow the
company to use certain assets for the length of the leases. These leases were disclosed
in note 13, part of which is reproduced below. This information was not shown in the
Statement of Financial Position.
2001
2000
(b) Lease commitments:
These are represented by:
(i) Non-cancellableoperating leases
Due within 1 year
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total

$000

$000

49641
94868
9190
153699

46391
81642
12202
140235

Does this information affect your decision of which company you would prefer to
invest in?
Y N (Please circle your choice)
WhyNhy not?
Do you think this information should be reported in the Statement of Financial
Position or left in the notes? Why?

Please circle the number on the line below to show how significant this information is
to you when making this type of decision.
Unimportant
Very important

Set 2

Case B

I Statement of ~

i
n
a
n
c
i
a
Operating profit before income tax
Income tax attributable to operating profit
Operating profit after income tax
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year
Total available for appropriation
Dividend paid or proposed
Retained profits at the end of the financial year
Statement of Financial Position
Current assets
Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Total current assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Plant and equipment
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Borrowings
Other
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Reserves
Retained profits
Total Shareholders' equity

Notes

v
2

3

2001
$000
12007
4655
7352
12834
20186
8595
10231

2000
$000
14481
5440
9041
11967
21008
8174
12834

Notes to and forming part of the financial report Comi~anvA
1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report.
Set out below is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this
financial report.
(a) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated as outlined below. Items of plant and
equipment are depreciated using the over their estimated useful lives to the entity.
The estimated useful life for each class of asset is generally:
- Plant and equipment
5 to 8 years
Leased plant and equipment 4 years
(b) Inventories
lnventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using a first-in first-out basis
(c) Leases
Leases of plant and equipment, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the entity, are classified as
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease assets are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense for the period. The interest components of the lease
payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance.
Lease payments under operating leases, are charged as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred.

(d) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the entity.
(e) Loans and borrowings
All loans are measured at the principal amount. lnterest is charged as an expense as it occurs.
(f) Provisions
Dividends payable are recognised when a legal obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically
following approval of the dividend at a meeting of shareholders.
(g) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow
to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured
2. Operating profit
Included in the operating profit are the following revenues
Sales
lnterest
Total revenues

Operating profit before tax has been determined after
charging/(crediting) the following
Borrowing costs:
Interest paid
Finance charges on finance leases
Total borrowing costs
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Rental expense on operating leases
Bad debts
3. Dividends paid and proposed
Interim dividend paid 8 May 2001
Proposed final dividend
Total
4. Receivables
Sundry debtors
Less provision for doubtful debts
Net receivables
5. Inventories
The valuation policy adopted in respect of the following is set out
in note l(b)
Raw materials
Finished goods
Total
6. Other assets
Prepayments
7. Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net book value
Capitalised assets under finance leases
Less accumulated amortisation
Net assets under finance leases
Total
8. Accounts payable
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Total
9. Borrowings
Current

Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Lease liability
Total
Non-current

Bank loan
Lease liability
Total

10. Other liabilities
Dividends payable
Tax payable
Total
11. Share capital
Fully paid ordinary shares 80,300,000 (2000: 80,300,000)
12. Reserves
General reserve
13. Capital and leasing commitments
(a) Capital and expenditure commitments:
-Plant and equipment
Payable:
-Not later than one year
-Within 1-2 years
-Within 2-5 years]
(b) Lease commitments:
These are represented by:
(i) Non-cancellableoperating leases
Due within 1 year
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total
(ii) Finance leases
Total lease liability
Current (note 9)
Non-current (note 9)
Total
Finance lease commitments
Due within 1 year
Due within 2-5 years
Minimum lease payments
Less finance charges
Total lease liability
Operating leases have an average lease term of four years. Assets which are the subject of operating
leases include motor vehicles, premises and computers.
Finance leases have an average lease term of four years with the option to purchase the asset at the
completion of the lease term for the asset's market value. The average interest rate implicit in the
lease is 6.5% (2000: 10%)

Statement of Financial Performance

Notes

Company B
Operating profit before income tax
Income tax attributable to operating profit
Operating profit after income tax
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year
Total available for appropriation
Dividend paid or proposed
Retained profits at the end of the financial year

Statement of Financial Position
Current assets
Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Operating lease assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Plant and equipment
Operating lease assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Borrowings
Other
Operating lease liabilities
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Operating lease liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Reserves
Retained profits
Total Shareholders' equity

2

3

2001
$000

2000
$000

11887
4608
7278
1 2706
19984
8627
1 1357

14336
5386
8951
1 1 847
20798
8210
12588

Notes to and forming part of the financial report
Com~anvB
1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report.
Set out below is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this
financial report.
(a) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated as outlined below. Items of plant and
equipment are depreciated using the over their estimated useful lives to the entity.
The estimated useful life for each class of asset is generally:
- Plant and equipment
5 to 8 years
Leased plant and equipment 4 years
(b) lnventories
lnventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using a first-in first-out basis
(c) Leases
Leases of plant and equipment, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the entity, are classified as
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease assets are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense for the period. The interest components of the lease
payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance.
Lease payments under operating leases, are charged as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred.

(d) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the entity.
(e) Loans and borrowings
All loans are measured at the principal amount. lnterest is charged as an expense as it occurs.
(f) Provisions
Dividends payable are recognised when a legal obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically
following approval of the dividend at a meeting of shareholders.
(g) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow
to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured

2. Operating profit
Included in the operating profit are the following revenues
Sales
lnterest
Total revenues

Operating profit before tax has been determined after
charging/(crediting) the following
Borrowing costs:
Interest paid
Finance charges on finance leases
Total borrowing costs
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Rental expense on operating leases
Bad debts

3. Dividends paid and proposed
Interim dividend paid 8 May 2001
Proposed final dividend
Total

4. Receivables
Sundry debtors
Less provision for doubtful debts
Net receivables
5. Inventories
The valuation policy adopted in respect of the following is set
out in note l (b)
Raw materials
Finished goods
Total
6. Other assets
Prepayments
7. Operating lease assets
Leased for;
Current
Non-current
Two to five years
More than five years
Total non-current
8. Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net book value
Capitalised assets under finance leases
Less accumulated amortisation
Net assets under finance leases
Total
8. Accounts payable
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Total

9. Borrowings
Current
Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Finance lease liability (note 14 (b))
Total
Non-current
Bank loan
Finance lease liability (note 14 (b))
Total

10. Other liabilities
Dividends payable
Tax payable
Total
11. Operating lease liabilities
The company has entered into a number of non-cancellable
operating leases that require the following payments.
These leases provide the entity the right to use certain
assets, generally motor vehicles, premises and
computers.
Current
Non-current
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total non-current
12. Share capital
Fully paid ordinary shares 80,290,000 (2000: 80,290,000)
13. Reserves
General reserve
14. Capital commitments
-Plant and equipment
Payable:
-Not later than one year
-Within 1-2 years
-Within 2-5 years

Part A

(pink paper)

A friend has asked you to assist him in determining which company to invest in. He
has given you the two financial reports below. He also told you that both companies
are in the retail clothing industry and have good reputations. Both seem to be very
popular with consumers and are expected to remain popular. Your decision is to be
made purely on the basis of the financial material in front of you.
1) Which company would you advise your friend to invest in and why?
You must explain in detail why you preferred one company to the other.
If you are indifferent between the companies you must also justify your decision in
detail.
choose to use ratios in your analysis or
When answering this question, you
simply interpret the information as it is presented. For example, you might wish to
calculate the gross margin percentage, (gross profit divided by sales), andfor you
might prefer to state that one company has a higher level of sales or gross profit than
the other. You would need to discuss the implications of this information.
Just so there is no confusion, you will not be able to calculate the gross margin
percentage in this particular question as the reports do not provide the gross margin,
and it can't be calculated from the information given. It was presented purely as an
example to explain the different ways you may choose to analyze the information.
Please explain your decision in the space below.

Please circle the number on the line below to show how strongly you feel about the
company you prefer.
Prefer COA
Prefer COB
very strongly
very strongly

Part B

(green paper)

You are mallowed to look at other information when answering this section. This
section is designed to be answered from memory.
State where you saw each of the following items. Some may not have appeared in
vour re~orts,some mav have atmeared in more than one u1 ce.
Term
I Statement of I Statement of I Notes
Nowhere
Financial
Performance Position
I
I
I
Lease
liabilities
Operating
lease assets
Capital and
leasing
commitments
Capital
commitments

I

Please fill in the blank.
The interest rate in the finance lease in 2001 =

%

Part C
These questions all relate to the year ended 2001.
You are allowed to refer to the financial reports to obtain the information to answer
these questions. You are not allowed to refer to your answers in Part A or Part B. You
will be given the chance below to change your answer to Part A,if you wish to.

l ) Which company had the highest profit after tax?
State the number.
2) Which company paid the highest dividend?
State the number.
3) Which company had control of the most non-current assets?
State the number.

4) Which company had control of the most current assets?
State the number.
5) Which company had the highest level of liabilities?
State the number.
6) Which company will have to pay the most cash to outsiders?
State the number.
7) Which company had the highest balance in the provision for doubtful debts?
State the number.

8) Which company has the best chance of paying their debts as they fall due within
the next year?
Show your calculations
9) Which company has the best chance of paying their non-current debts?
Show your calculations

10) Which company has the highest level of retained profits?
State the number
1 1) Which company had the greatest depreciation expense?
State the number

12) Which company had the greatest $ increase in obligations during the year?
Show your calculations

Part D
(yellow paper)
2) Company A paid $3,220,000 in dividends during the year. This company will
pay another $5,375,000 dividend within the next few months. Company B
paid $5,321,000 in dividends during the year and will pay another $3,306,000
in the next few months.
Does this information affect your choice of which company to invest in?
Y N (Please circle your choice)
Why/Why not?

Please circle the number on the line below to show how significant this information is
to you
Unimportant
Very important

2) Company A has non-cancellable leases of $153,699,000. These leases allow the
company to use certain assets for the length of the leases. These leases were disclosed
in note 13, part of which is reproduced below. This information was not shown in the
2001
2000
Statement of Financial Position.
(b) Lease commitments:
These are represented by:
(i) Non-cancellable operating leases
Due within 1 year
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total

$000

$000

49641
94868
9190
153699

46391
81642
12202
140235

Does this information affect your decision of which company you would prefer to
invest in?
Y N (Please circle your choice)
Why/Why not?

Do you think this information should be reported in the Statement of Financial
Position or left in the notes? Why?
Please circle the number on the line below to show how significant this information is
to you when making this type of decision.
Unimportant
Very important

Set 3

c
Case C

Notes

Operating profit before income tax
Income tax attributable to operating profit
Operating profit after income tax
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year
Total available for appropriation
Dividend paid or proposed
Retained profits at the end of the financial year

Statement of Financial Position
Current assets
Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Plant and equipment
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Borrowings
Other
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Reserves
Retained profits
Total Shareholders' equity

49008

51611

Notes to and forming part of the financial report Comi~anvA
1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report.
Set out below is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this
financial report.
(a) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated as outlined below. Items of plant and
equipment are depreciated using the over their estimated useful lives to the entity.
The estimated useful life for each class of asset is generally:
- Plant and equipment
5 to 8 years
Leased plant and equipment 4 years
(b) Inventories
lnventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using a first-in first-out basis
(c) Leases
Leases of plant and equipment, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the entity, are classified as
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease assets are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense for the period. The interest components of the lease
payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance.
Lease payments under operating leases, are charged as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred.

(d) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the entity.
(e) Loans and borrowings
All loans are measured at the principal amount. lnterest is charged as an expense as it occurs.
(f) Provisions
Dividends payable are recognised when a legal obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically
following approval of the dividend at a meeting of shareholders.
(g) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow
to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured

2. Operating profit
Included in the operating profit are the following revenues
Sales
lnterest
Total revenues

Operating profit before tax has been determined after
charging/(crediting) the following
Borrowing costs:
Interest paid
Finance charges on finance leases
Total borrowing costs
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Rental expense on operating leases
Bad debts
3. Dividends paid and proposed
Interim dividend paid 8 May 2001
Proposed final dividend
Total
4. Receivables
Sundry debtors
Less provision for doubtful debts
Net receivables
5. Inventories
The valuation policy adopted in respect of the following is set out
in note l (b)
Raw materials
Finished goods
Total
6. Other assets
Prepayments

7. Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net book value
Capitalised assets under finance leases
Less accumulated amortisation
Net assets under finance leases
Total
8. Accounts payable

Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Total
9. Borrowings
Current

Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Lease liability
Total
Non-current

Bank loan
Lease liability
Total

10. Other liabilities
Dividends payable
Tax payable
Total
11. Share capital
Fully paid ordinary shares 80,300,000 (2000: 80,300,000)
12. Reserves
General reserve
13. Capital and leasing commitments
(a) Capital and expenditure commitments:
-Plant and equipment
Payable:
-Not later than one year
-Within 1-2 years
-Within 2-5 years]
(b) Lease commitments:
These are represented by:
(i) Non-cancellable operating leases
Due within 1 year
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total
(ii) Finance leases
Total lease liability
Current (note 9)
Non-current (note 9)
Total
Finance lease commitments
Due within 1 year
Due within 2-5 years
Minimum lease payments
Less finance charges
Total lease liability
Operating leases have an average lease term of four years. Assets which are the subject of operating
leases include motor vehicles, premises and computers.
Finance leases have an average lease term of four years with the option to purchase the asset at the
completion of the lease term for the asset's market value. The average interest rate implicit in the
lease is 6.5% (2000: 10%)

Statement of Financial Performance
Company B
Operating profit before income tax
Income tax attributable to operating profit
Operating profit after income tax
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year
Total available for appropriation
Dividend paid or proposed
Retained profits at the end of the financial year
Statement of Financial Position
Current assets
Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Leased assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Plant and equipment
Leased assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Borrowings
Other
Lease liabilities
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Reserves
Retained profits
Total Shareholders' equity

Notes
2

3

2001
$000
12095
4689
7406
5745
13151
8509
4642

2000
$000
14587
5480
9107
5425
14532
8092
6440

Notes to and forming part of the financial report
1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report.
Set out below is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this
financial report.

(a) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated as outlined below. Items of plant and
equipment are depreciated using the over their estimated useful lives to the entity.
The estimated useful life for each class of asset is generally:
- Plant and equipment
5 to 8 years
Leased plant and equipment 4 years
(b) lnventories
lnventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using a first-in first-out basis

(c) Leases
Leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease assets are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense for the period. The interest components of the lease
payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance.
(d) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the entity.
(e) Loans and borrowings
All loans are measured at the principal amount. lnterest is charged as an expense as it occurs.
(f) Provisions
Dividends payable are recognised when a legal obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically
following approval of the dividend at a meeting of shareholders.
(g) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow
to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured
2. Operating profit
Included in the operating profit are the following revenues
Sales
lnterest
Total revenues
Operating profit before tax has been determined after
charging/(crediting) the following
Borrowing costs:
lnterest paid
Finance charges on leases
Total borrowing costs

Depreciation of plant and equipment
Bad debts

3. Dividends paid and proposed
Interim dividend paid 8 May 2001
Proposed final dividend
Total

4. Receivables
Sundry debtors
Less provision for doubtful debts
Net receivables
S. Inventories
The valuation policy adopted in respect of the following is set
out in note l (b)
Raw materials
Finished goods
Total

6. Other assets
Prepayments

7. Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net book value
8. Leased assets
Original cost of capitalised assets under lease
Less accumulated amortisation
Net assets under lease

Current
Non-current
Right to use for 2-5years
Right to use for more than 5 years
Total non-current leased assets
Total leased assets
9. Accounts payable
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Total

10. Borrowings
Current

Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Total
Non-current

Bank loan

11. Other liabilities
Dividends payable
Tax payable
Total
12. Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total non-current
Total lease liabilities

13. Share capital
Fully paid ordinary shares 80,290,000 (2000: 80,290,000)
14. Reserves
General reserve
15. Capital commitments
Capital and expenditure commitments:
-Plant and equipment
Payable:
-Not later than one year
-Within 1-2 years
-Within 2-5 years

1863

1282

Leases have an average lease term of four years with the option to purchase the asset at the
completion of the lease term for the asset's market value. The average interest rate implicit in the
lease is 7% (2000:10%)

Part A

(pink paper)

A friend has asked you to assist him in determining which company to invest in. He
has given you the two financial reports below. He also told you that both companies
are in the retail clothing industry and have good reputations. Both seem to be very
popular with consumers and are expected to remain popular. Your decision is to be
made purely on the basis of the financial material in front of you.
1) Which company would you advise your friend to invest in and why?
You must explain in detail why you preferred one company to the other.
If you are indifferent between the companies you must also justify your decision in
detail.
When answering this question, you
choose to use ratios in your analysis or
simply interpret the information as it is presented. For example, you might wish to
calculate the gross margin percentage, (gross profit divided by sales), andfor you
might prefer to state that one company has a higher level of sales or gross profit than
the other. You would need to discuss the implications of this information.
Just so there is no confusion, you will not be able to calculate the gross margin
percentage in this particular question as the reports do not provide the gross margin,
and it can't be calculated from the information given. It was presented purely as an
example to explain the different ways you may choose to analyze the information.
Please explain your decision in the space below.

Please circle the number on the line below to show how strongly you feel about the
company you prefer.
Prefer COA
Prefer COB
very strongly
very strongly

Part B

(green paper)

You are notallowed to look at other information when answering this section. This
section is designed to be answered from memory.
State where you saw each of the following items. Some may not have appeared in
your reports, some may have appeared in more than one place.
Term
Statement of
Nowhere
Statement of Notes
Financial
Financial
Performance Position
Operating
lease
liabilities
Operating
lease assets
Capital and
leasing
commitments
Capital
commitments
Please fill in the blank.
The interest rate in the finance lease in 2001 =

%

Part C
These questions all relate to the year ended 2001.
You are allowed to refer to the financial reports to obtain the information to answer
these questions. You are not allowed to refer to your answers in Part A or Part B. You
will be given the chance below to change your answer to Part A,if you wish to.
1) Which company had the highest profit after tax?
State the number.
2) Which company paid the highest dividend?
State the number.
3) Which company had control of the most non-current assets?
State the number.

4) Which company had control of the most current assets?
State the number.
5) Which company had the highest level of liabilities?
State the number.

6) Which company will have to pay the most cash to outsiders?
State the number.
7) Which company had the highest balance in the provision for doubtful debts?
State the number.
8) Which company has the best chance of paying their debts as they fall due within
the next year?
Show your calculations

9) Which company has the best chance of paying their non-current debts?
Show your calculations
10) Which company has the highest level of retained profits?
State the number
11) Which company had the greatest depreciation expense?
State the number
12) Which company had the greatest $ increase in obligations during the year?
Show your calculations

Part D
(yellow paper)
3) Company A paid $3,220,000 in dividends during the year. This company will
pay another $5,375,000 dividend within the next few months. Company B
paid $5,321,000 in dividends during the year and will pay another $3,306,000
in the next few months.

Does this information affect your choice of which company to invest in?
Y N (Please circle your choice)
WhyNhy not?

Please circle the number on the line below to show how significant this information is
to you
Unimportant
Very important

2) Company A has non-cancellable leases of $153,699,000. These leases allow the
company to use certain assets for the length of the leases. These leases were disclosed
in note 13, part of which is reproduced below. This information was not shown in the
2001
2000
Statement of Financial Position.
(b) Lease commitments:
These are represented by:
(i) Non-cancellable operating leases
Due within 1 year
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total

$000

$000

49641
94868
9190
153699

46391
81642
12202
140235

Does this information affect your decision of which company you would prefer to
Y N (Please circle your choice)
invest in?
WhyNhy not?

Do you think this information should be reported in the Statement of Financial
Position or left in the notes? Why?

Please circle the number on the line below to show how significant this information is
to you when making this type of decision.
Unimportant
Very important

Set 4

1 Case D
Statement of Financial Performance
Company A
Operating profit before income tax
Income tax attributable to operating profit
Operating profit after income tax
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year
Total available for appropriation
Dividend paid or proposed
Retained profits at the end of the financial year
Statement of Financial Position
Current assets
Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Leased assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Plant and equipment
Leased assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Borrowings
Other
Lease liabilities
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Reserves
Retained profits
Total Shareholders' equity

I
Notes

Notes to and forming part of the financial report Company A
1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report.
Set out below is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this
financial report.

(a) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated as outlined below. Items of plant and
equipment are depreciated using the over their estimated useful lives to the entity.
The estimated useful life for each class of asset is generally:
- Plant and equipment
5 to 8 years
Leased plant and equipment 4 years
(b) lnventories
lnventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using a first-in first-out basis
(c) Leases
Leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease assets are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense for the period. The interest components of the lease
payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance.
(d) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the entity.
(e) Loans and borrowings
All loans are measured at the principal amount. lnterest is charged as an expense as it occurs.
(f) Provisions
Dividends payable are recognised when a legal obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically
following approval of the dividend at a meeting of shareholders.
(g) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow
to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured
2. Operating profit
Included in the operating profit are the following revenues
Sales
lnterest
Total revenues
Operating profit before tax has been determined after
charging/(crediting) the following
Borrowing costs:
lnterest paid
Finance charges on leases
Total borrowing costs

Depreciation of plant and equipment

42650

38962

Bad debts

3. Dividends paid and proposed
Interim dividend paid 8 May 2001
Proposed final dividend
Total
4. Receivables
Sundry debtors
Less provision for doubtful debts
Net receivables
5. Inventories
The valuation policy adopted in respect of the following is set
out in note l (b)
Raw materials
Finished goods
Total

6. Other assets
Prepayments
7. Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net book value
8. Leased assets
Original cost of capitalised assets under lease
Less accumulated amortisation
Net assets under lease

Current
Non-current
Right to use for 2-5years
Right to use for more than 5 years
Total non-current leased assets
Total leased assets
9. Accounts payable
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Total

10. Borrowings
Current

Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Total
Non-current

Bank loan

11. Other liabilities
Dividends payable
Tax payable
Total
12. Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total non-current
Total lease liabilities
13. Share capital
Fully paid ordinary shares 80,290,000 (2000: 80,290,000)
14. Reserves
General reserve
15. Capital commitments
Capital and expenditure commitments:
-Plant and equipment
Payable:
-Not later than one year
-Within 1-2 years
-Within 2-5 years

Leases have an average lease term of four years with the option to purchase the asset at the
completion of the lease term for the asset's market value. The average interest rate implicit in the
lease is 6.5% (2000:10%)

Statement of Financial Performance Companv B
Operating profit before income tax
Income tax attributable to operating profit
Operating profit after income tax
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year
Total available for appropriation
Dividend paid or proposed
Retained profits at the end of the financial year

Statement of Financial Position
Current assets
Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Operating lease assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Plant and equipment
Operating lease assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Borrowings
Operating lease liabilities
Other
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Operating lease liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Reserves
Retained profits
Total Shareholders' equity

Notes
2

3

2001
$000
11887
4608
7278
12706
19984
8642
11357

2000
$000
14336
5386
8951
11847
20798
8208
12590

Notes to and forming part of the financial report

Company B
1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report.
Set out below is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this
financial report.

(a) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated as outlined below. Items of plant and
equipment are depreciated using the over their estimated useful lives to the entity.
The estimated useful life for each class of asset is generally:
- Plant and equipment
5 to 8 years
Leased plant and equipment 4 years
(b) lnventories
lnventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using a first-in first-out basis
(c) Leases
Leases of plant and equipment, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the entity, are classified as
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease assets are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense for the period. The interest components of the lease
payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance.
Lease payments under operating leases, are charged as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred.

(d) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the entity.
(e) Loans and borrowings
All loans are measured at the principal amount. lnterest is charged as an expense as it occurs.
(f) Provisions
Dividends payable are recognised when a legal obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically
following approval of the dividend at a meeting of shareholders.
(g) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow
to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured
2. Operating profit
Included in the operating profit are the following revenues
Sales
lnterest
Total revenues

Operating profit before tax has been determined after
charging/(crediting) the following
Borrowing costs:
Interest paid
Finance charges on finance leases
Total borrowing costs
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Rental expense on operating leases
Bad debts

3. Dividends paid and proposed
Interim dividend paid 8 May 2001
Proposed final dividend
Total
4. Receivables
Sundry debtors
Less provision for doubtful debts
Net receivables

5. Inventories
The valuation policy adopted in respect of the following is set out
in note l (b)
Raw materials
Finished goods
Total
6. Other assets
Prepayments
7. Operating lease assets
leased for,
Current
Non-current
Two to five years
More than five years
Total non-current
8. Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net book value
Capitalised assets under finance leases
Less accumulated amortisation
Net assets under finance leases
Total
8. Accounts payable
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals

Total
9. Borrowings
Current

Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Finance lease liability
Total
Non-current

Bank loan
Finance lease liability
Total
10. Operating leases
The company has entered into a number of non-cancellable
operating leases that require the following payments.
These leases provide the entity the right to use certain
assets, generally motor vehicles, premises and
computers.
Current
Non-current
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total non-current
11. Other liabilities
Dividends payable
Tax payable
Total

12. Share capital
Fully paid ordinary shares 80,290,000 (2000: 80,290,000)
13. Reserves
General reserve
14. Capital commitments
-Plant and equipment
Payable:
-Not later than one year
-Within 1-2 years
-Within 2-5 years

Part A

(pink paper)

A friend has asked you to assist him in determining which company to invest in. He
has given you the two financial reports below. He also told you that both companies
are in the retail clothing industry and have good reputations. Both seem to be very
popular with consumers and are expected to remain popular. Your decision is to be
made purely on the basis of the financial material in front of you.
1) Which company would you advise your friend to invest in and why?
You must explain in detail why you preferred one company to the other.

If you are indifferent between the companies you must also justify your decision in
detail.
When answering this question, you
choose to use ratios in your analysis or
simply interpret the information as it is presented. For example, you might wish to
calculate the gross margin percentage, (gross profit divided by sales), andlor you
might prefer to state that one company has a higher level of sales or gross profit than
the other. You would need to discuss the implications of this information.
Just so there is no confusion, you will not be able to calculate the gross margin
percentage in this particular question as the reports do not provide the gross margin,
and it can't be calculated from the information given. It was presented purely as an
example to explain the different ways you may choose to analyze the information.
Please explain your decision in the space below.

Please circle the number on the line below to show how strongly you feel about the
company you prefer.
Prefer COA
Prefer COB
very strongly
very strongly

Part B

(green paper)

You are mallowed to look at other information when answering this section. This
section is designed to be answered from memory.
State where you saw each of the following items. Some may not have appeared in
your reports, some may have appeared in more than one place.
Nowhere
Statement of Notes
Statement of
Term
Financial
Financial
Position
Performance
Operating
lease
liabilities
Operating
lease assets
Capital and
leasing
commitments
Capital
commitments
Please fill in the blank.
The interest rate in the finance lease in 2001 =

%

Part C
These questions all relate to the year ended 2001.
You are allowed to refer to the financial reports to obtain the information to answer
these questions. You are not allowed to refer to your answers in Part A or Part B. You
will be given the chance below to change your answer to Part A,if you wish to.
1) Which company had the highest profit after tax?
State the number.
2) Which company paid the highest dividend?
State the number.

3) Which company had control of the most non-current assets?
State the number.

4) Which company had control of the most current assets?
State the number.

5) Which company had the highest level of liabilities?
State the number.
6) Which company will have to pay the most cash to outsiders?
State the number.

7) Which company had the highest balance in the provision for doubtful debts?
State the number.
8) Which company has the best chance of paying their debts as they fall due within
the next year?
Show your calculations

9) Which company has the best chance of paying their non-current debts?
Show your calculations
10) Which company has the highest level of retained profits?
State the number

11) Which company had the greatest depreciation expense?
State the number
12) Which company had the greatest $ increase in obligations during the year?
Show your calculations

Part D

(yellow paper)

1) Company A paid $3,220,000 in dividends during the year. This company will
pay another $5,375,000 dividend within the next few months. Company B
paid $5,321,000 in dividends during the year and will pay another $3,306,000
in the next few months.
Does this information affect your choice of which company to invest in?
Y N (Please circle your choice)
WhyIWhy not?

Please circle the number on the line below to show how significant this information is
to you
Unimportant
Very important

2) Company A and company B had identical lease commitments and lease assets.

Company B recorded the lease assets and commitments at the nominal dollar amount
that had to be paid over the life of the leased items.

Company A recorded the present value of these cash payments. Essentially, it said
that the money that had to be paid in the future had less value than would be the case
if the same amount of money was paid today. Therefore it reported lower numbers for
the leased asset and lease liability than were reported by Company B.

Which format do you prefer? (Please tick one of the following.

Record the cash payments

Record the present value of the cash payments

Please explain your choice

Please circle the number on the line below to show how significant this information is
to you when making this type of decision.
Unimportant
Very important

Set 5
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Statement of Financial Performance
Company A
Operating profit before income tax
Income tax attributable to operating profit
Operating profit after income tax
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year
Total available for appropriation
Dividend paid or proposed
Retained profits at the end of the financial year
Statement of Financial Position
Current assets
Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Leased assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Plant and equipment
Leased assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Borrowings
Other
Lease liabilities
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Reserves
Retained profits
Total Shareholders' equity

I
Notes

Notes to and forming part of the financial report
Com~anvA
1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report.
Set out below is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this
financial report.
(a) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated as outlined below. Items of plant and
equipment are depreciated using the over their estimated useful lives to the entity.
The estimated useful life for each class of asset is generally:
- Plant and equipment
5 to 8 years
Leased plant and equipment 4 years
(b) lnventories
lnventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using a first-in first-out basis
(c) Leases
Leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease assets are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense for the period. The interest components of the lease
payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance.
(d) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the entity.
(e) Loans and borrowings
All loans are measured at the principal amount. lnterest is charged as an expense as it occurs.
(f) Provisions
Dividends payable are recognised when a legal obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically
following approval of the dividend at a meeting of shareholders.
(g) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow
to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured
2. Operating profit
Included in the operating profit are the following revenues
Sales
lnterest
Total revenues
Operating profit before tax has been determined after
charging/(crediting) the following
Borrowing costs:
lnterest paid
Finance charges on leases
Total borrowing costs

Depreciation of plant and equipment

42650

38962

Bad debts

3. Dividends paid and proposed
Interim dividend paid 8 May 2001
Proposed final dividend
Total

4. Receivables
Sundry debtors
Less provision for doubtful debts
Net receivables
5. Inventories
The valuation policy adopted in respect of the following is set
out in note l (b)
Raw materials
Finished goods
Total

6. Other assets
Prepayments

7. Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net book value
8. Leased assets
Original cost of capitalised assets under lease
Less accumulated amortisation
Net assets under lease

Current
Non-current
Right to use for 2-5 years
Right to use for more than 5 years
Total non-current leased assets
Total leased assets
9. Accounts payable

Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Total
10. Borrowings
Current

Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Total
Non-current

Bank loan

11. Other liabilities
Dividends payable
Tax payable
Total
12. Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total non-current
Total lease liabilities
13. Share capital
Fully paid ordinary shares 80,290,000 (2000: 80,290,000)
14. Reserves
General reserve
15. Capital commitments
Capital and expenditure commitments:
-Plant and equipment
Payable:
-Not later than one year
-Within 1-2 years
-Within 2-5 years

Leases have an average lease term of four years with the option to purchase the asset at the
completion of the lease term for the asset's market value. The average interest rate implicit in the
lease is 6.5% (2000:10%)

Statement of Financial Performance
Company B
Operating profit before income tax
Income tax attributable to operating profit
Operating profit after income tax
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year
Total available for appropriation
Dividend paid or proposed
Retained profits at the end of the financial year
Statement of Financial Position
Current assets
Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Operating lease assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Plant and equipment
Operating lease assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Borrowings
Other
Operating lease liabilities
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Operating lease liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Reserves
Retained profits
Total Shareholders' equity

Notes
2

2001
$000
11887

2000
$000
14336

Notes to and forming part of the financial report
1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report.
Set out below is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this
financial report.

(a) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated as outlined below. Items of plant and
equipment are depreciated using the over their estimated useful lives to the entity.
The estimated useful life for each class of asset is generally:
- Plant and equipment
5 to 8 years
Leased plant and equipment 4 years
(b) Inventories
lnventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using a first-in first-out basis
(c) Leases
Leases of plant and equipment, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the entity, are classified as
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease assets are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense for the period. The interest components of the lease
payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance.
Lease payments under operating leases, are charged as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred.

(d) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the entity.
(e) Loans and borrowings
All loans are measured at the principal amount. lnterest is charged as an expense as it occurs.

(f) Provisions
Dividends payable are recognised when a legal obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically
following approval of the dividend at a meeting of shareholders.
(g) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow
to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured

2. Operating profit
Included in the operating profit are the following revenues
Sales
lnterest
Total revenues

Operating profit before tax has been determined after
charging/(crediting) the following
Borrowing costs:
Interest paid
Finance charges on finance leases
Total borrowing costs
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Rental expense on operating leases
Bad debts

3. Dividends paid and proposed
Interim dividend paid 8 May 2001
Proposed final dividend
Total

4. Receivables
Sundry debtors
Less provision for doubtful debts
Net receivables
5. Inventories
The valuation policy adopted in respect of the following is set
out in note l (b)
Raw materials
Finished goods
Total
6. Other assets
Prepayments

7. Operating lease assets
Leased for;
Current
Non-current
Two to five years
More than five years
Total non-current
8. Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net book value
Capitalised assets under finance leases
Less accumulated amortisation
Net assets under finance leases
Total
8. Accounts payable
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Total

9. Borrowings
Current

Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Finance lease liability (note 14 (b))
Total
Non-current

Bank loan
Finance lease liability (note 14 (b))
Total

10. Other liabilities
Dividends payable
Tax payable
Total
11. Operating lease liabilities
The company has entered into a number of non-cancellable
operating leases that require the following payments.
These leases provide the entity the right to use certain
assets, generally motor vehicles, premises and
computers.
Current
Non-current
Due within 2-5 years
Due in more than 5 years
Total non-current

12. Share capital
Fully paid ordinary shares 80,290,000 (2000: 80,290,000)
13. Reserves
General reserve
14. Capital commitments
-Plant and equipment
Payable:
-Not later than one year
-Within 1-2 years
-Within 2-5 years

Part A

(pink paper)

A friend has asked you to assist him in determining which company to invest in. He
has given you the two financial reports below. He also told you that both companies
are in the retail clothing industry and have good reputations. Both seem to be very
popular with consumers and are expected to remain popular. Your decision is to be
made purely on the basis of the financial material in front of you.
1) Which company would you advise your friend to invest in and why?
You must explain in detail why you preferred one company to the other.

If you are indifferent between the companies you must also justify your decision in
detail.
When answering this question, you
choose to use ratios in your analysis or
simply interpret the information as it is presented. For example, you might wish to
calculate the gross margin percentage, (gross profit divided by sales), andlor you
might prefer to state that one company has a higher level of sales or gross profit than
the other. You would need to discuss the implications of this information.
Just so there is no confusion, you will not be able to calculate the gross margin
percentage in this particular question as the reports do not provide the gross margin,
and it can't be calculated from the information given. It was presented purely as an
example to explain the different ways you may choose to analyze the information.
Please explain your decision in the space below.

Please circle the number on the line below to show how strongly you feel about the
company you prefer.
Prefer COA
Prefer COB
very strongly
very strongly

Part B

(green paper)

You are mallowed to look at other information when answering this section. This
section is designed to be answered from memory.
State where you saw each of the following items. Some may not have appeared in
your reports, some may have appeared in more than one place.
Nowhere
Term
Statement of
Statement of Notes
Financial
Financial
Performance Position
Operating
lease
liabilities
Operating
1
lease assets
Capital and
leasing
commitments
Capital
commitments
Please fill in the blank.
The interest rate in the finance lease in 2001 =

%

Part C
These questions all relate to the year ended 2001.

You are allowed to refer to the financial reports to obtain the information to answer
allowed to refer to your answers in Part A or Part B. You
these questions. You are
will be given the chance below to change your answer to Part A,if you wish to.
1) Which company had the highest profit after tax?
State the number.
2) Which company paid the highest dividend?
State the number.
3) Which company had control of the most non-current assets?
State the number.

4) Which company had control of the most current assets?
State the number.

5) Which company had the highest level of liabilities?
State the number.
6) Which company will have to pay the most cash to outsiders?
State the number.
7) Which company had the highest balance in the provision for doubtful debts?
State the number.
8) Which company has the best chance of paying their debts as they fall due within
the next year?
Show your calculations

9) Which company has the best chance of paying their non-current debts?
Show your calculations
10) Which company has the highest level of retained profits?
State the number
11) Which company had the greatest depreciation expense?
State the number
12) Which company had the greatest $ increase in obligations during the year?
Show your calculations

Part D

(yellow paper)

2) Company A paid $3,220,000 in dividends during the year. This company will
pay another $5,375,000 dividend within the next few months. Company B
paid $5,321,000 in dividends during the year and will pay another $3,306,000
in the next few months.
Does this information affect your choice of which company to invest in?
Y N (Please circle your choice)
WhyIWhy not?

Please circle the number on the line below to show how significant this information is
to you
Unimportant
Very important
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

2) Company A and company B had identical lease commitments and lease assets.
Only the format chosen to present the information was different.

Company B recorded the lease assets and commitments at the nominal dollar amount
that had to be paid over the life of the leased items.

Company A recorded the present value of these cash payments. Essentially, it said
that the money that had to be paid in the future had less value than would be the case
if the same amount of money was paid today. Therefore it reported lower numbers for
the leased asset and lease liability than were reported by Company B.

Which format do you prefer? (Please tick one of the following.

Record the cash payments

Record the present value of the cash payments

Please explain your choice

Please circle the number on the line below to show how significant this information is
to you when making this type of decision.
Unimportant
Very important
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